Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

8-20-2020 1:00 PM

Analysis of Gait Speed and its Correlates in Middle-Aged and Older Adults: Findings from the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging

Erica Figgins, The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor: Speechley, Mark, *The University of Western Ontario* Co-Supervisor: Montero-Odasso, Manuel, *The University of Western Ontario* A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Master of Science degree in Epidemiology and Biostatistics © Erica Figgins 2020

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Recommended Citation

Figgins, Erica, "Analysis of Gait Speed and its Correlates in Middle-Aged and Older Adults: Findings from the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging" (2020). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 7186. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/7186

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

Abstract

Gait speed is a marker of health and independence in older adults. Mitigation of gait speed impairments through intervention on modifiable risk factors is key to preventing adverse health declines. Using cross-sectional data from adults aged 45 to 85 years in the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging, this thesis estimated population gait speed norms and 'slow gait' prevalence and assessed the potentially modifiable and non-modifiable correlates of gait speed. Significantly slower average gait speeds and greater proportions of gait speeds below 1.0 m/s were seen in older age groups. While gait speed variability was largely explained by non-modifiable factors, statistically significant associations were found for several clinical and lifestyle factors that are modifiable through intervention and education. These findings were corroborated by our systematic review on the modifiable risk factors for slow gait speed in older community-dwellers. Future longitudinal research is required to explore the clinical relevance of these findings.

Keywords

gait speed; older adults; community-dwellers; risk factors; Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging

Summary for Lay Audience

Gait (walking) speed is a marker of health and independence in older adults. Slow gait has been linked to a greater risk of falls, dependence in everyday activities, multimorbidity, cognitive decline, and mortality. To prevent and delay gait speed slowing and these negative outcomes, it is important to target risk factors that can be changed through clinical intervention and lifestyle modification. Using the cross-sectional data of adults aged 45 to 85 years in the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging, this thesis estimated population gait speed norms and the proportion of individuals with 'slow gait' and assessed the potentially modifiable and non-modifiable factors associated with gait speed. Significantly slower average gait speeds and greater proportions of gait speeds below 1.0 m/s were seen in older age groups. While gait speed variability was largely explained by non-modifiable factors, statistically significant associations were found for several potentially modifiable clinical and lifestyle factors. These findings were corroborated by our systematic review on the modifiable risk factors for slow gait speed in older community-dwellers. Future longitudinal research is required to explore the clinical relevance of these findings.

Co-Authorship Statement

This thesis follows an integrated format and includes three articles that have been or will be submitted for publication in peer-reviewed journals. Chapter 2 appears in the same format as when it was submitted for publication. Chapter 4 appears as an extended manuscript that will be re-formatted for future publication. Chapter 5 appears in an extended format as when it was submitted for publication. Co-authorship for each of these articles is described below.

Chapter 2: Figgins, E., Pieruccini-Faria, F., Speechley, M., Montero-Odasso, M. Modifiable Risk Factors for Slow Gait in Community-Dwelling Older Adults: A Systematic Review

Chapter 2 was written by Erica Figgins, with Dr. Speechley, Dr. Montero-Odasso, and Dr. Pieruccini-Faria as co-authors. Erica Figgins is the primary author of this paper. She performed all literature searches and article screening, extracted data from the included studies, and completed all draft writing. Dr. Montero-Odasso and Dr. Speechley are credited with conceptualizing the topic for this review and revising all drafts pre- and post-submission. Dr. Pieruccini-Faria is credited with assisting with article appraisal and draft revisions. This paper was submitted for publication to *Ageing Research Reviews* on May 9, 2020 (currently under review).

Chapter 4: Figgins, E., Montero-Odasso, M., Speechley, M. Normative Values of Gait Speed among Middle and Older-Aged Adults: Analysis of Data from the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging

Chapter 4 was written by Erica Figgins, with Dr. Speechley and Dr. Montero-Odasso as coauthors. Erica Figgins is the primary author of this paper and performed all analyses and writing. Dr. Speechley and Dr. Montero-Odasso are credited with providing methodological support for the analyses and draft revisions. **Chapter 5**: Figgins, E., Choi, Y-H., Speechley, M., Montero-Odasso, M. Associations between Reversible Risk Factors and Gait Speed in Middle and Older-Aged Community-Dwelling Adults: Results from the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging

Chapter 5 was written by Erica Figgins, with Dr. Speechley, Dr. Montero-Odasso, and Dr. Yun-Hee Choi as co-authors. Erica Figgins is the primary author of this paper and performed all analyses and writing. Dr. Speechley, Dr. Montero-Odasso, and Dr. Choi are credited with providing methodological support for the analyses and draft revisions. This paper was submitted for publication to the *Journal of Gerontology: Medical Sciences* on August 12, 2020.

Acknowledgments

I would first like to express my deepest gratitude to my supervisors, Dr. Mark Speechley and Dr. Manuel Montero-Odasso, for their guidance and enthusiastic encouragement during the last two years. I am appreciative of the opportunities you have provided me to grow and develop professionally. I would also like to thank Dr. Yun-Hee Choi and Dr. GY Zou for their advice and methodological expertise.

I am grateful to my friends and colleagues at the Gait and Brain lab. It has been a great pleasure to work with all of you and contribute to your impactful research. Special thanks to Soushyant Kiarasi, Dr. Frederico Pieruccini-Faria, and Yanina Sarquis-Adamson for their assistance throughout this project. Even while working remotely during the last few months, your support has been unwavering.

I would also like to acknowledge all investigators and participants involved in the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging. Without your efforts and passionate dedication to research, this thesis would not have been possible. The studies in this thesis were conducted using the CLSA Baseline Comprehensive version 4.0, under Application Number 180609, and support was provided by a project grant from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR; PJT 153100). The CLSA is led by Drs. Parminder Raina, Christina Wolfson and Susan Kirkland. Funding for the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA) is provided by the Government of Canada through the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) under grant reference: LSA 94473 and the Canada Foundation for Innovation.

Finally, I would like to thank my family for their endless support throughout my graduate studies at Western. I love you all so much.

Table of Contents

Abstractii
Summary for Lay Audienceiii
Co-Authorship Statementiv
Acknowledgments
Table of Contents
List of Tables
List of Figuresxiii
List of Appendices xiv
List of Abbreviationsxv
Chapter 1 1
1 Introduction
1.1 Overview
1.2 Biology of Gait 1
1.3 Gait Speed Analysis
1.4 Adverse Outcomes Associated with Slow Gait Speed
1.5 Risk Factors of Slow Gait Speed
1.6 Thesis Overview
1.7 References
Chapter 2
2 Modifiable Risk-Factors for Slow Gait in Community-Dwelling Older Adults: A Systematic Review
2.1 Abstract
2.2 Introduction
2.3 Methods

	2.3.1	Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria	. 10
	2.3.2	Search Strategy	. 10
	2.3.3	Study Screening and Selection	. 11
	2.3.4	Data Extraction	. 11
	2.3.5	Risk of Bias Assessment	. 11
	2.3.6	Synthesis of Results	. 12
2.4	Result	s	. 12
	2.4.1	Study Quality and Characteristics	. 12
	2.4.2	Factors Assessed for Association with Gait Speed	. 15
2.5	Discus	ssion	. 25
2.6	Conclu	usion	. 30
2.7	Refere	nces	. 30
Chapt	er 3		. 38
3 Deta	iled Me	thods for Chapters 4 and 5	. 38
3.1	Overv	iew	. 38
3.2	Data S	ource	. 38
	3.2.1	Sampling Design and Recruitment	. 38
	3.2.2	Data Collection Procedures	. 40
3.3	N /	rement Instruments	. 40
	Measu		
	3.3.1	Main Outcome	. 41
	3.3.1 3.3.2	Main Outcome Independent Variables	. 41 . 41
3.4	3.3.1 3.3.2 Statist	Main Outcome Independent Variables	. 41 . 41 . 47
3.4	Measu 3.3.1 3.3.2 Statist 3.4.1	Main Outcome Independent Variables ical Analysis Statistical Software and Complex Survey Analysis	. 41 . 41 . 47 . 47
3.4	Measu 3.3.1 3.3.2 Statist 3.4.1 3.4.2	Main Outcome Independent Variables ical Analysis Statistical Software and Complex Survey Analysis Preliminary Descriptive Analyses	. 41 . 41 . 47 . 47 . 48
3.4	Measu 3.3.1 3.3.2 Statist 3.4.1 3.4.2 3.4.3	Main Outcome Independent Variables ical Analysis Statistical Software and Complex Survey Analysis Preliminary Descriptive Analyses Analyses for Chapter 4	. 41 . 41 . 47 . 47 . 48 . 48

3.5	Refere	ences	3
Chapt	ter 4		9
4 Norr of I	native V Data fro	Values of Gait Speed among Middle and Older-Aged Adults: An Analysis m the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging	9
4.1	Introd	uction	9
4.2	Metho	ds6	0
	4.2.1	Source Population	0
	4.2.2	Study Sample 6	1
	4.2.3	Data Collection	1
	4.2.4	Statistical Analysis	2
4.3	Result	s6	3
	4.3.1	Distribution of Gait Speed in the Analytic Sample	3
	4.3.2	Normative Values for Gait Speed by Sex and Age	4
	4.3.3	Prevalence of Slow Gait Speed	6
	4.3.4	Expressing Individual Gait Speed as a Percentile	7
4.4	Discus	ssion6	8
4.5	Refere	ences7	0
Chapt	ter 5	7	3
5 Asso Age Agi	ociation ed Com ing	s between Reversible Risk Factors and Gait Speed in Middle and Older- munity-Dwelling Adults: Results from the Canadian Longitudinal Study or 7	1 3
5.1	Abstra	ict7	3
5.2	Introd	uction74	4
5.3	Metho	ds7	5
	5.3.1	Study Design & Source Population	5
	5.3.2	Data Collection	5
	5.3.3	Statistical Analysis	7

5.4	Results	5	8
	5.4.1	Sample Characteristics	8
	5.4.2	Correlates of Gait Speed: Bivariate Associations	1
	5.4.3	Potentially Modifiable and Non-Modifiable Correlates of Gait Speed: Hierarchical Regression	5
5.5	Discus	sion9	0
	5.5.1	Variation in Gait Speed is Largely Explained by Non-Modifiable Factors	0
	5.5.2	Gait Speed is Significantly Associated with Multiple Potentially Modifiable Factors	91
	5.5.3	Limitations	13
	5.5.4	Conclusion	4
5.6	Refere	nces	5
Chapt	er 6		2
6 Sum	mary an	d Conclusion 10	12
6.1	Overvi	ew	12
6.2	Summ	ary of Main Findings 10	2
	6.2.1	Modifiable Risk Factors for Slow Gait in Community-Dwelling Older Adults: A Systematic Review)2
	6.2.2	Normative Values of Gait Speed among Middle and Older-Aged Adults: An Analysis of Data from the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging. 10)4
	6.2.3	Associations between Reversible Risk Factors and Gait Speed in Middle and Older-Aged Community-Dwelling Adults: Results from the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging	1)6
6.3	Resear	ch and Methodological Contributions10	17
6.4	Limita	tions 10	19
6.5	Directi	ons for Future Research 11	1
6.6	Conclu	usion	2
6.7	Refere	nces	3

Appendices	
Curriculum Vitae	

List of Tables

Table 2-1. Quality of studies included in review.	13
Table 2-2. Summary of risk factors assessed in at least two studies.	15
Table 3-1. Hierarchical models	51
Table 4-1. Characteristics of included and excluded groups.	63
Table 4-2. Normative values of usual gait speed and height-standardized usual gait speed by	у
sex and age	65
Table 4-3. Prevalence of gait speeds by sex and age.	66
Table 5-1. Hierarchical models used to measure correlates of gait speed	78
Table 5-2. Baseline descriptive statistics for analytic sample (n=20,201)	79
Table 5-3. Bivariate associations between gait speed and selected factors.	84
Table 5-4. Hierarchical regression analysis of non-modifiable and potentially modifiable	
correlates of gait speed	87

List of Figures

Figure 4-1.	Distribution of u	usual gait speed	(m/s) for the	analytic sample	e
0		0 1	· · ·	J 1	

List of Appendices

Appendix A	Systematic Review Search Strategy 115
Appendix B	Quality of Included Studies 117
Appendix C	Characteristics of Studies Included in Systematic Review
Appendix D	Overall Characteristics of CLSA Comprehensive Cohort at Baseline 130
Appendix E	Characteristics of Analytical Sample versus Excluded Group 133
Appendix F	Sensitivity Analysis – Hierarchical Regression with Imputed Missing Data134

List of Abbreviations

AFT	Animal Fluency Test
BMI	Body Mass Index
CESD-10	Center for Epidemiologic Studies Short Depression Scale (10- item)
CLSA	Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging
COPD	Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease
DSST	Digit Symbol Substitution Test
FCS	Fully Conditional Specification
HDL	High Density Lipoprotein
hsCRP	High Sensitivity C-Reactive Protein
MAR	Missing at Random
MCAR	Missing Completely at Random
MAT	Mental Alternation Test
NIH	National Heart Lung and Blood Institute
PASE	Physical Activity Scale for the Elderly
RAVLT	Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test
TMT	Trail Making Test

Chapter 1

1 Introduction

1.1 Overview

The purpose of this chapter is to provide background information about the main topics of this thesis. The objectives and hypotheses of the studies as well as an overview of subsequent chapters will also be provided.

1.2 Biology of Gait

Gait is an essential function for humans that allows for movement through ever-changing environments with variable terrains. The production, maintenance, and adaptability of gait involves a complex interplay among multiple physiological and anatomical systems associated with locomotion. These pathways are typically influenced by additional factors outside of the locomotor system including neuropsychological factors and age-related declines in health and physical function.^{1,2}

Early descriptions of the production of rhythmic gait movements suggested that it was an automatic motor task regulated solely by neural inputs from structures such as central pattern generators.^{3,4} This belief, however, was challenged by the discovery that higher-order structures in the central nervous system significantly influence gait production as well. Under this revised mechanism, aspects of automaticity in gait production are acknowledged, but the ability to maintain and adapt one's gait in response to the perception of environmental stimuli is explained to be the result of coordinated communication among multiple brain regions associated with cognitive functions such as executive function, attention, and memory.^{5–8} Greater demands are placed on these functions in response to multitasking conditions that involve performing additional tasks while simultaneously walking.⁹ If the control of these complex cognitive functions becomes impaired, the allocation of necessary resources to effectively adjust one's motor behaviours in response to multiple tasks and stimuli is limited and abnormalities in gait performance can arise.¹⁰

1.3 Gait Speed Analysis

The act of walking can be described through the measurement of several spatiotemporal and biomechanical parameters including stride length, cadence, support time, and gait speed.^{11,12} The analysis of these parameters in real-time has not only contributed to the understanding of usual gait but has also advanced efforts aimed at exploring the nature of gait impairments and their association with morbidity over the lifespan. Gait speed specifically has been recognized as an important measure of physical function as well as an indicator of health status and future well-being.¹³ Methods of measuring gait speed include both manual and electronic techniques. For example, many gait speed tests involve individuals walking a prespecified distance while their time to cover this distance is measured using a stopwatch. Other more sophisticated methods can include the use of electronic walkways that record gait speed digitally.¹⁴ Currently, a variety of different distances are employed for walking tests, with shorter distances between 4 meters and 10 meters most commonly used.¹⁵ While a consensus on a standard protocol for walking test distance has not yet been adopted, tests with variable distances are thought to produce comparable results after being standardized to meters per second (m/s).^{15,16}

1.4 Adverse Outcomes Associated with Slow Gait Speed

Analyses of gait in healthy individuals using the assessment tools described above have demonstrated that gait speed typically remains constant over early and middle adulthood.^{17,18} Average usual gait speeds among healthy adults aged 20 to 60 years generally range between approximately 1.30 m/s to 1.45 m/s for men and 1.20 m/s to 1.40 m/s for women.¹⁷ While declines in gait speed due to the biological effects of aging are expected once individuals reach older adulthood, the development of slower gait speed below the normal threshold, regardless of age, is indicative of possible underlying health problems.¹⁹

The association between slow gait and adverse outcomes is well documented. For example, adults who walk at slower paces face a greater risk of falls and musculoskeletal injuries,^{20,21} morbidity,^{22–24} and premature mortality.^{25,26} Current guidelines have detailed general gait speed ranges and rates of clinically meaningful decline in gait speed that are

commonly associated with aspects of functional independence and health. In general, individuals with gait speeds of 1.0 m/s or faster have the highest functional independence and the lowest risk of experiencing adverse outcomes, however as gait speed declines below 1.0 m/s, issues are more likely to arise.²⁷ Namely, adults with gait speeds slower than 0.8 m/s, and especially slower than 0.6 m/s, frequently face mobility impairments and are more likely to fall, be hospitalized, and even be discharged to nursing care facilities.^{27,28} In terms of quantifying declines in speed over time, annual declines ranging between 0.05 m/s and 0.1 m/s are also used as clinically meaningful indicators of health status.²⁹

1.5 Risk Factors of Slow Gait Speed

As slow gait is quite prevalent among older adults and can have drastic impacts on wellbeing,³⁰ there is a pressing need to better understand its etiology so that effective intervention strategies can be developed and implemented in at-risk populations. Current understanding from the literature is that gait speed is influenced by a complex set of factors, which may vary between different populations of adults. These factors can be classified generally as non-modifiable and potentially modifiable. Risk factors that are non-modifiable include individual characteristics that cannot be intervened upon such as age, sex, and height. Conversely, risk factors that are considered potentially modifiable can be altered, managed, and/or prevented through clinical intervention and lifestyle changes. While gait speed can be significantly influenced by both types of factors, the factors that can be modified or prevented are especially important to efforts to mitigate slow gait and its negative effects in clinical and public health practice.

1.6 Thesis Overview

This thesis is presented in an integrated article format. The content of each chapter is listed below. Because of this format, some repetition of information is inevitable.

Chapter 2 includes a systematic review with the objective to summarize the potentially modifiable risk factors that are associated with 'slow' and 'slowing' gait speed in community-dwelling adults aged 60 years and older.

Chapter 3 provides in-depth details on the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA) and thorough explanations of the methods employed in the analyses presented in Chapters 4 and 5.

Chapter 4 examines and compares the gait speed norms of men and women in four 10year age groups as well as the prevalence of slow gait within these strata using baseline data from the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA) Comprehensive cohort.

Chapter 5 explores the cross-sectional associations between demographic, clinical, anthropometric, and lifestyle factors and gait speed among participants in the CLSA baseline Comprehensive cohort to determine the influence of non-modifiable and potentially modifiable factors.

Chapter 6 provides a summary and final discussion of the findings presented in the studies within this thesis. It includes a description of research contributions, study limitations, and directions for future research.

1.7 References

- 1. Hausdorff JM, Nelson ME, Kaliton D, et al. Etiology and modification of gait instability in older adults: a randomized controlled trial of exercise. *J Appl Physiol*. 2001;90(6):2117-2129. doi:10.1152/jappl.2001.90.6.2117
- Rosso AL, Studenski SA, Chen WG, et al. Aging, the central nervous system, and mobility. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2013;68(11):1379-1386. doi:10.1093/gerona/glt089
- 3. Burke RE, Degtyarenko AM, Simon ES. Patterns of Locomotor Drive to Motoneurons and Last-Order Interneurons: Clues to the Structure of the CPG. J *Neurophysiol*. 2001;86(1):447-462. doi:10.1152/jn.2001.86.1.447
- 4. Marder E, Bucher D. Central pattern generators and the control of rhythmic movements. *Curr Biol.* 2001;11(23):R986-R996. doi:10.1016/S0960-9822(01)00581-4
- 5. Montero-Odasso M, Verghese J, Beauchet O, Hausdorff JM. Gait and Cognition: A Complementary Approach to Understanding Brain Function and the Risk of Falling. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2012;60(11):2127-2136. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2012.04209.x
- 6. Hausdorff JM, Yogev G, Springer S, Simon ES, Giladi N. Walking is more like catching than tapping: gait in the elderly as a complex cognitive task. *Exp Brain Res*. 2005;164(4):541-548. doi:10.1007/s00221-005-2280-3
- 7. Parihar R, Mahoney JR, Verghese J. Relationship of Gait and Cognition in the Elderly. *Curr Transl Geriatr Exp Gerontol Rep.* 2013;2(3):167-173. doi:10.1007/s13670-013-0052-7
- Malouin F, Richards CL, Jackson PL, Dumas F, Doyon J. Brain activations during motor imagery of locomotor-related tasks: A PET study. *Hum Brain Mapp*. 2003;19(1):47-62. doi:10.1002/hbm.10103
- 9. Yogev-Seligmann G, Hausdorff JM, Giladi N. The role of executive function and attention in gait. *Mov Disord*. 2008;23(3):329-342. doi:10.1002/mds.21720
- Sheridan PL, Solomont J, Kowall N, Hausdorff JM. Influence of Executive Function on Locomotor Function: Divided Attention Increases Gait Variability in Alzheimer's Disease. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2003;51(11):1633-1637. doi:10.1046/j.1532-5415.2003.51516.x
- 11. Roberts M, Mongeon D, Prince F. Biomechanical parameters for gait analysis: a systematic review of healthy human gait. *Phys Ther Rehabil*. 2017;4(1):6. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.7243/2055-2386-4-6

- 12. Hollman JH, McDade EM, Petersen RC. Normative spatiotemporal gait parameters in older adults. *Gait Posture*. 2011;34(1):111-118. doi:10.1016/j.gaitpost.2011.03.024
- 13. Cesari M, Kritchevsky SB, Penninx BWJH, et al. Prognostic value of usual gait speed in well-functioning older people--results from the Health, Aging and Body Composition Study. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2005;53(10):1675-1680. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2005.53501.x
- 14. Bilney B, Morris M, Webster K. Concurrent related validity of the GAITRite® walkway system for quantification of the spatial and temporal parameters of gait. *Gait Posture*. 2003;17(1):68-74. doi:10.1016/S0966-6362(02)00053-X
- 15. Graham JE, Ostir GV, Fisher SR, Ottenbacher KJ. Assessing walking speed in clinical research: a systematic review. *J Eval Clin Pract.* 2008;14(4):552-562. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2753.2007.00917.x
- Peters DM, Fritz SL, Krotish DE. Assessing the reliability and validity of a shorter walk test compared with the 10-Meter Walk Test for measurements of gait speed in healthy, older adults. J Geriatr Phys Ther 2001. 2013;36(1):24-30. doi:10.1519/JPT.0b013e318248e20d
- 17. Bohannon RW, Williams Andrews A. Normal walking speed: a descriptive metaanalysis. *Physiotherapy*. 2011;97(3):182-189. doi:10.1016/j.physio.2010.12.004
- 18. Samson MM, Crowe A, de Vreede PL, Dessens JAG, Duursma SA, Verhaar HJJ. Differences in gait parameters at a preferred walking speed in healthy subjects due to age, height and body weight. *Aging Clin Exp Res.* 2001;13(1):16-21. doi:10.1007/BF03351489
- 19. Studenski S, Perera S, Wallace D, et al. Physical Performance Measures in the Clinical Setting. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2003;51(3):314-322. doi:10.1046/j.1532-5415.2003.51104.x
- 20. Montero-Odasso M, Schapira M, Soriano ER, et al. Gait velocity as a single predictor of adverse events in healthy seniors aged 75 years and older. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*. 2005;60(10):1304-1309. doi:10.1093/gerona/60.10.1304
- Quach L, Galica AM, Jones RN, et al. The Non-linear Relationship between Gait Speed and Falls: The MOBILIZE Boston Study. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2011;59(6):1069-1073. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2011.03408.x
- Mielke MM, Roberts RO, Savica R, et al. Assessing the temporal relationship between cognition and gait: slow gait predicts cognitive decline in the Mayo Clinic Study of Aging. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2013;68(8):929-937. doi:10.1093/gerona/gls256

- 23. Verghese J, Wang C, Lipton RB, Holtzer R, Xue X. Quantitative gait dysfunction and risk of cognitive decline and dementia. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. 2007;78(9):929-935. doi:10.1136/jnnp.2006.106914
- Veronese N, Stubbs B, Volpato S, et al. Association Between Gait Speed With Mortality, Cardiovascular Disease and Cancer: A Systematic Review and Metaanalysis of Prospective Cohort Studies. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2018;19(11):981-988.e7. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2018.06.007
- 25. Studenski S, Perera S, Patel K, et al. Gait Speed and Survival in Older Adults. *JAMA*. 2011;305(1):50-58. doi:10.1001/jama.2010.1923
- Ostir GV, Kuo Y-F, Berges IM, Markides KS, Ottenbacher KJ. Measures of Lower Body Function and Risk of Mortality over 7 Years of Follow-up. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2007;166(5):599-605. doi:10.1093/aje/kwm121
- 27. Fritz S, Lusardi M. White Paper: "Walking Speed: the Sixth Vital Sign." J Geriatr Phys Ther. 2009;32(2):2. doi:10.1519/00139143-200932020-00002
- 28. Abellan van Kan G, Rolland Y, Anieu S, et al. Gait speed at usual pace as a predictor of adverse outcomes in community-dwelling older people an International Academy on Nutrition and Aging (IANA) Task Force. *J Nutr Health Aging*. 2009;13(10):881-889. doi:10.1007/s12603-009-0246-z
- 29. Perera S, Mody SH, Woodman RC, Studenski SA. Meaningful Change and Responsiveness in Common Physical Performance Measures in Older Adults. *J Am Geriatr Soc*. 2006;54(5):743-749. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2006.00701.x
- 30. Verghese J, LeValley A, Hall CB, Katz MJ, Ambrose AF, Lipton RB. Epidemiology of Gait Disorders in Community-Residing Older Adults. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2006;54(2):255-261. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2005.00580.x

Chapter 2

2 Modifiable Risk-Factors for Slow Gait in Community-Dwelling Older Adults: A Systematic Review

A version of this chapter has been submitted for publication.

2.1 Abstract

Purpose: Slow gait speed in older adults is associated with increased risk for falls and fractures, functional dependence, multimorbidity, and even mortality. The risk of these adverse outcomes can be reduced by intervening on potentially modifiable risk factors. The purpose of this systematic review was to identify potentially modifiable risk factors associated with slow gait speed and clinically meaningful gait speed decline in older community-dwelling adults.

Methods: Literature searches were conducted in MEDLINE, EMBASE, CINAHL, Google Scholar, and in the bibliographies of retrieved articles.

Results: Forty studies met the inclusion criteria for qualitative review. Study designs were cross-sectional and longitudinal. Operational definitions of 'slow gait' and 'meaningful gait speed decline' were variable and based on sample distributions (e.g. quartiles), external criteria (e.g. < 0.8 m/s), and dynamic changes over time (e.g. $\ge 0.05 \text{ m/s}$ decline per year). Twenty-six potentially modifiable risk factors were assessed in at least two studies. The risk factors most commonly investigated and that showed significant associations with slow gait and/or meaningful gait speed decline include physical activity, education, body mass index, pain, and depression/depressive symptoms. **Conclusion**: Among older community-dwellers, potentially modifiable factors such as physical activity, education, body mass index, pain, and depression/depressive symptoms have been associated with slow or declining gait speed. Methods used to operationalize these outcomes must be considered when assessing risk factor effects. Our results suggest that there are modifiable targets to maintain gait speed that should be examined further in future investigations.

Keywords: gait speed, aging, systematic review, epidemiology

2.2 Introduction

Impairments in mobility are prevalent among older adults.¹ In particular, slow gait speed has garnered much attention due to its association with negative health outcomes including falls, musculoskeletal injuries, comorbidities, and mortality.^{2–6} Slow gait is also a marker of general functionality and is linked with overall well-being and the ability to participate independently in daily activities.⁷

The causes of slowing gait speed with aging are understood to be multi-factorial.⁸ Analyses of gait function across the adult lifespan have shown associations between several non-modifiable risk factors and declines in gait speed, with aging being one of the strongest predictors of such decline.^{9,10} Due to the impact of slow gait on individuals' health and quality of life and its ability to predict future deterioration of health, research interest is shifting towards identifying potentially modifiable causes of gait speed decline and slow gait speed. In contrast to non-modifiable factors that are unalterable such as age and sex at birth, modifiable risk factors can potentially be altered and/or managed through various methods including clinical treatment and lifestyle changes. By identifying and intervening on these factors, diagnosis and treatment strategies can be improved to mitigate further morbidity and disability associated with gait speed impairment in at-risk populations.¹¹

Previous systematic reviews have explored the influence of cognitive function on gait speed in aging populations.^{12,13} However no systematic review has yet provided a comprehensive review of non-cognitive related factors associated with slow gait speed or clinically meaningful gait speed decline that could potentially be modified to prevent progressive declines in this motor function. Therefore, the aim of this systematic review was to identify potentially modifiable clinical and lifestyle factors associated with slow gait speed and clinically meaningful gait speed decline in older community-dwelling adults.

2.3 Methods

2.3.1 Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

Studies were included if they met the following inclusion criteria: 1) sample of community-dwelling adults in any country, 2) subjects aged 60 years and older on average, 3) assessment of usual, or self-selected, gait speed as an independent physical function through face-to-face assessment using any measured time and distance walk test, 4) clearly stated operational definition (criteria or cutoff) of slow gait or clinically meaningful decline in gait speed, 5) investigation of at least one potentially modifiable risk factor for slow gait or clinically meaningful decline in gait speed, and 6) observational study design (cohort, cross-sectional, case-control).

Studies were excluded under the following conditions: 1) mean age of subjects under 60 years, 2) subjects were hospitalized, institutionalized, or sampled because of diagnosis of specific clinical conditions (e.g. Parkinson's disease or stroke), 3) assessment of risk factors using only composite outcome measures of physical function (e.g. frailty), 4) measurement of gait speed from treadmill walking, walking on non-flat surfaces, or other tests of ambulation (e.g. Dual-Task tests, Timed Up and Go test), or 5) intervention studies to improve physical functioning. Non-peer reviewed articles, systematic reviews, meta-analyses, randomized trials of interventions, case report and series, ideas, editorials, opinions, and animal research studies identified in the bibliographic search were also excluded.

2.3.2 Search Strategy

Article searches were performed in June 2019 in MEDLINE, EMBASE, and CINAHL. The search strategy was developed through consultation with a research librarian at Western University (Marisa Tippett) using MeSH and keyword terms that are related to the main elements of the research question. Key terms included walking speed, slow gait, aged, and community-dwelling (see Appendix 1 for full search strategy and results). No publication date or language restrictions were applied, and no comparison group was identified due to the exploratory nature of the review. Furthermore, searches in Google Scholar using key terms and searches through the reference lists of the relevant articles were performed.

2.3.3 Study Screening and Selection

Articles retrieved from the online searches were exported into the Mendeley citation manager. After removing duplicates, level 1 screening of titles and abstracts of the potentially eligible articles was completed by one independent reviewer (EF). For level 2 screening, the full texts of articles selected from level 1 were retrieved and independently assessed for eligibility by two co-authors (EF and FF). Disagreements about study eligibility were discussed and resolved between EF and FF. Disagreement about study eligibility not resolved between EF and FF were taken to senior authors of this study (MS and MMO) for final decision.

2.3.4 Data Extraction

Data extraction was completed by one reviewer (EF). The information extracted included author, year of publication, study design and location, participant characteristics, method of gait speed measurement, criteria used to define slow gait or clinically meaningful decline in gait speed, and main statistical findings including identified risk factors. If any information was not provided, "NR" (Not Reported) was inputted into the corresponding section.

2.3.5 Risk of Bias Assessment

The methodological quality of the included studies was assessed by two independent reviewers (EF and FF) using the "Quality Assessment Tool for Observational Cohort and Cross-Sectional Studies" developed by the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute (NIH).¹⁴ This tool comprises 14 items to evaluate aspects of internal validity of observational studies including selection bias, information and measurement bias, and confounding. Each item could be given one of the following ratings: Yes, No, Not Applicable, Not Reported, or Cannot Determine. Studies were given a quality rating based on the number of items met using the NIH guidelines and then categorized as "good" [met 10-14 criteria], "fair" [met 5-9 criteria], or "poor" [met 0-4 criteria].¹⁵

Disagreements about scoring for each item were discussed and resolved between the reviewers. A summary of overall study ratings is provided in Table 2-1.

2.3.6 Synthesis of Results

In this quantitative systematic review, the data extracted from the selected articles were tabulated to allow for a synthesis of the findings that included summaries and comparisons of participant characteristics, outcome assessments, and overall trends of main findings. Meta-analyses of risk factor effects were not conducted due to heterogeneity in outcome cut-offs and lack of evidence for many factors.

2.4 Results

2.4.1 Study Quality and Characteristics

Forty articles published between 2006 and 2019 were included in this review; 21 were cross-sectional while 19 were longitudinal, with reported follow-ups ranging from 1 to 12 years. Most studies were performed in North American (14/40) and Asian (11/40) countries, with the remaining studies from Europe, South America, the Middle East, and Australia. The overall quality of each article is summarized in Table 2-1. Briefly, 15 studies were rated as 'Good' and 25 were rated as 'Fair'. The cross-sectional studies generally achieved lower scores as their design inherently prohibited the assessment of a temporal relationship between the exposures and outcome. All studies reported the use of valid measurement tools to assess the variables of interest and most accounted for important covariates in their analyses. Sample size or power justification and blinding of study assessors was reported in less than a quarter of the studies. The full quality assessment for all articles is provided in Appendix B.

Sample sizes ranged from 108 to 7025 and the proportion of female participants ranged from 0% to 100%. Usual (i.e. self-selected) gait speed was measured in all studies, with walking test distances ranging from 2.4 meters to 20 meters. The most common walk test distances employed were 6 meters (9/40), 4 meters (7/40), 4.6 or 5 meters (7/40), 3 meters (6/40), and 20 meters (4/40). Distances less than 3 meters were reported in three studies, while those between 7 and 20 meters were reported in the remaining studies.

Criteria to define individuals as having slow gait or clinically meaningful decline in gait speed were reported in all studies but were noticeably inconsistent. The studies used a mix of relative (e.g. sample distribution-based, such as lowest quartile) and absolute (e.g. external criterion, such as less than 0.8 meters per second) cutoffs, as well as measures of changing gait speed (e.g. decline of 0.05 meters per second per year). Relative and absolute cutoffs were seen in both cross-sectional and longitudinal analyses while measures of changing gait speed could only be used in studies that assessed gait speed on multiple occasions over time. The most commonly used sample distribution-based criteria for slow gait were lowest quintile (8/40) and lowest quartile of gait speed (6/40)with various adjustments for factors such as age, sex, and height, and > 1 standard deviation below age and sex gait speed means (3/40). The most common external criterion cutoffs for slow gait were < 0.8 m/s (7/40) and < 1.0 m/s (6/40). In the longitudinal studies, the most common definitions of significant declines in gait speed were ≥ 0.05 m/s decline per year (3/40) and ≥ 0.1 m/s decline per year (2/40). These heterogeneous measures resulted in a wide range of prevalence of slow gait in the 17 cross-sectional studies, with the frequency ranging between 1.56% to 65.8%. Among the longitudinal studies, 17 reported the frequency of participants who experienced a clinically meaningful decline in gait speed at follow-up. A full summary of study characteristics and findings can be found in Appendix C (Tables C-1 and C-2).

Author	Year	Quality*
Kyrdalen et al. ¹⁶	2019	Fair
Montero-Odasso et al. ¹⁷	2019	Good
Nasimi et al. ¹⁸	2019	Fair
Toyama et al. ¹⁹	2019	Good
Laclaustra et al. ²⁰	2019	Good
Kwan et al. ²¹	2019	Fair
Lassale et al. ²²	2019	Good
Xu et al. ²³	2019	Fair
Umegaki et al. ²⁴	2018	Fair

Table 2-1. Quality of studies included in review.

Adachi et al. ²⁵	2018	Fair
Simonsick, Aronson et al. ²⁶	2018	Good
Taylor et al. ²⁷	2018	Fair
Simonsick, Schrack et al. ²⁸	2018	Good
Ayers et al. ²⁹	2017	Good
Shafie et al. ³⁰	2017	Fair
Veronese et al. ³¹	2017	Fair
Yokoyama et al. ³²	2017	Fair
Gill et al. ³³	2016	Good
Garcia-Esquinas et al. ³⁴	2016	Fair
Naples et al. ³⁵	2016	Good
Zeng et al. ³⁶	2016	Fair
Verghese et al. ³⁷	2016	Good
Plouvier et al. ³⁸	2016	Fair
Rosano et al. ³⁹	2016	Fair
Frison et al. ⁴⁰	2015	Fair
Tchalla et al. ⁴¹	2015	Fair
Kirkness et al. ⁴²	2015	Fair
Lo-Ciganic et al. ⁴³	2015	Good
Busch et al. ⁴⁴	2015	Fair
Kim et al. ⁴⁵	2015	Good
Lana et al. ⁴⁶	2015	Fair
Leon-Munoz et al.47	2014	Good
Wu et al. ⁴⁸	2013	Fair
Ruggero et al. ⁴⁹	2013	Fair
Hirani et al. ⁵⁰	2013	Fair
Thorpe et al. ⁵¹	2011	Good
Eggermont et al. ⁵²	2010	Fair
Yoshida et al. ⁵³	2010	Fair
Shardell et al. ⁵⁴	2009	Fair

Chu et al. ⁵⁵	2006	Good

*NIH Quality Assessment Tool for Observational Cohort and Cross-Sectional Studies

2.4.2 Factors Assessed for Association with Gait Speed

A total of 85 potentially modifiable risk factors were studied. Refer to Appendix C (Tables C-1 and C-2). Of the 85 factors, 26 were found in at least two studies. As summarized in Table 1-2, the most commonly assessed factors include physical activity (10/40), body mass index (10/40), education level (7/40), pain (6/40), heart conditions (6/40), and depression/depressive symptoms (5/40). Each study tested associations at the five percent level of significance and the proportion of studies that reported statistically significant findings for each factor ranged from zero to 100 percent. All studies that examined education level, polypharmacy, calf circumference, digit symbol substitution test, and Mediterranean diet reported statistically significant effects. Other factors with statistically significant effects reported in less than 100 but at least 50 percent of studies included pain, depression/depressive symptoms, falls, fear of falling, arthritis, grip strength, impaired vision, physical activity, body mass index, bone mineral density, high sensitivity C-Reactive protein, and albumin. Results should be interpreted with caution because statistical significance can be influenced by sample size and statistically significant effects may not necessarily be clinically meaningful.

Factor Classification	Factors assessed in ≥ 2 studies	No. Studies that included the factor	No. (%) Studies reporting significant factor effects
Sociodemographic	Education Level	7/40	7/7 (100%)
Clinical	Pain	6/40	5/6 (83.3%)
	Heart Conditions	6/40	2/6 (33.3%)
	Depression/Depressive symptoms	5/40	4/5 (80%)
	Multimorbidity	4/40	1/4 (25%)
	Hypertension	4/40	1/4 (25%)
	Stroke	4/40	1/4 (25%)
	Falls	4/40	3/4 (75%)
	Arthritis	4/40	2/4 (50%)
	Grip Strength	3/40	2/3 (66.7%)
	Diabetes	3/40	0/3 (0%)

Table 2-2. Summary of risk factors assessed in at least two studies.

	Polypharmacy	2/40	2/2 (100%)
	Fear of Falling	2/40	1/2 (50%)
	Impaired Vision	3/40	2/3 (66.7%)
Lifestyle	Physical Activity	10/40	9/10 (90%)
	Smoking	3/40	0/3 (0%)
	Alcohol Consumption	3/40	1/3 (33.3%)
Body Composition	Body Mass Index	10/40	8/10 (80%)
	Calf Circumference	2/40	2/2 (100%)
	Bone Mineral Density	2/40	1/2 (50%)
Serum	Vitamin D	3/40	1/3 (33.3%)
	High Sensitivity C-	2/40	1/2 (50%)
	Reactive Protein		
	Albumin	2/40	1/2 (50%)
Cognition	Digit Symbol	2/40	2/2 (100%)
	Substitution		
	Trail Making Test	2/40	0/2 (0%)
Dietary	Mediterranean Diet	2/40	2/2 (100%)

2.4.2.1 Sociodemographic Factors

Education Level: Seven studies examined education as a contributor to slow gait speed or clinically meaningful decline in speed.^{16,23,27,30,42,44,51} Xu et al. and Taylor et al. reported significantly reduced odds of slow gait for individuals with more than a high school education (OR=0.85, 95% CI=0.78; 0.93 and OR=0.49, 95% CI=0.36; 0.66 respectively). Taylor et al. further found a non-significant result for individuals with high school education only. In terms of being less educated, significantly increased odds of slow gait or clinically meaningful speed decline for individuals with 10 or fewer years of education were reported by Kyrdalen et al., Shafie et al., and Busch et al. with ORs ranging from 2.69 to 3.58. Additionally, Kirkness et al. reported significantly greater odds of slow gait for those with high school education or less, while Thorpe et al. reported a significantly greater odds of meaningful speed decline among women with less than 9th grade reading level abilities. Finally, Busch et al. and Shafie et al. reported significantly higher odds of slow gait among adults who were illiterate or who had no formal education (OR=3.20, 95% CI=NR and OR=5.11, 95% CI=2.04; 12.79 respectively).

Other Factors: Other sociodemographic risk factors for slow gait or clinically meaningful speed decline that were only identified in single studies were occupation,³⁸ not owning a home,⁵¹ and low annual income.⁴² Protective factors identified in single studies were access to medical care and being an urban resident.^{36,42}

2.4.2.2 Clinical Factors

Depression and Depressive Symptoms: The association between slow gait and depression or depressive symptoms was estimated in five studies.^{16,25,29,37,42} Using scores on modified versions of the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale or Geriatric Depression Scale to categorize individuals as having depression or not, Kirkness et al. and Adachi et al. reported significantly higher odds of slow gait for individuals with depression (OR=1.97, 95% CI=1.35; 2.87 and OR=2.73, 95% CI=1.12; 6.68 respectively), while Verghese et al. reported a non-significant association for those with depression (RR=1.19, 95% CI=0.84; 1.69). Furthermore, Kyrdalen et al. found significantly greater odds of slow gait for individuals with more depressive symptoms and Ayers et al. reported greater risk of developing slow gait among individuals with symptoms of apathy.

Pain: Six studies examined the relationship between slow gait speed or clinically meaningful speed decline and pain.^{26,27,37,42,45,52} Taylor et al. and Verghese et al. found that recent or frequent experience of pain in general was significantly associated with slow gait (OR= 1.38, 95% CI=1.11; 1.73 and RR=1.45, 95% CI=1.11; 1.89), however Kim et al. reported a non-significant association for pain (OR=0.76, 95% CI=0.45; 1.31). In addition, Eggermont et al. reported significantly greater odds of slow gait for individuals with higher tender point counts but did not find a significant association for single, multi-site, or widespread pain. In terms of specific pain sites, Kirkness et al. and Kim et al. found that knee pain significantly increased the odds of slow gait (OR=1.43, 95% CI=1.02; 2.01 and OR= 1.73, 95% CI=1.08; 2.76 respectively). Kirkness et al. additionally reported a significant effect for back pain on slow gait (OR=1.45, 95% CI=1.05; 2.01), however Simonsick et al. reported non-significant associations for lower limb and joint pain.

Multimorbidity: Measures of multimorbidity were included as potential predictors of slow gait speed or clinically meaningful speed decline in four studies.^{16,27,36,51} Only Taylor et al. reported significant results for increased odds of slow gait in people with two comorbidities (OR=1.54, 95% CI=1.12; 2.11) and in those with three or more comorbidities (OR=2.18, 95% CI=1.48; 3.20). Contrarily, Zeng et al. found that having two or more comorbidities was not a significant predictor in their stepwise regression model for slow gait, and Kyrdalen et al. reported non-significant associations between slow gait and having three to four comorbidities or having five to eleven comorbidities (OR=1.32, 95% CI=0.51; 3.22 and OR=1.41, 95% CI=0.52; 3.43 respectively). Thorpe et al. also did not find a significant association between having two or more comorbidities and experiencing clinically meaningful gait speed decline over time in neither men (OR=1.31, 95% CI=0.97; 1.76) nor women (OR=1.22, 95% CI=0.89; 1.68).

Hypertension: Four studies assessed the association between hypertension and slow gait.^{23,37,41,42} Both Kirkness et al. and Verghese et al. reported non-significant effects for hypertension (OR=1.41, 95% CI=0.96; 2.09 and RR= 0.98, 95% CI=0.70; 1.38 respectively). Xu et al. also did not find a significant effect (values not reported). However, in their assessment of the relationship between circulating vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 and slow gait, Tchalla et al. found a significant interaction effect between this vascular-related molecule and hypertension on slow gait as compared to normotensive individuals (OR= 3.01, 95% CI=1.56; 5.83).

Heart conditions: The association between slow gait and various heart conditions was examined in six studies.^{23,37,38,42,44,45} Two of these studies created composite variables for cardiovascular conditions. First, using a composite variable that included angina, myocardial infarction, and cardiac failure, Verghese et al. found that having a heart condition did not significantly predict developing slow gait in the future (RR=1.01, 95% CI=0.74; 1.39). Second, using a different composite variable for cardiovascular disorder that included diagnosis of hypertension, arteritis, coronary heart disease, and stroke, Plouvier et al. found that having a cardiovascular disorder was not significantly associated with slow gait in women, but was among men (OR= 2.09, 95% CI=1.22; 3.58). Using single heart condition variables, Busch et al. reported that individuals with

cardiovascular disease were approximately twice as likely to have slow gait, while Kim et al. did not find a significant association between heart disease and slow gait (OR=1.30, 95% CI=0.74; 2.30). Xu et al. also did not find a significant effect for heart disease. Finally, Kirkness et al. reported no significant effect for heart failure alone on having slow gait.

Stroke: Four studies assessed the association between history of stroke and slow gait.^{23,37,42,49} Using a cross-sectional design, Ruggero et al. reported significantly greater odds of slow gait for those who have experienced a stroke (OR= 3.41, 95% CI=1.31; 8.86), however no significant relationships between history of stroke and slow gait were found by Kirkness et al. or Xu et al. Verghese et al. also reported a non-significant effect for stroke history using a longitudinal analysis.

Polypharmacy: The relationship between polypharmacy and slow gait or clinically meaningful speed decline was measured in two studies.^{16,17} Montero-Odasso et al. reported significantly increased odds of slow gait for more medications taken both cross-sectionally and longitudinally (OR=1.27, 95% CI=1.13; 1.42 and OR= 1.21, 95% CI=1.10; 1.32 respectively) and found that the risk of developing slow gait over time was more than three times higher for individuals with polypharmacy. Additionally, Kyrdalen et al. found significantly greater odds of slow gait for those taking 6 to 17 medications (OR= 4.28, 95% CI=1.63; 11.2) but not for those taking less than six medications.

Falls and Fear of Falling: Four studies examined falls and two studies examined fear of falling as potential predictors of slow gait or meaningful decline in gait speed.^{16,37,45,49,55} Both Verghese et al. and Chu et al. reported significant associations between recent fall history and incidence of slow gait or meaningful speed decline (RR= 1.32, 95% CI=1.04; 1.66 and RR= 2.42, 95% CI=1.53; 3.83 respectively). Contrarily, Kim et al. did not find a significant association between experience of any falls and slow gait (OR=1.78, 95% CI=0.82; 1.86). Furthermore, Kyrdalen et al. found that recent history of multiple falls was linked to significantly greater odds of slow gait (OR= 3.70, 95% CI=1.18; 11.65), however no effect was seen for previous experience of a single fall. Lastly, Kyrdalen et al. did not find a significant association between fear of falling and slow gait (OR= 1.84,

95% CI=0.84; 4.02), however Ruggero et al. showed significantly greater odds of slow gait for individuals who reported being fearful of falling (OR= 2.27, 95% CI=1.21; 4.24).

Grip Strength: The association between grip strength and slow gait was examined in three studies.^{25,37,44} Using grip strength values one or more standard deviations below age and sex means to categorize individuals as having muscle weakness, Verghese et al. reported a significantly greater incidence of slow gait for individuals classified as weak compared to non-weak (RR=1.48, 95% CI=1.07; 2.05). Using grip strength as a continuous measure, Adachi et al. found grip strength to be inversely associated with slow gait (OR=0.82, 95% CI=0.73; 0.93), however a significant relationship was not found by Busch et al.

Arthritis: Measures of arthritis were assessed as potential predictors of slow gait speed or clinically meaningful speed decline in four studies.^{37,42,45,51} Kirkness et al. reported significantly greater odds of slow gait for individuals with clinically diagnosed knee osteoarthritis (OR=2.06, 95% CI=1.47; 2.89), while Thorpe only found a significant association for self-reported knee osteoarthritis among women (OR= 1.78, 95% CI=1.18; 2.69). Kim et al. reported a non-significant effect for self-reported knee osteoarthritis on slow gait (OR=1.19, 95% CI=0.67; 2.10). Lastly, Thorpe et al. reported a non-significant effect for hip osteoarthritis and Verghese et al. did not find a significant association between self-report of any type of arthritis and incidence of slow gait (RR=1.05, 95% CI=0.71; 1.53).

Diabetes: All three studies that examined the relationship between diabetes and slow gait reported non-significant associations.^{23,37,42}

Impaired Vision: Three studies assessed the relationship between vision impairment and slow gait.^{16,37,55} While Kyrdalen et al. did not find a significant association (OR=1.54, 95% CI=0.70; 3.40), Verghese et al. reported significantly greater risk of incident slow gait for those with poor vision (RR= 1.36, 95% CI=1.02; 1.89). Chu et al. also found poor visual acuity to be significantly associated with meaningful gait speed declines (RR=2.41, 95% CI=1.22; 4.78).

Other Clinical Factors: Other clinical risk factors for slow gait or clinically meaningful speed decline only identified in single studies were metabolic syndrome,²³ musculoskeletal disorders,³⁸ lung disease,⁴² cancer,⁴² disability,³⁰ hyperuricemia,³¹ urinary incontinence,⁴⁹ and fatigability.²⁸ Other singularly identified clinical factors that did not have a significant association with slow gait or meaningful decline were statin use,⁴³ drug interactions,³⁵ hyperlipidemia,⁴⁵ COPD,⁴⁴ asthma,⁴² tumor,²³ dyslipidemia,²³ renal function,¹⁹ self-rated health,³⁶ ulcer,⁴² tiredness and energy level,²⁸ and osteoporosis.⁴⁵

2.4.2.3 Lifestyle Factors

Physical Activity: The relationship between level of physical activity and slow gait was examined in ten studies.^{19,23,25,30,36–38,44,45,49} Seven of these studies found significantly lower odds of slow gait among those who reported being physically active in some way, with ORs ranging from 0.27 to 0.94. Plouvier et al. reported significantly lower odds only for individuals who engaged in recreational activities for more than two hours per week and Kim et al. did not find a significant association between regular exercise and slow gait (OR= 0.79, 95% CI=0.50; 1.26). In terms of physical inactivity, both Verghese et al. and Ruggero et al. reported significantly greater likelihood of slow gait for individuals who were not physically active (RR= 1.94, 95% CI=1.20; 3.12 and OR=2.24, 95% CI=1.18; 4.25 respectively).

Smoking: Three studies included smoking as a potential predictor of slow gait.^{23,36,38} None of these studies found smoking to significantly influence the odds of having slow gait.

Alcohol Consumption: Three studies included alcohol consumption as a potential correlate of slow gait.^{23,36,37} While Xu et al. reported significantly lower odds of slow gait for those who consumed alcohol (OR= 0.71, 95% CI=0.54; 0.95), Zeng et al. and Verghese et al. found no significant association between alcohol consumption and likelihood of slow gait.
Other Lifestyle Factors: Other lifestyle factors that were associated with slow gait but were only identified in single studies were unstructured daily routine and impaired activities of daily living.^{36,44} Other singularly identified clinical factors that did not have a significant association with slow gait were hours of sleep and poor sleep quality.^{23,37} Finally, factors identified in single studies that showed a protective effect were hobby engagement,³⁶ social networking,³⁰ social participation,²¹ and life-space.²¹

2.4.2.4 Body Composition Factors

Body Mass Index (BMI): The association between BMI and slow gait or clinically meaningful speed decline was examined in ten studies.^{16,18,23,33,36–38,42,45,51} Using BMI as a continuous measure, Zeng et al. reported a significant positive association between BMI and slow gait speed (OR=1.25, 95% CI=1.09; 1.43), while Xu et al. and Kyrdalen et al. did not find a significant association. Using normal BMI as a reference, both Nasimi et al. and Kim et al. reported significant associations between underweight BMI and greater odds of slow gait (OR= 5.22, 95% CI=1.35; 20.12 and OR=1.25, 95% CI=1.11; 1.40 respectively). Using non-obese BMI as the reference, Verghese et al. and Plouvier et al. found a significantly greater likelihood of slow gait among those who were obese (RR=1.35, 95% CI=1.07; 1.69, OR=2.34, 95% CI=1.14; 4.81 [men], and OR=3.31, 95% CI=1.35; 8.13 [women] respectively), while Thorpe et al. found a significant effect for obesity only among women (OR=1.36, 95% CI=1.01; 1.83). Plouvier et al. further reported no significant effect for overweight BMI as compared to normal BMI in neither men nor women. Next, using normal weight as the reference, Gill et al. found that individuals with overweight BMI and those with obese BMI were at significantly greater risk of having slow gait (RR=1.3, 95% CI=1.0; 1.7 and RR=2.1, 95% CI=1.6; 2.7 respectively), and when also incorporating waist circumference into their analyses, they reported that only those who were overweight or obese in the largest waist circumference category had a significantly increased the risk of slow gait as compared to those in the smaller waist categories. Lastly, Kirkness et al. found significantly lower odds of slow gait for those considered healthy, underweight, or overweight as compared to those considered obese (OR= 0.55, 95% CI=0.36; 0.85 and OR= 0.48, 95% CI=0.34; 0.69 respectively).

Calf Circumference: Two studies measured the association between calf circumference and slow gait.^{18,45} Both Nasimi et al. and Kim et al. reported significantly reduced odds of slow gait with increased calf circumference (OR= 0.82, 95% CI=0.72; 0.92 and OR= 0.81, 95% CI=0.72; 0.92 respectively).

Bone Mineral Density: Two studies included bone mineral density as a potential predictor of slow gait.^{23,45} Kim et al. found that greater bone mineral density was significantly associated with lower odds of slow gait (OR=0.51, 95% CI=0.32; 0.79), while Xu et al. did not find bone mineral density to be a significant predictor of slow gait (values not reported).

Other Body Composition Factors: Another body composition factor that was identified to impart risk on experiencing slow gait but was only identified in a single study was body fat.¹⁸ Other factors examined in single studies that did not have a significant association with slow gait were visceral fat area,¹⁸ fat-free mass,¹⁸ muscle protein,¹⁸ bone mineral content,¹⁸ and central adiposity.²³

2.4.2.5 Serum Factors

Vitamin D: The association between vitamin D and slow gait was examined in three studies.^{45,50,54} Shardell et al. reported significantly greater odds of slow gait for men with low vitamin D (OR=2.20, 95% CI=1.17; 4.11) but this effect was not seen in women (OR=1.12, 95% CI=0.59; 2.14). Neither Hirani et al. nor Kim et al. found significant effects for 25-hydroxyvitamin D on slow gait, however Hirani et al. reported significantly greater odds of slow gait for individuals in the lowest quartile of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D (OR=1.65, 95% CI=1.05; 2.63).

High Sensitivity C-Reactive Protein (CRP): Two studies assessed the relationship between CRP and slow gait.^{22,53} While Yoshida et al. did not find a significant effect for elevated CRP (OR=1.82, 95% CI=0.94; 3.51), Lassale et al. reported significantly greater odds of slow gait for individuals with elevated CRP cross sectionally (OR=1.43, 95% CI=1.03; 1.98) as well as for individuals whose CRP levels increased from medium to high over follow-up (OR=1.61, 95% CI=1.15; 2.24).

Albumin: Two studies included albumin as a potential predictor of slow gait.^{18,45} Kim et al. reported significantly lower odds of slow gait for higher albumin level while Nasimi et al. did not find a significant effect (OR=0.17, 95% CI=0.06; 0.46 and OR=1.48, 95% CI=0.88; 2.46 respectively).

Other Serum Factors: Other serum factors that were identified to impart risk on experiencing slow gait but were only identified in single studies were plasma fatty acids,⁴⁰ high density lipoprotein,⁴⁵ and cystatin C.⁴⁵ Other factors examined in single studies that did not have a significant association with slow gait were triglycerides,¹⁸ B2-microglobulin,⁴⁵ hemoglobin A1c,⁴⁵ and parathyroid hormone.⁵⁴

2.4.2.6 Cognitive Factors

Digit Symbol Substitution Test (DSST): Two studies assessed the relationship between scores on the digit symbol substitution test and slow gait.^{24,39} Both Umegaki et al. and Rosano et al. found that higher DSST scores were linked to lower odds of slow gait cross-sectionally (OR= 0.71, 95% CI=0.54; 0.94, OR=0.97, 95% CI=0.97; 0.98 [subclinical gait speed group], and OR= 0.93, 95% CI=0.93; 0.95 [clinical gait speed group]. Rosano et al. did not find similar significant associations longitudinally.

Trail Making Test (TMT): Performance on the trail making test was assessed for an association with slow gait in two studies.^{16,25} Kyrdalen et al. reported a non-significant association for performance on part B of the TMT with slow gait (OR=1.56, 95% CI=0.64; 3.83), and Adachi et al. found a non-significant effect for the difference in time spent between part B and A (OR=1.00, 95% CI=1.00; 1.01).

Other Cognitive Factors: Other cognitive factors that were identified to impart risk on experiencing slow gait but were only identified in single studies were cognitive impairment and white matter hyperintensities.^{37,39} Factors examined in single studies that did not have a significant association with slow gait were logical memory performance and Mini Mental State Examination performance.^{24,25} Lastly, a factor identified in a single study that showed a protective effect on slow gait was absence of dementia.²⁷

2.4.2.7 Dietary Factors

Mediterranean Diet: The association between adherence to a Mediterranean diet and slow gait was examined in two studies.^{21,47} Kwan et al. reported that individuals whose Mediterranean diet scores were in the upper two tertiles had significantly lower odds of slow gait (OR= 0.38, 95% CI=0.17; 0.84 [T2] and OR= 0.17, 95% CI=0.06; 0.44 [T3]). Leon-Munoz et al. additionally reported that only individuals whose scores on the Mediterranean Diet Adherence Screener were in the highest tertile had significantly lower odds of slow gait (OR= 0.53, 95% CI=0.35; 0.79). Leon-Munoz et al. found no significant effect for Mediterranean Diet Score.

Other Dietary Factors: Other dietary factors that were identified to impart risk on experiencing slow gait but were only identified in single studies were low fiber intake and dietary inflammatory index.^{20,48} Factors examined in single studies that did not have a significant association with slow gait were energy intake,²³ protein intake,²³ fruit and vegetable consumption,³⁴ and meals per day.³⁶ Finally, factors identified in single studies that showed a protective effect on slow gait were dietary variety and dairy consumption.^{32,46}

2.5 Discussion

To our knowledge, this is the first systematic review to comprehensively examine a broad range of potentially modifiable risk factors for slow gait speed and clinically meaningful decline in gait speed among community-dwelling older adults. Across the 40 studies included in this review, 85 potentially modifiable risk factors were assessed for an association with slow gait or clinically meaningful gait speed decline. Of these factors, 26 were examined in two or more studies.

The included studies used cross-sectional and longitudinal designs. More than half of the studies were given a 'fair' quality rating which was mainly influenced by the simultaneous assessment of exposures and outcomes during the same time periods. The size of the odds/risk ratios were generally small to moderate and tended to be heterogeneous. Sources of heterogeneity include differences in exposure measurements, cutoffs, and the design used. Another major probable reason for the heterogeneity of effects is the use of different operational definitions of slow gait and meaningful decline. The approaches used included relative cutoffs based on the observed distributions of gait speed in the study samples (e.g. quartiles/quintiles), external criteria (e.g. < 0.8 m/s), and dynamic measures of change in gait speed over time (e.g. ≥ 0.05 m/s decline per year). The use of relative cutoffs based on sample distributions has advantages. It is a transparent and simple use of descriptive statistics to create strata of approximately equal size. This guarantees a sufficient number of people with the slowest gait speed for statistical comparisons. This is not assured if an external criterion is used, particularly with a small sample that was recruited from a group with above-average gait speed. However, the gait speed cutoff of the slowest quartile will likely differ among samples recruited from populations with different average gait speeds, which will cause heterogeneity in odds ratios across studies even if all other variables in all studies are measured identically. Another problem is that there is no reason to expect an internally derived lowest quartile cutoff to be close to an external criterion, which will be another source of heterogeneous findings across studies. Ultimately, while this review is informative, definitive conclusions should not be made from the evidence currently presented as the effects for the risk factors were summarized through qualitative observation only, and insufficient evidence for many factors is present to ensure that the effect measures are truly reflective of populations beyond the studies.

The three risk factors most commonly investigated among the studies in this review were physical activity, BMI, and education level. Overall, the effect estimates reported for each of these factors were mostly consistent and suggested that the likelihood of experiencing slow gait or clinically meaningful speed decline was decreased for those who were physically active and increased for those who were obese, underweight, and less educated. The benefits of regular physical activity on multiple aspects of health including chronic illnesses, functional capacity, and longevity have been well-documented.⁵⁶ In older adults especially, engagement in moderate to high levels of physical activity has clear benefits for delaying or preventing incident functional impairments and disability such as slow gait that can reduce independence in everyday life.⁵⁷ Conversely, a notably high or low BMI has been associated with a greater risk of functional declines and incident disability.⁵⁸ Obesity is associated with the development

of comorbidities that contribute to these declines including musculoskeletal conditions, cardiovascular conditions, and diabetes.⁵⁹ Being underweight also has potential negative effects on aspects of physical function in older adults such as muscle strength and may be linked with nutritional deficiencies that further promote health declines.^{60,61} Being less educated may also increase the risk of gait speed impairment in complex ways. Low socioeconomic status, which includes one's education level, is a known contributor to the experience of various health disparities. Low education level specifically has been linked to a greater risk of adverse outcomes including disability, development of chronic conditions, and overall poor health.^{62–65} Individuals with fewer years of education are also more likely to engage in sedentary lifestyles and unhealthy behaviours.^{66,67} Additionally, as those with low socioeconomic status frequently face barriers to accessing healthcare resources,⁶⁸ their likelihood of receiving care for health declines and associated physical impairments including slow gait is reduced.

Other factors that also appeared more commonly across the included studies were pain, depression/depressive symptoms, and heart conditions. Among the results for pain, which included effect estimates for both general and site-specific measures, an overall trend for greater likelihood of slow gait was exhibited for those with some type of pain. Experience of frequent or chronic pain is known to negatively impact multiple domains of quality of life such as physical function, independence, and psychological wellbeing.⁶⁹ Pain severity and its association with mobility impairments can additionally be exacerbated by chronic conditions including musculoskeletal disorders and obesity, and by other unhealthy behaviours.⁷⁰ Incidence of disability in functional parameters including gait can also be magnified by the ways in which individuals think about their pain, which may involve pain catastrophizing and pain-related fear.^{71,72} The results for depression-related effect measures were also fairly consistent in that having depression or more depressive symptoms increased the likelihood of slow gait. Longitudinal associations between depression and incident disability have been observed.^{73,74} While depression can directly influence physical functioning through biological pathways, this relationship may also be influenced by other factors that co-occur in those with depression including multimorbidity and unhealthy lifestyle behaviours.^{75,76} Conversely, many of the studies examining heart conditions found a non-significant effect of these

measures on the likelihood of slow gait speed. As presented in current literature, components of frailty including slow gait share similar causal pathways with cardiovascular disease and many studies have identified slow gait as a predictor of adverse cardiovascular outcomes.^{77–79} While impairments in motor function may be independently influenced by the diagnosis of various heart conditions,^{80,81} other vascular factors associated with the development of these conditions (e.g. hypertension, inflammation) could account for the effect that heart conditions appear to have on gait speed.⁸² Existence of a potential link between heart conditions and gait speed impairment does however merit further investigation.

It is important to note that other clinical, behavioural, serological, and cognitive risk factors were assessed in addition to the factors described above. Many of these factors may play important roles in the development of slow gait or significant gait speed decline however our synthesis shows that the evidence available for these factors remains limited. In order to gain a better understanding of the relationships between these factors and gait speed, gaps such as those highlighted in this review must be addressed with additional research.

Overall, it is clear that in older populations, gait speed is influenced by a complex network of biological, mechanical, and psychological factors. Past research on several of the factors identified in this review has shown that many do play a role in aspects of physical functioning including gait speed. While reviews on the effects of other specific factors such as cognitive functioning and dual-tasking have provided evidence that these individual traits significantly influence gait speed, they only provide information about a limited number of contributors to the causal pie for gait speed decline. Thus, the current review is a step towards identifying a more complete series of potential risk factors that influence the likelihood of gait speed decline as well as some factors unlikely to be fruitful avenues for subsequent research.

This systematic review is not without limitations. First, it includes many cross-sectional studies which hinders the ability to draw conclusions about the causal relationship between the identified risk factors and gait speed impairment. As mentioned above, there

is noticeable heterogeneity in the classification of slow gait or meaningful speed decline across the studies, inconsistency in walking test distance, inconsistency in the types of covariates adjusted for, and differences in the operational definitions and comparisonreference categories of these risk factors. While the inclusion of populations of older adults residing in community settings was not limited by geographic location, generalizing the findings of this review to older community-dwelling adults in any country or geographic area is cautioned strongly not only due to possible differences in demographic, socioeconomic, lifestyle, and clinical characteristics between populations in developed and developing countries, but also due to the other issues listed above.

We provide systematic evidence to suggest that the risk of experiencing slow gait speed or clinically meaningful gait speed decline can be influenced by a variety of potentially modifiable factors such as physical activity, education, body mass index, pain, and depression/depressive symptoms. With a better understanding of the multifactorial causes of gait speed impairments, enhancement of current methods to diagnose older adults at risk for slow gait is possible, and individual clinical and lifestyle intervention strategies can be tailored to target factors that contribute the highest amount of risk. Public health interventions that target older populations can also be refined to provide education about the risk factors associated with gait speed decline and how preventing slow gait can, in turn, reduce the risk of associated illness and injury in the future. Due to the inconsistencies and limitations that still exist in the current evidence base, additional longitudinal studies on aging populations are needed to explore the causal relationships between the factors that have been suggested to be associated with slow gait or meaningful gait speed decline. When conducting these studies, investigators should consider the use of one "best" walking test protocol and should consider implementing consistent cutoff values to mark the development of slow gait speed or experience of meaningful gait speed decline. Additionally, when investigators operationalize slow gait with sample-based distributional cutoffs, they should also conduct parallel analyses using uniform external cutoffs (e.g. < 0.8 m/s) to increase the comparability of their analyses to those from other studies.

2.6 Conclusion

There are several potentially modifiable risk factors that may impact the risk of slow gait or meaningful declines in gait speed among community-dwelling older adults. This preliminary synthesis of sociodemographic, clinical, lifestyle, anthropometric, serum, cognitive, and dietary risk factors presents avenues for further investigations of the complex etiology of this mobility impairment. Rather than using only statistical significance as the basis for future research, investigators should ensure their studies have adequate power to detect clinically meaningful associations between slow gait and the factors of interest. The methods used to operationalize slow gait and meaningful gait speed decline should also be considered when interpreting and comparing results among studies as they can contribute to heterogeneity in risk factor effects.

2.7 References

- 1. Verghese J, LeValley A, Hall CB, Katz MJ, Ambrose AF, Lipton RB. Epidemiology of Gait Disorders in Community-Residing Older Adults. *J Am Geriatr Soc*. 2006;54(2):255-261. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2005.00580.x
- 2. Salzman B MD. Gait and Balance Disorders in Older Adults. *Am Fam Physician*. 2010;82(1):61-68.
- 3. Abellan van Kan G, Rolland Y, Anieu S, et al. Gait speed at usual pace as a predictor of adverse outcomes in community-dwelling older people an International Academy on Nutrition and Aging (IANA) Task Force. *J Nutr Health Aging*. 2009;13(10):881-889. doi:10.1007/s12603-009-0246-z
- 4. Studenski S, Perera S, Patel K, et al. Gait Speed and Survival in Older Adults. *JAMA*. 2011;305(1):50-58. doi:10.1001/jama.2010.1923
- 5. Verghese J, Wang C, Lipton RB, Holtzer R, Xue X. Quantitative gait dysfunction and risk of cognitive decline and dementia. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. 2007;78(9):929-935. doi:10.1136/jnnp.2006.106914
- 6. Montero-Odasso M, Schapira M, Soriano ER, et al. Gait velocity as a single predictor of adverse events in healthy seniors aged 75 years and older. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*. 2005;60(10):1304-1309. doi:10.1093/gerona/60.10.1304
- 7. Fritz S, Lusardi M. White Paper: "Walking Speed: the Sixth Vital Sign." *J Geriatr Phys Ther*. 2009;32(2):2.

- 8. Alexander, Neil B. Gait disorders in older adults. J Am Geriatr Soc. 1996;44(4):434-451. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.1996.tb06417.x
- 9. Himann JE, Cunningham DA, Rechnitzer PA, Paterson DH. Age-related changes in speed of walking. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 1988;20(2):161-166. doi:10.1249/00005768-198820020-00010
- 10. Bohannon RW, Williams Andrews A. Normal walking speed: a descriptive metaanalysis. *Physiotherapy*. 2011;97(3):182-189. doi:10.1016/j.physio.2010.12.004
- 11. Rubenstein LZ, Powers CM, MacLean CH. Quality indicators for the management and prevention of falls and mobility problems in vulnerable elders. *Ann Intern Med.* 2001;135(8 Pt 2):686. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-135-8_Part_2-200110161-00007
- Kearney FC, Harwood RH, Gladman JRF, Lincoln N, Masud T. The Relationship between Executive Function and Falls and Gait Abnormalities in Older Adults: A Systematic Review. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord*. 2013;36(1-2):20-35. doi:10.1159/000350031
- Al-Yahya E, Dawes H, Smith L, Dennis A, Howells K, Cockburn J. Cognitive motor interference while walking: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* 2011;35(3):715-728. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2010.08.008
- 14. National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute. Quality Assessment Tool for Observational Cohort and Cross-Sectional Studies. https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health-topics/study-quality-assessment-tools.
- 15. Woolford MH, Weller C, Ibrahim JE. Unexplained Absences and Risk of Death and Injury Among Nursing Home Residents: A Systematic Review. *J Am Med Dir Assoc.* 2017;18(4):366.e1-366.e15. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2017.01.007
- 16. Kyrdalen IL, Thingstad P, Sandvik L, Ormstad H. Associations between gait speed and well-known fall risk factors among community-dwelling older adults. *Physiother Res Int*. 2019;24(1):e1743-n/a. doi:10.1002/pri.1743
- Montero-Odasso M, Sarquis-Adamson Y, Song HY, Bray NW, Pieruccini-Faria F, Speechley M. Polypharmacy, Gait Performance, and Falls in Community-Dwelling Older Adults. Results from the Gait and Brain Study: POLYPHARMACY, GAIT, AND FALLS IN OLDER ADULTS. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2019;67(6):1182-1188. doi:10.1111/jgs.15774
- Nasimi N, Dabbaghmanesh MH, Sohrabi Z. Nutritional status and body fat mass: Determinants of sarcopenia in community-dwelling older adults. *Exp Gerontol*. 2019;122:67-73. doi:10.1016/j.exger.2019.04.009
- 19. Toyama T, van den Broek-Best O, Ohkuma T, et al. Associations of Impaired Renal Function With Declines in Muscle Strength and Muscle Function in Older Men:

Findings From the CHAMP Study. J Gerontol Ser A. 2019;74(11):1812-1820. doi:10.1093/gerona/glz100

- 20. Laclaustra M, Rodriguez-Artalejo F, Guallar-Castillon P, et al. The inflammatory potential of diet is related to incident frailty and slow walking in older adults. *Clin Nutr Edinb Scotl*. 2019;(Journal Article). doi:10.1016/j.clnu.2019.01.013
- Kwan RYC, Cheung DSK, Lo SKL, et al. Frailty and its association with the Mediterranean diet, life-space, and social participation in community-dwelling older people. *Geriatr Nur (Lond)*. 2019;40(3):320-326. doi:10.1016/j.gerinurse.2018.12.011
- 22. Lassale C, Batty GD, Steptoe A, et al. Association of 10-Year C-Reactive Protein Trajectories With Markers of Healthy Aging: Findings From the English Longitudinal Study of Aging. *J Gerontol Ser A*. 2019;74(2):195-203. doi:10.1093/gerona/gly028
- 23. Xu H, Shi J, Shen C, Liu Y, Liu J-M, Zheng X. Sarcopenia-related features and factors associated with low muscle mass, weak muscle strength, and reduced function in Chinese rural residents: a cross-sectional study. *Arch Osteoporos*. 2019;14(1):1-14. doi:10.1007/s11657-018-0545-2
- 24. Umegaki H, Makino T, Shimada H, Hayashi T, Wu Cheng X, Kuzuya M. Cognitive Dysfunction in Urban-Community Dwelling Prefrail Older Subjects. *J Nutr Health Aging*. 2018;22(4):549-554. doi:10.1007/s12603-018-1017-5
- 25. Adachi T, Kono Y, Iwatsu K, Shimizu Y, Yamada S. Duration of moderate to vigorous daily activity is negatively associated with slow walking speed independently from step counts in elderly women aged 75 years or over: A cross-sectional study. *Arch Gerontol Geriatr.* 2018;74:94-99. doi:10.1016/j.archger.2017.10.003
- 26. Simonsick EM, Aronson B, Schrack JA, et al. Lumbopelvic Pain and Threats to Walking Ability in Well-Functioning Older Adults: Findings from the Baltimore Longitudinal Study of Aging: Lumbopelvic Pain and Threats to Walking Ability. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2018;66(4):714-720. doi:10.1111/jgs.15280
- 27. Taylor JL, Parker LJ, Szanton SL, Thorpe RJ. The association of pain, race and slow gait speed in older adults. *Geriatr Nur (Lond)*. 2018;39(5):580-583. doi:10.1016/j.gerinurse.2018.04.004
- Simonsick EM, Schrack JA, Santanasto AJ, Studenski SA, Ferrucci L, Glynn NW. Pittsburgh Fatigability Scale: One-Page Predictor of Mobility Decline in Mobility-Intact Older Adults. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2018;66(11):2092-2096. doi:10.1111/jgs.15531
- 29. Ayers E, Shapiro M, Holtzer R, Barzilai N, Milman S, Verghese J. Symptoms of Apathy Independently Predict Incident Frailty and Disability in Community-

Dwelling Older Adults. *J Clin Psychiatry*. 2017;78(5):e529-e536. doi:10.4088/JCP.15m10113

- 30. Shafie S, Shahwan S, Abdin E, et al. The correlates of slow gait and its relation with social network among older adults in Singapore. *Aging Ment Health*. 2017;21(11):1171-1176. doi:10.1080/13607863.2016.1202893
- 31. Veronese N, Stubbs B, Trevisan C, et al. Results of an Observational Cohort Study of Hyperuricemia as a Predictor of Poor Physical Performance in the Elderly. *Arthritis Care Res.* 2017;69(8):1238-1244. doi:10.1002/acr.23118
- 32. Yokoyama Y, Nishi M, Murayama H, et al. Dietary variety and decline in lean mass and physical performance in community-dwelling older Japanese: A 4-year follow-up study. *J Nutr Health Aging*. 2017;21(1):11-16. doi:10.1007/s12603-016-0726-x
- Gill SV, Hicks GE, Zhang Y, Niu J, Apovian CM, White DK. The Association of Waist Circumference with Walking Difficulty Among Adults with or at Risk of Knee Osteoarthritis: The Osteoarthritis Initiative. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2016;25(1):60-66. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2016.07.011
- 34. García-Esquinas E, Rahi B, Peres K, et al. Consumption of fruit and vegetables and risk of frailty: a dose-response analysis of 3 prospective cohorts of community-dwelling older adults. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2016;104(1):132-142. doi:10.3945/ajcn.115.125781
- 35. Naples JG, Marcum ZA, Perera S, et al. Impact of Drug–Drug and Drug–Disease Interactions on Gait Speed in Community-Dwelling Older Adults. *Drugs Aging*. 2016;33(6):411-418. doi:10.1007/s40266-016-0373-2
- 36. Zeng P, Han Y, Pang J, et al. Sarcopenia-related features and factors associated with lower muscle strength and physical performance in older Chinese: a cross sectional study. *BMC Geriatr.* 2016;16(1):45. doi:10.1186/s12877-016-0220-7
- 37. Verghese J MD, Wang C PhD, Allali G MD, Holtzer R PhD, Ayers E MPH. Modifiable Risk Factors for New-Onset Slow Gait in Older Adults. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2016;17(5):421-425. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2016.01.017
- 38. Plouvier S, Carton M, Cyr D, et al. Socioeconomic disparities in gait speed and associated characteristics in early old age. *BMC Musculoskelet Disord*. 2016;17(1):178. doi:10.1186/s12891-016-1033-8
- Rosano C, Perera S, Inzitari M, Newman AB, Longstreth WT, Studenski S. Digit Symbol Substitution test and future clinical and subclinical disorders of cognition, mobility and mood in older adults. *Age Ageing*. 2016;45(5):688-694. doi:10.1093/ageing/afw116
- 40. Frison E, Boirie Y, Peuchant E, Tabue-Teguo M, Barberger-Gateau P, Féart C. Plasma fatty acid biomarkers are associated with gait speed in community-dwelling

older adults: The Three-City-Bordeaux study. *Clin Nutr.* 2015;36(2):416-422. doi:10.1016/j.clnu.2015.12.008

- Tchalla AE, Wellenius GA, Travison TG, et al. Circulating Vascular Cell Adhesion Molecule-1 Is Associated With Cerebral Blood Flow Dysregulation, Mobility Impairment, and Falls in Older Adults. *Hypertension*. 2015;66(2):340-346. doi:10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.115.05180
- 42. Kirkness CS, Ren J. Race Differences: Use of Walking Speed to Identify Community-Dwelling Women at Risk for Poor Health Outcomes--Osteoarthritis Initiative Study. *Phys Ther*. 2015;95(7):955-965. doi:10.2522/ptj.20140028
- 43. Lo-Ciganic W-H, Perera S, Gray SL, et al. Statin Use and Gait-Speed Decline in Community-Dwelling Older Adults. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2015;63(1):124-129. doi:10.1111/jgs.13134
- 44. Busch T de A, Duarte YA, Pires Nunes D, et al. Factors associated with lower gait speed among the elderly living in a developing country: a cross-sectional population-based study. *BMC Geriatr.* 2015;15(1):35. doi:10.1186/s12877-015-0031-2
- Kim H PhD, Suzuki T MD, PhD, Kim M PhD, et al. Incidence and Predictors of Sarcopenia Onset in Community-Dwelling Elderly Japanese Women: 4-Year Follow-Up Study. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2015;16(1):85.e1-85.e8. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2014.10.006
- Lana A, Rodriguez-Artalejo F, Lopez-Garcia E. Dairy Consumption and Risk of Frailty in Older Adults: A Prospective Cohort Study. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2015;63(9):1852-1860. doi:10.1111/jgs.13626
- León-Muñoz LM PhD, Guallar-Castillón P MD, López-García E PhD, Rodríguez-Artalejo F MD. Mediterranean Diet and Risk of Frailty in Community-Dwelling Older Adults. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2014;15(12):899-903. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2014.06.013
- 48. Wu I-C, Chang H-Y, Hsu C-C, et al. Association between dietary fiber intake and physical performance in older adults: a nationwide study in Taiwan. *PloS One*. 2013;8(11):e80209. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0080209
- 49. Ruggero CR, Bilton TL, Teixeira LF, et al. Gait speed correlates in a multiracial population of community-dwelling older adults living in Brazil: a cross-sectional population-based study. *BMC Public Health*. 2013;13(1):182-182. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-13-182
- Hirani V, Naganathan V, Cumming RG, et al. Associations between frailty and serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D concentrations in older Australian men: the Concord Health and Ageing in Men Project. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2013;68(9):1112-1121. doi:10.1093/gerona/glt059

- Thorpe RJ Jr, Koster A, Kritchevsky SB, et al. Race, Socioeconomic Resources, and Late-Life Mobility and Decline: Findings From the Health, Aging, and Body Composition Study. J Gerontol Ser -Biol Sci Med Sci. 2011;66(10):1114-1123. doi:10.1093/gerona/glr102
- Eggermont LHP, Shmerling RH, Leveille SG. Tender Point Count, Pain, and Mobility in the Older Population: The MOBILIZE Boston Study. J Pain. 2010;11(1):62-70. doi:10.1016/j.jpain.2009.06.005
- 53. Yoshida Y, Iwasa H, Kumagai S, Yoshida H, Suzuki T. Association between Creactive protein (CRP) level and physical performance in community-dwelling elderly in Japan. *Arch Gerontol Geriatr*. 2009;51(2):164-168. doi:10.1016/j.archger.2009.10.002
- 54. Shardell M, Hicks GE, Miller RR, et al. Association of Low Vitamin D Levels With the Frailty Syndrome in Men and Women. *J Gerontol Ser A*. 2009;64A(1):69-75. doi:10.1093/gerona/gln007
- 55. Chu L-W, Chiu AYY, Chi I. Impact of falls on the balance, gait, and activities of daily living functioning in community-dwelling Chinese older adults. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*. 2006;61(4):399-404. doi:10.1093/gerona/61.4.399
- 56. Warburton DER, Nicol CW, Bredin SSD. Health benefits of physical activity: the evidence. *CMAJ Can Med Assoc J J Assoc Medicale Can*. 2006;174(6):801-809. doi:10.1503/cmaj.051351
- 57. Paterson DH, Warburton DE. Physical activity and functional limitations in older adults: a systematic review related to Canada's Physical Activity Guidelines. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act.* 2010;7(1):38-38. doi:10.1186/1479-5868-7-38
- Al Snih S, Ottenbacher KJ, Markides KS, Kuo Y-F, Eschbach K, Goodwin JS. The Effect of Obesity on Disability vs Mortality in Older Americans. *Arch Intern Med*. 2007;167(8):774-780. doi:10.1001/archinte.167.8.774
- 59. Visscher TL, Seidell JC. The public health impact of obesity. *Annu Rev Public Health*. 2001;22(1):355-375. doi:10.1146/annurev.publhealth.22.1.355
- 60. Ferreira RS, da Silva Coqueiro R, Barbosa AR, Pinheiro PA, Fernandes MH. Relationship between BMI and physical performance among older adults. *Geriatr Nur* (*Lond*). 2013;34(6):465-468. doi:10.1016/j.gerinurse.2013.07.013
- 61. Kvamme J-M, Olsen JA, Florholmen J, Jacobsen BK. Risk of malnutrition and health-related quality of life in community-living elderly men and women: The Tromsø study. *Qual Life Res.* 2011;20(4):575-582. doi:10.1007/s11136-010-9788-0
- Sulander T, Martelin T, Sainio P, Rahkonen O, Nissinen A, Uutela A. Trends and educational disparities in functional capacity among people aged 65-84 years. *Int J Epidemiol.* 2006;35(5):1255-1261. doi:10.1093/ije/dyl183

- 63. Grundy E, Holt G. Adult life experiences and health in early old age in Great Britain. *Soc Sci Med.* 2000;51(7):1061-1074. doi:10.1016/S0277-9536(00)00023-X
- Everson SA, Maty SC, Lynch JW, Kaplan GA. Epidemiologic evidence for the relation between socioeconomic status and depression, obesity, and diabetes. J Psychosom Res. 2002;53(4):891-895. doi:10.1016/S0022-3999(02)00303-3
- 65. Veronesi G, Tunstall-Pedoe H, Ferrario MM, et al. Combined effect of educational status and cardiovascular risk factors on the incidence of coronary heart disease and stroke in European cohorts: Implications for prevention. *Eur J Prev Cardiol*. 2017;24(4):437-445. doi:10.1177/2047487316679521
- 66. Droomers M, Schrijvers CTM, Mackenbach JP. Educational level and decreases in leisure time physical activity: predictors from the longitudinal GLOBE study. *J Epidemiol Community Health*. 2001;55(8):562-568. doi:10.1136/jech.55.8.562
- 67. Nocon M, Keil T, Willich SN. Education, income, occupational status and health risk behaviour. *J Public Health*. 2007;15(5):401-405. doi:10.1007/s10389-007-0120-6
- 68. Murata C, Yamada T, Chen C-C, Ojima T, Hirai H, Kondo K. Barriers to health care among the elderly in Japan. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. 2010;7(4):1330-1341. doi:10.3390/ijerph7041330
- 69. Katz N. The Impact of Pain Management on Quality of Life. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2002;24(1):S38-S47. doi:10.1016/S0885-3924(02)00411-6
- 70. Lamb SE, Guralnik JM, Buchner DM, et al. Factors that modify the association between knee pain and mobility limitation in older women: the Women's Health and Aging Study. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2000;59(5):331-337. doi:10.1136/ard.59.5.331
- 71. Somers TJ, Keefe FJ, Pells JJ, et al. Pain Catastrophizing and Pain-Related Fear in Osteoarthritis Patients: Relationships to Pain and Disability. *J Pain Symptom Manage*. 2009;37(5):863-872. doi:10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2008.05.009
- 72. Vowles KE, McCracken LM, Eccleston C. Patient Functioning and Catastrophizing in Chronic Pain: The Mediating Effects of Acceptance. *Health Psychol*. 2008;27(2S):S136-S143. doi:10.1037/0278-6133.27.2(Suppl.).S136
- 73. Penninx BWJH, Deeg DJH, van Eijk JTM, Beekman ATF, Guralnik JM. Changes in depression and physical decline in older adults: a longitudinal perspective. J Affect Disord. 2000;61(1):1-12. doi:10.1016/S0165-0327(00)00152-X
- 74. Penninx BW, Leveille S, Ferrucci L, van Eijk JT, Guralnik JM. Exploring the effect of depression on physical disability: longitudinal evidence from the established populations for epidemiologic studies of the elderly. *Am J Public Health*. 1999;89(9):1346-1352. doi:10.2105/AJPH.89.9.1346

- 75. Marx P, Antal P, Bolgar B, Bagdy G, Deakin B, Juhasz G. Comorbidities in the diseasome are more apparent than real: What Bayesian filtering reveals about the comorbidities of depression. *PLoS Comput Biol.* 2017;13(6):e1005487. doi:10.1371/journal.pcbi.1005487
- 76. Strine TW MPH, Mokdad AH PhD, Dube SR PhD,MPH, et al. The association of depression and anxiety with obesity and unhealthy behaviors among communitydwelling US adults. *Gen Hosp Psychiatry*. 2008;30(2):127-137. doi:10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2007.12.008
- 77. Chainani V, Shaharyar S, Dave K, et al. Objective measures of the frailty syndrome (hand grip strength and gait speed) and cardiovascular mortality: A systematic review. *Int J Cardiol.* 2015;215:487-493. doi:10.1016/j.ijcard.2016.04.068
- Afilalo J. Frailty in Patients with Cardiovascular Disease: Why, When, and How to Measure. *Curr Cardiovasc Risk Rep.* 2011;5(5):467-472. doi:10.1007/s12170-011-0186-0
- Sergi G, Veronese N, Fontana L, et al. Pre-Frailty and Risk of Cardiovascular Disease in Elderly Men and Women. JACC J Am Coll Cardiol. 2015;65(10):976-983. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2014.12.040
- Rozzini R, Frisoni GB, Ferrucci L, Barbisoni P, Bertozzi B, Trabucchi M. The effect of chronic diseases on physical function. Comparison between activities of daily living scales and the Physical Performance Test. *Age Ageing*. 1997;26(4):281-287. doi:10.1093/ageing/26.4.281
- Kriegsman DM, Deeg DJ, van Eijk JT, Penninx BW, Boeke AJ. Do disease specific characteristics add to the explanation of mobility limitations in patients with different chronic diseases? A study in The Netherlands. J Epidemiol Community Health. 1997;51(6):676-685. doi:10.1136/jech.51.6.676
- Watson NL, Sutton-Tyrrell K, Youk AO, et al. Arterial Stiffness and Gait Speed in Older Adults With and Without Peripheral Arterial Disease. Am J Hypertens. 2011;24(1):90-95. doi:10.1038/ajh.2010.193

Chapter 3

3 Detailed Methods for Chapters 4 and 5

3.1 Overview

This chapter provides information on the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA) from which data was obtained for the analyses presented in Chapters 4 and 5. Section 3.2 provides a description of the data source, including the sampling design and data collection and management procedures. The measurement instruments used to collect data on the main outcome and all independent variables are detailed in Section 3.3. Information on the statistical analyses performed and other considerations in subsequent chapters are listed in Section 3.4.

3.2 Data Source

The data used in this thesis came from the CLSA. Specifically, Chapters 4 and 5 involved analyses of baseline data from the CLSA Comprehensive cohort collected from May 2012 to May 2015. The CLSA is a national longitudinal study aimed at evaluating health trajectories across the adult lifespan and characterizing determinants of aging processes in a representative sample of community-dwelling Canadian adults.¹ The CLSA was developed by the Institute of Aging in partnership with Statistics Canada, the Government of Canada, the Public Health Agency of Canada, provincial ministries, and multiple university research institutions.

3.2.1 Sampling Design and Recruitment

Community-dwelling Canadian adults who were aged 45 to 85 years at the time of baseline data collection were the target population for the CLSA. In total, the CLSA recruited approximately 50,000 subjects at baseline, with about 20,000 of those individuals in the Tracking cohort who provided information via computer-assisted telephone interviews, and another 30,000 in the Comprehensive cohort who underwent face-to-face interviews, performed physical assessments, and provided biological samples during assessments in-home or at the data collection site nearest to them.² Individuals

were excluded from the CLSA if they were living in one of the territories, certain remote areas, or in a First Nations reserve or settlement, or if they were full time members of the Canadian Armed Forces, institutionalized, unable to communicate in English or French, or were cognitively impaired.² The studies in this thesis focused solely on data from the Comprehensive cohort as only the people in this cohort underwent gait speed assessments.

Several sampling frames were used in the creation of the CLSA Comprehensive cohort to ensure it was nationally representative, including provincial healthcare registration databases and random digit dialing.^{2,3} Due to the requirement of attending in-person assessments, only individuals living within 25 to 50 kilometers of the data collection sites were recruited for the Comprehensive cohort. Across 7 provinces, there was a total of 11 data collection sites to represent the Pacific Coast, the Prairies, Central Canada, and the Atlantic Region.²

Sample size targets in each province were as follows: n = 3,000 for Alberta, Manitoba, Newfoundland and Labrador, and n = 6,000 for British Columbia, Ontario, and Quebec.³ Strata were created within each province based on biological sex and 10-year age group (i.e. 45-54, 55-64, 65-74, 75-85) resulting in a total of 56 strata for the Comprehensive cohort.³ These strata were further crossed with education level (i.e. low education vs. not low education). To obtain samples from provincial health registries, provincial government departments were asked to mail CLSA information packages with returnable consent forms to eligible individuals within that respective province. Provinces that granted access to their registries for sampling were Ontario, Manitoba, British Columbia, Newfoundland and Labrador, and Nova Scotia. Information packages were first mailed to a stratified random sample of all eligible individuals in the province, and then to specific low-education areas that were underrepresented in the initial round of sampling.³ To meet the sampling quotas unfulfilled from sampling the provincial health registries alone, additional participants were recruited through random digit dialing, whereby a random sample of landline phone numbers of residences within 25 to 50 kilometers of each data collection site was generated.³ Calls were made to these households to determine if any people living there met the inclusion criteria and if they were willing to participate in the

study. Finally, adults in the Quebec NuAge cohort study aged 75 to 85 years were contacted to obtain permission to use their data in the CLSA. NuAge participants who consented to providing their information were included in the Comprehensive cohort as random digit dialing participants.³

3.2.2 Data Collection Procedures

After agreeing to participate in the CLSA Comprehensive cohort, eligible individuals underwent in-home baseline interviews administered by trained CLSA staff. During these interviews, participants provided informed consent and then completed the Comprehensive Main-wave In-home Questionnaire to gather information on sociodemographic characteristics, health status, lifestyle behaviours, and cognitive function.² Following completion of an in-home interview, participants underwent further assessment at the data collection site nearest to them to measure their physical function and complete a Comprehensive Main-wave Disease Symptoms Questionnaire and neuropsychological battery.² Blood and urine samples were also obtained from participants who consented to providing biological specimens.

To date, the CLSA employs both a manual and electronic data storage system with safeguards to ensure the maintenance of security and privacy of all data collected.² Data collected from all sites across Canada are sent to a centralized server at the CLSA National Coordinating Centre at McMaster University. Using the Opal program, data cleaning and management is performed by staff at the Statistical Analysis Center. Applications for access to CLSA data are reviewed by the Data and Sample Access Committee, and once access is granted, Opal is used to send de-identified data to researchers.

3.3 Measurement Instruments

In the following section, details on the measurement instruments used to collect data on the variables of interest for the analyses in subsequent chapters are given.

3.3.1 Main Outcome

Gait speed is the main outcome variable in both Chapters 4 and 5 and was used as a continuous variable. A four-meter walk test with a static start was used to measure usual gait speed.⁴ Participants were asked to stand with their toes behind a line marked on the floor and were told to walk straight at their usual pace until they walked a few steps past another line 4-meters away. Timing began immediately after the assessor said, "Ready, set, go," and stopped once the participant completely crossed the 4-meter finish line. Participants could use assistive devices such as canes and walkers to complete the test if needed. Time to complete the walk once was recorded in seconds using a stopwatch and was converted into meters per second (m/s).

3.3.2 Independent Variables

Descriptions of the independent variables used in Chapters 4 and 5 are provided below. To note, responses for categorical and binary variables recorded as 'Don't Know' or 'Refused' in the CLSA dataset were treated as missing values.

3.3.2.1 Sociodemographic Characteristics

Age, Sex & Province: CLSA leaders recommend that age, sex, and province be included as the minimum set of covariates for adjustment in analyses using this data.³ Participants' ages were determined by asking for their date of birth and their sex was coded as either 'female' or 'male'. The CLSA Comprehensive cohort had representation from seven provinces: Alberta, British Columbia, Manitoba, Newfoundland and Labrador, Nova Scotia, Ontario, and Quebec. Sex and age categorized into four 10-year groups (45-54, 55-64, 65-74, 75+) were used in Chapter 4 while sex, age (continuous), and province were included in Chapter 5. Both age and sex have been associated with variations and declines in gait speed over the adult lifespan. The association between older age and slower gait speed has been well documented.⁵ This age-related decline in mobility is broadly understood to be the result of physiological, compositional, and structural changes that occur within the body which influence systems that are essential for physical function (e.g. musculoskeletal system).^{6,7} Studies have also observed that men tend to walk faster than women on average, however anthropometric characteristics, such as leg length, likely account for these apparent sex differences in gait speed.⁸

<u>Race</u>: To capture racial diversity, participants were asked if they identified with the following individual groups: White, Chinese, South Asian, Black, Filipino, Latin American, Southeast Asian, Arab, West Asian, Japanese, Korean, North American Indian, Inuit, Métis, or Other. Since most Canadians identify as white,⁹ the white race variable coded as 'white' and 'not white' was used in Chapters 4 and 5. Current evidence suggests that the burden of physical disability is unequal across different racial communities. Namely, racial minorities often face a greater risk of mobility and other functional impairments, likely as a result of the effects of socioeconomic disparities such as poverty, low education, and restricted access to healthcare.^{10,11}

Level of Education: The highest level of education attained was recorded using four levels coded as (1) 'Less than secondary school graduation', (2) 'Secondary school graduation, no post-secondary education', (3) 'Some post-secondary education', and (4) 'Post-secondary degree/diploma'. This categorical variable was used in Chapters 4 and 5. Research has demonstrated that education level is significantly associated with health-related outcomes and physical functioning across the adult lifespan. Individuals who are less educated are more likely to engage in unhealthy behaviours and often have poorer health which increases the risk of functional declines in older age.¹² Those with fewer years of education may also lack adequate health literacy skills to navigate healthcare services and proactively manage their health when issues such as mobility difficulties arise.¹³

3.3.2.2 Anthropometric & Clinical Characteristics

Height & Weight: Participants' standing heights without shoes were measured using a Seca 213 stadiometer and their weights were measured using the 140-10 Healthweigh digital physician scale. Height was included in both Chapter 4 and 5 while weight was included in Chapter 5. Both continuous variables were included as covariates to account for their potential influence on gait speed. Namely, taller height may lead to faster walking speeds and heavier weight may contribute to slower walking speeds.^{14,15}

Grip Strength: Grip strength was measured using a Tracker Freedom® Wireless Grip Dynamometer. While sitting in a chair with their feet flat on the floor and arms unsupported, participants held the dynamometer in their dominant hand and kept their elbow bent at a 90-degree angle.¹⁶ They were then instructed to squeeze the dynamometer as hard as possible. This was performed three times and their average grip strength in kilograms was calculated. Average grip strength was used as a continuous variable in Chapter 5. Grip strength is frequently used as a measure of overall muscle strength in clinical settings, with lower grip strength values indicating potential muscle weakness.¹⁷ Muscle weakening is a common issue in older adulthood that, if not managed effectively, can increase the risk of functional declines and mobility impairments.¹⁸

<u>Chronic Pain</u>: Experience of chronic pain was assessed by asking participants, "Are you usually free of pain or discomfort?" Responses were recorded as either 'Yes' or 'No', with 'No' indicating presence of chronic pain. This binary variable was used in Chapter 5. Pain is a complex phenomenon that influences multiple aspects of everyday function; for example, cognition, social involvement, emotional wellbeing, and physical ability.¹⁹ In older adults especially, pain and its associated morbidity are prevalent and can contribute to and worsen mobility impairments, which has been demonstrated in previous investigations.^{20,21}

Incontinence: Experience of any kind of incontinence was assessed by asking, "Do you ever have trouble getting to the bathroom in time?" Responses were recorded as either 'Yes' or 'No', with 'Yes' indicating experience of incontinence. This binary variable was used in Chapter 5. Incontinence is a geriatric syndrome that can have debilitating effects on functional ability and independence. Links between incontinence and slower walking have previously been demonstrated in older adults, with the potential for a bidirectional relationship proposed.^{22,23}

Depressive Symptoms: Depressive symptoms were assessed using the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Short Depression Scale (CESD-10). This screening tool contained ten questions related to the frequency of feeling depressed and lonely, the ability to 'get going', and restless sleep, to which participants could select one of four responses (i.e. all

of the time, occasionally, some of the time, rarely or never).² Overall scores ranging from 0 to 30 were derived from the ten items in the CESD-10 questionnaire to create a count variable and this was used in Chapter 5. Depression is a prevalent neuropsychiatric disorder that has been linked to a greater risk of multimorbidity, disability, and poor health behaviours.²⁴ Investigations of the causes of depression have highlighted that this condition likely shares similar pathophysiological pathways with impairments related to mobility and fraily.²⁵ As a result, studies have found depression or higher number of depressive symptoms to increase the risk of slower gait speed and vice versa.^{26,27}

<u>Sleep Disturbance</u>: To operationalize sleep disturbance in Chapter 5, a variable measuring the frequency of waking up and having trouble falling asleep was chosen. Participants were asked, "Over the last month, how often did you wake in the middle of the night or too early in the morning and found it difficult to fall asleep again?" Their responses were categorized into one of five options: (1) 'Never', (2) '< Once per week', (3) 'Once or Twice per week', (4) '3-5 times per week', and (5) '6-7 times per week'. The 'Never' and '< Once per week' categories were combined, resulting in four categories overall. Although research on the association between gait speed and sleep quality is limited, some studies have found that poorer sleep, operationalized using a variety of methods, may be associated worse physical function including slower gait speed.^{28–30} Conclusions, however, are still mixed lending to the need for further investigation on the potential of sleep issues to influence gait.

<u>Serum Biomarkers</u>: Non-fasting blood samples were taken from consenting participants during their data collection site visits. Basic analyses of the samples were performed at the data collection sites while more complex analyses were performed at other sites including Biorepository and Bioanalysis Centre at McMaster University and the Genetic and Epigenetic Centre in Vancouver.² The following serum components were used as continuous variables in Chapter 5: vitamin D in mmol/L, high sensitivity C-reactive protein (hsCRP) in mg/L, and high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL) in mmol/L. The values for vitamin D and hsCRP were transformed using the square-root and natural logarithm transformations respectively to reduce skewness. Current literature suggests that impairments in mobility may be associated with Vitamin D deficiencies,^{31–33} chronic

inflammation indicated by elevated hsCRP levels,³⁴ and lower HDL cholesterol levels which are linked to an increased risk of multiple chronic diseases.^{35,36}

3.3.2.3 Cognitive Function

Multiple domains of cognition play a crucial role in the production of gait. As such, the incidence and progression of cognitive deficits often leads to gait abnormalities including slower gait speed.³⁷ Investigations of the role of executive functioning in gait performance have shown that it significantly influences the control and execution of gaiting behaviours as individuals navigate through their environment, and that impaired executive functioning can lead to gait speed declines.^{37,38} In addition to this, performance in other domains such as memory and verbal fluency have also been correlated with gait speed,^{39–41} demonstrating the complex relationship between cognition and mobility.

Executive Function: The Mental Alternation Test (MAT) and the Stroop Test were used as measures of executive function in Chapter 5.² For the MAT, participants were asked to alternate as many numbers and letters as they could out loud (i.e. 1-A, 2-B, 3-C, etc.) in 30 seconds. The number of correct alternations, which could range from 0 to 51, was used as a count variable. The Stroop Test involved three trials. First, as a baseline measure, participants were asked to say the colour of solid circles. In the next trial, participants were asked to say the ink colour of printed words. Finally, the third trial required participants to say the ink colour of printed colour names. The times to complete each trial were recorded in seconds. For the Chapter 5 analysis, a Stroop Interference variable was created by subtracting participants' Trial 1 (least difficult) time from their Trial 3 (most difficult) time.⁴² Extreme outliers \pm 3 standard deviations were excluded from the analyses (i.e. three individuals excluded with the highest scores deemed abnormal).

<u>Memory & Verbal Fluency</u>: Memory was assessed using the Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test (RAVLT).² For this test, participants were read a list of 15 words. Trial one (REY I) involved immediate recall where participants were asked to recall as many words as possible in 90 seconds immediately after the list was read to them. The second trial of the test (REY II) involved delayed recall where participants were asked to recall words from the same list in 90 seconds after a 30-minute delay. Verbal fluency was assessed using the Animal Fluency Test (AFT).² For this test, participants were asked to name as many different animals as possible in 60 seconds. The REY I, REY II, and AFT scores were used as count variables in Chapter 5.

3.3.2.4 Lifestyle Behaviours

<u>Smoking Status</u>: Participants were asked if they were either (1) current smokers, (2) non-smokers who have never smoked, or (3) former smokers who currently do not smoke but have in the past. Smoking is a known risk factor for several key cardiovascular conditions that can influence physical health and is associated with unhealthy behaviours that can also contribute to the progression of functional declines.^{43,44}

<u>Alcohol Consumption</u>: Participants' alcohol consumption was assessed by asking if they were either (1) regular drinkers (i.e. at least one drink per month), (2) occasional drinkers, or (3) non-drinkers (i.e. no alcohol consumed in the last 12 months). Prior research has suggested that alcohol consumption may impart health benefits in older age. For example, one study demonstrated that consumption of moderate amounts of alcohol may be linked to better physical performance, including faster gait speed, as compared to those who drink excessively or not at all.⁴⁵

Physical Activity: Participants' level of physical activity was measured using the Physical Activity Scale for the Elderly (PASE) questionnaire.² Using a set of standardized questions, participants were asked about their engagement in walking, sports and recreational activities, household activities, and work/volunteer activities over the past 7 days. The frequency and time spent participating in each activity was recorded to generate a weighted score for each item. Scores for each questionnaire item were summed to produce an overall score, which was used as a continuous variable in Chapter 5. Physical activity is important throughout life to maintain health and mobility and is especially beneficial in older age to counteract age-related declines. For example, previous studies have shown that older adults who are physically active are more likely to have greater muscle strength and are at a lower risk of physical impairments.⁴⁶

3.3.2.5 Chronic Conditions

Chronic conditions can have complex negative effects on health and mobility, especially in older adulthood.⁴⁷⁻⁴⁹ Diagnosis of chronic conditions was assessed in the CLSA through self-report by asking participants, "Has your doctor ever told you that you have..." to which they answered 'Yes' or 'No' to each item. These binary variables were used in Chapter 5 either individually or were combined to create new binary composite variables and were classified as either non-modifiable or potentially modifiable.

<u>Non-Modifiable Chronic Conditions</u>: Three non-modifiable conditions were included in the analyses: (1) Neurodegenerative disease (Dementia/Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease/ Parkinsonism, and/or multiple sclerosis), (2) memory problem, and (3) macular degeneration.

Potentially Modifiable Chronic Conditions: Nine potentially modifiable conditions were included in the analyses: (1) cardiovascular condition (heart disease, peripheral vascular disease, angina, and/or heart attack), (2) stroke (stroke and/or transient ischemic attack), (3) diabetes, (4) hypertension, (5) cancer, (6) osteoarthritis (knee and/or hip osteoarthritis), (7) sensory impairment (fair/poor self-rated hearing and/or fair/poor self-rated vision), (8) neuropsychiatric condition (anxiety disorder, mood disorder, epilepsy, and/or migraine headaches), and (9) respiratory condition (asthma and/or emphysema/ chronic bronchitis/ COPD/ other chronic lung issues).

3.4 Statistical Analysis

Methods for application of the complex survey analysis in Chapters 4 and 5 are described in section 3.4.1. Analyses for Chapters 4 and 5 are detailed in sections 3.4.2 and 3.4.3 respectively. Other considerations regarding missing data for the analyses in Chapter 5 are explained in subsequent sections.

3.4.1 Statistical Software and Complex Survey Analysis

The analyses in Chapters 4 and 5 were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows Version 25.0 and SAS Version 9.4. To account for the sampling procedures used to create the CLSA cohort, complex survey analysis was performed.³ In general,

(trimmed) inflation weights were applied in descriptive analyses and analytic weights rescaled to sum the actual sample size of the Comprehensive cohort were applied in regression analyses. Geographic strata specific to the Comprehensive cohort and cluster, given as each participant's identification number, were specified in the software as well.

3.4.2 Preliminary Descriptive Analyses

Prior to conducting the analyses in Chapters 4 and 5, descriptive statistics were generated for the overall CLSA Comprehensive cohort baseline sample (n=30,097) using the mean \pm standard error (SE) or median and interquartile range for continuous variables and frequency and percentage for categorical variables. These descriptive statistics, along with the proportion of missing data for each variable, are presented in Appendix D (Table D-1). The distributions of each continuous variable were visually inspected using histograms to assess normality. Multicollinearity was assessed with a correlation matrix, with a correlation coefficient of 0.8 used as the cutoff to indicate collinearity. The linearity of the relationships between gait speed and the independent variables was further inspected using scatterplots. Continuous variables were transformed if their values were greatly skewed (Chapter 5: variables transformed were vitamin D and hsCRP due to large positive skew), and extreme outliers were excluded if values were 3 or more standard deviations from the mean (Chapter 5: outliers excluded in Stroop interference variable).

3.4.3 Analyses for Chapter 4

A total of 30,097 participants in the CLSA Comprehensive cohort completed baseline assessments. Participants were included in the Chapter 4 analyses if they had data on age, sex, gait speed, and height. After listwise exclusion, 29,700 (98.7%) of participants had complete data on the variables of interest. Comparisons of the characteristics of individuals included in the analysis with those who were excluded (n=397) were conducted using two-tailed t-tests and chi-square tests for continuous and categorical variables respectively. The distribution of gait speed for the analytic sample was also visually inspected using a histogram.

The primary objective of Chapter 4 was to generate normative statistics (i.e. population norms) for gait speed in the analytic sample by sex and age. Eight strata were created by crossing sex (male, female) with 10-year age group (45-54, 55-64, 65-74, 75+). The mean gait speed, standard deviation, and 95% confidence interval was tabulated for each stratum. Since leg length can influence the pace at which individuals normally walk,^{50,51} gait speed values standardized by height were also tabulated by dividing gait speed by average height in meters.

The second objective of Chapter 4 was to measure the prevalence of slow gait in each sex and age stratum. As 'slow gait' can be defined in different ways (Figgins et al. 2020, *under review*), three criteria were employed: 1) gait speed less than 1.0 m/s but greater than or equal to 0.8 m/s, 2) gait speed less than 0.8 m/s but greater than or equal to 0.6 m/s, and 3) gait speed less than 0.6 m/s. These cutoffs were chosen as they have been associated with increased risks of adverse outcomes including falls and hospitalization, level of functional independence, and mobility in adults.^{52–54} A fourth gait speed category for individuals with gait speeds greater than 1.0 m/s was also included as gait speeds faster than 1.0 m/s are considered normal for adults.

3.4.3.1 Variance Estimation

In studies with complex sampling designs, individuals from different population subgroups have variable probabilities of being sampled. Thus, to calculate accurate measures of variance, departures from simple random sampling in the complex sampling design must be accounted for.⁵⁵ Current complex survey analysis programs do not directly produce standard deviations for variables. As such, the Taylor series linearization method was used in SAS with PROC SURVEYMEANS to estimate the standard deviations for the gait speed estimates in each sex and age stratum while incorporating the complex sampling design.⁵⁶ Briefly, Taylor linearization is a method used to obtain finite population variance estimators for parameters in samples with complex survey designs.⁵⁵ It involves using the sample mean of a variable of interest and the sum of the sampling weights to first estimate the total population size (\hat{N}) and population mean of

the variable (\hat{y}) . Using these, a variable (z) can be generated with a value for each observation in the sample equal to:

$$z_k = \frac{1}{\widehat{N} - 1} \left(y_k - \hat{\overline{y}} \right)^2 \qquad k = 1, \dots, n$$

The weighted total of this new variable is then estimated, and the square root is taken to obtain the finite population standard deviation for the variable of interest.⁵⁶

3.4.4 Analyses for Chapter 5

The analyses in Chapter 5 also used baseline data from the CLSA Comprehensive cohort. Participants were included if they had complete data on gait speed as well as the following independent variables: age, sex, province, education level, race, height, weight, all twelve chronic condition variables, all five cognitive score variables, vitamin D, hsCRP, HDL, CESD-10 score, grip strength, pain, incontinence, sleep disturbance, PASE score, smoking status, and alcohol consumption. Of the 30,097 participants in the CLSA Comprehensive cohort who completed the baseline assessment, 20,201 (67.1%) individuals had complete data for gait speed along with all other variables of interest.

Descriptive statistics for the analytic sample (n=20,201) were generated, with mean and standard error reported for continuous variables and frequency and percent reported for categorical variables. T-tests and chi-square tests were conducted to determine if any characteristics of the sample differed significantly from those excluded (n=9,896) as a result of selection bias.

The first objective was to assess the bivariate associations between gait speed and the independent factors that are non-modifiable and potentially modifiable. This was done using the Complex Samples General Linear Model (CSGLM) procedure in SPSS (from menu: *Analyze > Complex Samples > General Linear Model*). The second objective was to construct a regression model with the non-modifiable and potentially modifiable factors to measure the amount of variation in gait speed explained by these factors and to further investigate the associations of the potentially modifiable factors with gait speed. Hierarchical multivariable linear regression modelling was performed using CSGLM in

SPSS as well with gait speed as the continuous dependent variable. Hierarchical multivariable linear regression modelling is used to examine the amount of variance in a dependent variable that is explained by multiple predictors that are entered sequentially in pre-specified sets. The independent variables for this analysis were grouped prior to running the regression resulting in five hierarchical models as listed in Table 3-1. The rationale for the order of the variable sets was to adjust the model first for fundamental sociodemographic and design-based variables, followed by non-modifiable factors, then by potentially modifiable cognitive factors, then modifiable chronic diseases, and finally by clinical and lifestyle factors. Regression coefficients with 95% confidence intervals and statistical significance were reported for each model. The R^2 value for each model was also given to show the amount of variance in gait speed that was explained by the addition of each set of variables.

Model 1	Sociodemographic factors (age, sex, province, race, education)
Model 2	Model 1 + Non-Modifiable Chronic Conditions (Neurodegenerative disease, memory problem, macular degeneration) + Anthropometric factors (height, weight)
Model 3	Model 2 + Cognition (REY I, REY II, AFT, MAT, Stroop Interference)
Model 4	Model 3 + Modifiable Chronic Conditions (cardiovascular condition, stroke, diabetes, hypertension, cancer, osteoarthritis, sensory impairment, neuropsychiatric condition, respiratory condition)
Model 5	Model 4 + Other Modifiable Clinical/Lifestyle Factors (vitamin D, hsCRP, HDL, depressive symptoms (CESD-10), grip strength, chronic pain, incontinence, sleep disturbance, physical activity (PASE), smoking status, alcohol consumption)

Table 3-1. Hierarchical models.

3.4.4.1 Missing Data

Patterns among missing values for all variables of interest were examined prior to conducting the analyses. When selecting only cases with complete data for all variables, approximately 67% of individuals had valid responses. Vitamin D, hsCRP, and HDL had the largest percentages of missing cases (10.3% each). The data were assumed to be missing at random (MAR), meaning that other variables in the dataset may predict the missingness in certain variables but the variables themselves do not predict their own

missingness.⁵⁷ Listwise deletion of cases was used first to manage missing values across all the variables of interest which resulted in a sample size of 20,201.

Missing value analysis was also performed on the sets of chronic condition variables used to create each composite variable to determine if it would be appropriate to exclude cases with missing responses to any of the individual variables being considered in a set. Both the proportion of missingness as well as patterns of missingness were evaluated. Overall, the proportion of cases excluded for having any missing values was low, with 0.4%, 2.1%, 0.9%, 2.0%, 0.7%, 0.7%, and 0.1% of cases excluded for the neurodegenerative disease, cardiovascular condition, stroke, osteoarthritis, neuropsychiatric condition, respiratory condition, and sensory impairment composite variables respectively. Additionally, no appreciable associations were seen between missing responses and age, sex, and other variables in each composite set. This justified the use of cases only with valid 'Yes' or 'No' responses to the entire set of individual conditions being considered for each composite variable.⁵⁷

Since the data were assumed to be MAR but not missing completely at random (MCAR), analyzing only complete cases may introduce bias in the estimates.⁵⁸ As such, multiple imputation of missing values was performed, and the hierarchical regression analysis was conducted again as a sensitivity analysis to determine if the missingness introduced any bias into the results. The fully conditional specification (FCS) method for arbitrary missing data patterns was chosen for multiple imputation. This method allows for imputation of both continuous and categorical variables as it uses a separate conditional distribution for each variable in the model.⁵⁸ Binary and categorical variables were imputed using the discriminant function and continuous variables were imputed using predictive mean matching.⁵⁹ To account for the complex survey design, the sampling weight variable was also included as a covariate in the model.⁶⁰ Following guidelines proposed by White et al. that the number of imputed data sets should be equal to the proportion of missing cases,⁵⁹ 30 imputed datasets were created. Imputation diagnostics were then run in SAS by inspecting trace plots and comparing summary statistics for the imputed and original data (Appendix D, Table D-1).⁵⁸ SPSS Version 25.0 software does not currently include tools to analyze complex survey data that has had missing data imputed through multiple imputation. Thus, to perform a sensitivity analysis with missing values imputed, the CLSA dataset was imported into SAS Version 9.4 to run multiple imputation and perform the regression analysis using the PROC SURVEYREG and PROC MIANALYZE functions.

3.5 References

- 1. About the CLSA Research Platform | Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging. https://www.clsa-elcv.ca/about-us/about-clsa-research-platform. Accessed January 30, 2020.
- 2. Raina PS, Wolfson C, Kirkland SA. Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA): Protocol. https://clsa-elcv.ca/doc/511. Accessed January 30, 2020.
- 3. CLSA Technical Document: Sampling and Computation of Response Rates and Sample Weights for the Tracking (Telephone Interview) Participants and Comprehensive Participants. July 2017. https://www.clsa-elcv.ca/doc/1041. Accessed January 30, 2020.
- 4. Moss L. SOP: Timed (4-metre) Walk Test. 2014. https://www.clsa-elcv.ca/doc/530. Accessed February 13, 2020.
- 5. Bohannon RW, Williams Andrews A. Normal walking speed: a descriptive metaanalysis. *Physiotherapy*. 2011;97(3):182-189. doi:10.1016/j.physio.2010.12.004
- 6. Boros K, Freemont T. Physiology of ageing of the musculoskeletal system. *Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol*. 2017;31(2):203-217. doi:10.1016/j.berh.2017.09.003
- 7. Song S, Geyer H. Predictive neuromechanical simulations indicate why walking performance declines with ageing. *J Physiol.* 2018;596(7):1199-1210. doi:10.1113/JP275166
- 8. Frimenko R, Whitehead C, Bruening D. *Do Men and Women Walk Differently? A Review and Meta-Analysis of Sex Difference in Non-Pathological Gait Kinematics*. Infoscitex Corp. Dayton, OH; 2014. https://apps.dtic.mil/dtic/tr/fulltext/u2/a597428.pdf. Accessed April 30, 2020.
- Government of Canada SC. Immigration and Ethnocultural Diversity Highlight Tables - Ethnic Origin, both sexes, age, Canada, 2016 Census. https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/dp-pd/hltfst/imm/Table.cfm?Lang=E&T=31&Geo=01&SO=4D. Published October 25, 2017. Accessed April 30, 2020.
- 10. Thorpe Jr RJ, Kasper JD, Szanton SL, Frick KD, Fried LP, Simonsick EM. Relationship of race and poverty to lower extremity function and decline: findings

from the Women's Health and Aging Study. Soc Sci Med. 2008;66(4):811-821. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2007.11.005

- 11. Warner DF, Brown TH. Understanding how race/ethnicity and gender define agetrajectories of disability: An intersectionality approach. *Soc Sci Med.* 2011;72(8):1236-1248. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.02.034
- Coppin AK, Ferrucci L, Lauretani F, et al. Low socioeconomic status and disability in old age: evidence from the InChianti study for the mediating role of physiological impairments. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2006;61(1):86-91. doi:https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/61.1.86
- 13. Wolf MS, Gazmararian JA, Baker DW. Health literacy and functional health status among older adults. *Arch Intern Med.* 2005;165(17):1946-1952. doi:10.1001/archinte.165.17.1946
- 14. Elbaz A, Artaud F, Dugravot A, Tzourio C, Singh-Manoux A. The gait speed advantage of taller stature is lost with age. *Sci Rep.* 2018;8(1):1485-1485. doi:10.1038/s41598-018-19882-1
- Forrest KYZ, Zmuda JM, Cauley JA. Correlates of Decline in Lower Extremity Performance in Older Women: A 10-Year Follow-Up Study. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2006;61(11):1194-1200. doi:10.1093/gerona/61.11.1194
- 16. Moss L. SOP: Hand Grip Strength. 2017. https://www.clsa-elcv.ca/doc/2329. Accessed September 11, 2019.
- Frederiksen H, Hjelmborg J, Mortensen J, Mcgue M, Vaupel JW, Christensen K. Age trajectories of grip strength: cross-sectional and longitudinal data among 8,342 Danes aged 46 to 102. Ann Epidemiol. 2006;16(7):554-562. doi:10.1016/j.annepidem.2005.10.006
- 18. Rantanen T, Guralnik JM, Foley D, et al. Midlife Hand Grip Strength as a Predictor of Old Age Disability. *JAMA*. 1999;281(6):558-560. doi:10.1001/jama.281.6.558
- 19. Hadjistavropoulos T, Herr K, Turk DC, et al. An interdisciplinary expert consensus statement on assessment of pain in older persons. *Clin J Pain*. 2007;23:S1-S43. doi:10.1097/AJP.0b013e31802be869
- Eggermont LHP, Bean JF, Guralnik JM, Leveille SG. Comparing Pain Severity Versus Pain Location in the MOBILIZE Boston Study: Chronic Pain and Lower Extremity Function. J Gerontol Ser Biomed Sci Med Sci. 2009;64A(7):763-770. doi:10.1093/gerona/glp016
- 21. Lamb SE, Guralnik JM, Buchner DM, et al. Factors that modify the association between knee pain and mobility limitation in older women: the Women's Health and Aging Study. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2000;59(5):331-337. doi:10.1136/ard.59.5.331

- 22. Kim H, Yoshida H, Hu X, et al. Association between self-reported urinary incontinence and musculoskeletal conditions in community-dwelling elderly women: A cross-sectional study. *Neurourol Urodyn.* 2015;34(4):322-326. doi:https://doi-org.proxy1.lib.uwo.ca/10.1002/nau.22567
- Fritel X, Lachal L, Cassou B, Fauconnier A, Dargent-Molina P. Mobility impairment is associated with urge but not stress urinary incontinence in community-dwelling older women: results from the Ossébo study. *BJOG Int J Obstet Gynaecol.* 2013;120(12):1566-1574. doi:10.1111/1471-0528.12316
- 24. Kessler RC, Bromet EJ. The Epidemiology of Depression Across Cultures. *Annu Rev Public Health.* 2013;34(1):119-138. doi:10.1146/annurev-publhealth-031912-114409
- 25. Brown PJ, Rutherford BR, Yaffe K, et al. The Depressed Frail Phenotype: The Clinical Manifestation of Increased Biological Aging. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry*. 2016;24(11):1084-1094. doi:10.1016/j.jagp.2016.06.005
- 26. Demakakos P, Cooper R, Hamer M, et al. The Bidirectional Association between Depressive Symptoms and Gait Speed: Evidence from the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing (ELSA). *PLoS ONE*. 2013;8(7). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0068632
- 27. Penninx BW, Leveille S, Ferrucci L, van Eijk JT, Guralnik JM. Exploring the effect of depression on physical disability: longitudinal evidence from the established populations for epidemiologic studies of the elderly. *Am J Public Health*. 1999;89(9):1346-1352. doi:10.2105/AJPH.89.9.1346
- Goldman SE, Stone KL, Ancoli-Israel S, et al. Poor sleep is associated with poorer physical performance and greater functional limitations in older women. *Sleep*. 2007;30(10):1317-1324. doi:https://doi.org/10.1093/sleep/30.10.1317
- 29. Vaz Fragoso CA, Gahbauer EA, Van Ness PH, Gill TM. Sleep–wake disturbances and frailty in community-living older persons. *J Am Geriatr Soc*. 2009;57(11):2094-2100. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2009.02522.x
- Spira AP, Covinsky K, Rebok GW, et al. Poor sleep quality and functional decline in older women. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2012;60(6):1092-1098. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2012.03968.x
- Toffanello ED, Perissinotto E, Sergi G, et al. Vitamin D and Physical Performance in Elderly Subjects: The Pro.V.A Study. Ruiz JR, ed. *PLoS ONE*. 2012;7(4):e34950. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0034950
- 32. Mendes J, Santos A, Borges N, et al. Vitamin D status and functional parameters: A cross-sectional study in an older population. *PloS One*. 2018;13(8). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0201840.

- 33. Menant J, Close J, Delbaere K, et al. Relationships between serum vitamin D levels, neuromuscular and neuropsychological function and falls in older men and women. *Osteoporos Int.* 2012;23(3):981-989. doi:10.1007/s00198-011-1637-7
- Cesari M, Marzetti E, Laudisio A, et al. Interaction of HDL cholesterol concentrations on the relationship between physical function and inflammation in community-dwelling older persons. *Age Ageing*. 2010;39(1):74. doi:10.1093/ageing/afp194
- Okoro CA, Zhong Y, Ford ES, Balluz LS, Strine TW, Mokdad AH. Association between the metabolic syndrome and its components and gait speed among U.S. adults aged 50 years and older: a cross-sectional analysis. *BMC Public Health*. 2006;6(1):282-282. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-6-282
- 36. Landi F, Russo A, Cesari M, Pahor M, Bernabei R, Onder G. HDL-cholesterol and physical performance: results from the ageing and longevity study in the sirente geographic area (ilSIRENTE Study). *Age Ageing*. 2007;36(5):514-520. doi:10.1093/ageing/afm105
- Watson NL, Rosano C, Boudreau RM, et al. Executive Function, Memory, and Gait Speed Decline in Well-Functioning Older Adults. J Gerontol Ser Biomed Sci Med Sci. 2010;65(10):1093-1100. doi:10.1093/gerona/glq111
- Springer S, Giladi N, Peretz C, Yogev G, Simon ES, Hausdorff JM. Dual-tasking effects on gait variability: The role of aging, falls, and executive function. *Mov Disord Off J Mov Disord Soc*. 2006;21(7):950-957. doi:10.1002/mds.20848
- Holtzer R, Verghese J, Xue X, Lipton RB. Cognitive processes related to gait velocity: results from the Einstein Aging Study. *Neuropsychology*. 2006;20(2):215. doi:10.1037/0894-4105.20.2.215
- 40. Stijntjes M, Aartsen MJ, Taekema DG, et al. Temporal Relationship Between Cognitive and Physical Performance in Middle-Aged to Oldest Old People. J Gerontol Ser Biomed Sci Med Sci. 2017;72(5):662-668. doi:10.1093/gerona/glw133
- Martin KL, Blizzard L, Wood AG, et al. Cognitive Function, Gait, and Gait Variability in Older People: A Population-Based Study. J Gerontol Ser Biomed Sci Med Sci. 2013;68(6):726-732. doi:10.1093/gerona/gls224
- 42. Demnitz N, Hogan DB, Dawes H, et al. Cognition and mobility show a global association in middle- and late-adulthood: Analyses from the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging. *Gait Posture*. 2018;64:238-243. doi:10.1016/j.gaitpost.2018.06.116
- 43. Fagard R. Smoking Amplifies Cardiovascular Risk in Patients with Hypertension and Diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2009;32(Suppl 2):S429-31. doi:10.2337/dc09-S354
- 44. Price J, Mowbray P, Lee A, Rumley A, Lowe G, Fowkes F. Relationship between smoking and cardiovascular risk factors in the development of peripheral arterial

disease and coronary artery disease; Edinburgh Artery Study: Edinburgh Artery Study. *Eur Heart J.* 1999;20(5):344-353. doi:https://doi.org/10.1053/euhj.1998.1194

- 45. Cawthon PM, Fink HA, Barrett-Connor E, et al. Alcohol Use, Physical Performance, and Functional Limitations in Older Men. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2007;55(2):212-220. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2007.01062.x
- 46. Manini TM, Pahor M. Physical activity and maintaining physical function in older adults. *Br J Sports Med.* 2009;43(1):28-31. doi:10.1136/bjsm.2008.053736
- Ortiz PJ, Tello T, Aliaga EG, et al. Effect of multimorbidity on gait speed in wellfunctioning older people: A population-based study in Peru. *Geriatr Gerontol Int.* 2018;18(2):293-300. doi:10.1111/ggi.13182
- 48. Rijken M, Kerkhof M, Dekker J, Schellevis F. Comorbidity of chronic diseases. *Qual Life Res.* 2005;14(1):45-55. doi:10.1007/s11136-004-0616-2
- Vetrano DL, Rizzuto D, Calderon-Larranaga A, et al. Trajectories of functional decline in older adults with neuropsychiatric and cardiovascular multimorbidity: A Swedish cohort study. *PLoS Med.* 2018;15(3):e1002503. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1002503
- 50. Samson MM, Crowe A, de Vreede PL, Dessens JAG, Duursma SA, Verhaar HJJ. Differences in gait parameters at a preferred walking speed in healthy subjects due to age, height and body weight. *Aging Clin Exp Res.* 2001;13(1):16-21. doi:10.1007/BF03351489
- 51. Bohannon RW. Comfortable and maximum walking speed of adults aged 20-79 years: reference values and determinants. *Age Ageing*. 1997;26(1):15. doi: https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/26.1.15
- 52. Fritz S, Lusardi M. White Paper: "Walking Speed: the Sixth Vital Sign." J Geriatr Phys Ther. 2009;32(2):2. doi:10.1519/00139143-200932020-00002
- 53. Abellan van Kan G, Rolland Y, Anieu S, et al. Gait speed at usual pace as a predictor of adverse outcomes in community-dwelling older people an International Academy on Nutrition and Aging (IANA) Task Force. *J Nutr Health Aging*. 2009;13(10):881-889. doi:10.1007/s12603-009-0246-z
- 54. Studenski S, Perera S, Wallace D, et al. Physical Performance Measures in the Clinical Setting. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2003;51(3):314-322. doi:10.1046/j.1532-5415.2003.51104.x
- 55. Analyzing NCES Complex Survey Data. https://nces.ed.gov/training/datauser/COMO_04/assets/COMO_04_Transcript.pdf. Accessed January 23, 2020.
- 56. Estimating the Standard Deviation of a Variable in a Finite Population. https://support.sas.com/rnd/app/stat/examples/SurveyStdDev/stat_webex.pdf. Accessed January 30, 2020.
- 57. Kang, H. The prevention and handling of the missing data. *Korean J Anesthesiol*. 2013;64(5):402-406. doi: 10.4097/kjae.2013.64.5.402.
- 58. Multiple Imputation in SAS Part 1. https://stats.idre.ucla.edu/sas/seminars/multipleimputation-in-sas/mi_new_1/. Accessed May 1, 2020.
- 59. White IR, Royston P, Wood AM. Multiple imputation using chained equations: issues and guidance for practice. *Stat Med.* 2011;30(4):377-399. https://doi.org/10.1002/sim.4067.
- Berglund PA. Multiple Imputation Using the Fully Conditional Specification Method: A Comparison of SAS®, Stata, IVEware, and R. :17. https://support.sas.com/resources/papers/proceedings15/2081-2015.pdf. Accessed February 28, 2020.

Chapter 4

4 Normative Values of Gait Speed among Middle and Older-Aged Adults: An Analysis of Data from the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging

4.1 Introduction

Gait speed is a parameter of mobility that is the product of multiple biomechanical, physiological, and sensory processes.^{1–5} Due to their complex interactions, impairments in these underlying processes can disrupt the production and maintenance of normal gait speed, especially in older adults. Given that gait speed can be measured easily and objectively during clinical assessments, this behaviour is commonly used as an indicator of health quality and functional independence.⁶ It is also used to predict older individuals' risks of experiencing adverse outcomes including falls, hospitalizations, and mortality.^{7,8}

Many methods currently exist to measure gait speed, however shorter distance timed walk tests between 4 and 10 meters in length are most frequently employed.⁹ While timed walk tests are widely implemented in clinical settings, the results of these tests are not easily interpretable without normative values for reference. Population norms have long been used in clinical areas like pediatrics to identify children whose height or weight is substantially below average for their age (e.g. below the fifth or tenth percentile). Norms are based on large representative samples and can be reported separately by sex or other sociodemographic variables. In the context of gait speed, clinical assessors can use norms, which are commonly separated by covariates such as sex and height, to determine if an individual patient is performing within the range of function that is expected based on their demographics. Additionally, an individual's gait speed can be expressed in percentile terms both at one point in time as well as to measure relative change over time. This comparative information can be used as a screening tool to further identify those who may have underlying impairments that have yet to be diagnosed or who are at an increased risk for developing additional health issues in the future.¹⁰

Normative statistics such as percentile equivalents reflect the composition of the population from which the sample was drawn. Several studies have previously generated normative values for gait speed in older adults from various populations.^{11–14} While informative, there is noticeable heterogeneity in the values obtained, and due to the variability in the source and size of the samples used, these values may not be truly representative of the gait speed norms of other specific populations with different characteristics. To address these gaps, the present study analyzed baseline data from the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA), a large nationally representative sample of Canadians aged 45-85 years of age, with the following three objectives:

- i) To estimate the normative values of gait speed for Canadian men and women in four age groups (45-54, 55-64, 65-74, 75+ years)
- ii) To estimate the prevalence of 'slow gait' using three common cut-point ranges: ≥ 0.80 to < 1.00 m/s, ≥ 0.60 to < 0.80 m/s, and < 0.60 m/s
- iii) To demonstrate the transformation of an individual's gait speed into a population percentile

4.2 Methods

4.2.1 Source Population

This study involved cross-sectional analysis of baseline data from the CLSA Comprehensive cohort collected between May 2012 and May 2015. The CLSA is a national longitudinal study aimed at evaluating health trajectories across the adult lifespan and characterizing determinants of aging processes in a representative sample of community-dwelling Canadians adults.¹⁵ In total, the CLSA recruited approximately 50,000 subjects aged 45 to 85 years at baseline, with about 20,000 of those individuals in the Tracking cohort who provided information via computer-assisted telephone interviews, and another 30,000 in the Comprehensive cohort who underwent face-to-face interviews, performed physical assessments, and provided biological samples during assessments in-home or at the data collection site nearest to them.¹⁶ The present study focused solely on data from participants in the Comprehensive cohort as only the people in this cohort underwent gait speed assessments.

Several sampling frames were used in the creation of the CLSA Comprehensive cohort to ensure it was nationally representative including provincial healthcare registration databases and random digit dialing.^{16,17} Strata were created within each province based on sex and age group (45-54, 55-64, 65-74, and 75-85) resulting in a total of 56 strata for the Comprehensive cohort.¹⁷ These strata were further crossed with education level. Individuals were excluded if they were living in one of the territories, certain remote areas, or in a First Nations reserve or settlement, or if they were full time members of the Canadian Armed Forces, institutionalized, unable to communicate in English or French, or were cognitively impaired.¹⁶ Due to the requirement of attending in-person assessments, only individuals who were living within 25 to 50 kilometers of the data collection sites were recruited for the Comprehensive cohort.

4.2.2 Study Sample

Upon sampling completion, the CLSA had enrolled 30,097 individuals in the Comprehensive cohort at baseline. For the present study, only individuals who had valid data on age, sex, gait speed, and height were included in the analyses. Overall, 397 participants were excluded as they were missing data on the variables of interest, resulting in a final sample size of 29,700.

4.2.3 Data Collection

Participants in the CLSA Comprehensive cohort underwent baseline interviews between May 2012 and May 2015 both in-home and at the data collection centers. Participants' ages were determined by asking for their date of birth and their sex was coded as either 'female' or 'male'. The standing height of participants without shoes was measured using a Seca 213 stadiometer and recorded in meters.¹⁶

A four-meter walk test with a static start was used to measure usual gait speed.¹⁸ Participants were asked to stand with their toes behind a line marked on the floor and were told to walk straight at their usual pace until they walked a few steps past another line 4-meters away. Timing began immediately after the assessor said, "Ready, set, go," and was stopped once the participant completely crossed the 4-meter finish line. Participants could use assistive devices such as canes and walkers to complete the test if

needed. Time to complete the walk once was recorded in seconds using a stopwatch and was converted into meters per second (m/s).

4.2.4 Statistical Analysis

Comparisons of the characteristics of the 29,700 subjects included in the analysis with the 397 individuals who were excluded due to missing data were conducted using two-tailed t-tests and chi-square tests for continuous and categorical variables respectively. The distribution of 4-meter usual gait speed for the entire analytic sample was visually inspected using a histogram.

To generate normative statistics on 4-meter usual gait speed, strata were formed in the analytic sample by creating four 10-year age groups (45-54, 55-64, 65-74, 75+). The mean gait speed, standard deviation, and 95% confidence interval were tabulated for males and females in each of the four age groups. Since leg length can influence the pace at which individuals normally walk, gait speed values standardized by height were also tabulated by dividing gait speed by average height in meters.^{14,19,20} The mean height-standardized usual gait speed, standard deviation, and 95% confidence interval were tabulated for each stratum as well.

Prevalence of slow gait was reported as a count and percentage. As 'slow gait' can be defined in different ways, the following three criteria were employed to generate prevalence values: 1) gait speed less than 1.00 m/s but greater than or equal to 0.80 m/s, 2) gait speed less than 0.80 m/s but greater than or equal to 0.60 m/s, and 3) gait speed less than 0.60 m/s. These cutoffs were chosen as they have been associated with increased risks of adverse outcomes including falls and hospitalization, varying levels of functional independence, and mobility declines in adults.^{6,7,21,22} A fourth gait speed category for individuals with gait speeds equal to or greater than 1.00 m/s was also included as gait speeds at or above this cutoff are generally considered normal for adults.

Analyses were performed using SAS Version 9.4 and Excel Version 16.16.8. Since the CLSA is a complex sample survey, sampling weights were used in all the analyses to obtain results that are representative of the Canadian population as per CLSA

guidelines.¹⁷ Taylor series linearization method was used to estimate the complex sample standard deviations as this measure is not automatically produced by complex survey software.²³

4.3 Results

Of the 30,097 individuals in the CLSA Comprehensive cohort who completed a baseline assessment, 29,700 (98.7%) had complete data for the variables of interest. Compared to those who were included in the analytic sample, individuals who were excluded tended to be older and had less education (Table 4-1).

Variable	Analytic Sample with Complete Data (n=29,700)	Excluded Group with Missing Data (n=397)	p
Age, mean \pm SE ^a	59.44 ± 0.07	63.32 ± 0.70	< .001
Sex, n (%)			.439
Female	15116 (50.3)	204 (52.8)	
Male	14584 (49.7)	193 (47.2)	
Race, n (%)			.753
White	28396 (94.7)	375 (94.3)	
Non-white	1304 (5.3)	22 (5.7)	
Education, n (%)			<.001
Less than secondary school graduation	1606 (4.8)	37 (8.9)	
Secondary school graduation only	2792 (8.9)	46 (13.5)	
Some post-secondary education	2195 (6.7)	41 (9.7)]
Post-secondary degree/diploma	23050 (79.6)	272 (67.9)	

Table 4-1. Characteristics of included and excluded groups.

^a Means, standard errors, and percentages estimated using (trimmed) inflation weights.

4.3.1 Distribution of Gait Speed in the Analytic Sample

As shown in Figure 4-1, 4-meter usual gait speed in the sample appears normally distributed. The overall mean (SD) usual gait speed of the sample was 0.999 (0.198) m/s. The fastest gait speed in the sample was 2.564 m/s while the slowest gait speed was 0.106 m/s.



Figure 4-1. Distribution of usual gait speed (m/s) for the analytic sample.

4.3.2 Normative Values for Gait Speed by Sex and Age

The normative values for gait speed in each sex and age group are presented in Table 4-2. Declining trends in gait speed norms were evident across increasing age group, with steeper decreases noticeable among females compared to males. Mean usual gait speeds for males and females in the 45-54 and 55-64-year age groups were similar, with values at or above 1.00 m/s. However, for individuals in the two oldest age groups, mean gait speeds were below 1.00 m/s, especially in the 75+ year age groups where the means for males and females were 0.884 m/s and 0.832 m/s respectively.

As seen with unstandardized gait speed, mean height-standardized gait speed values also appeared slower with older age among males and females. However, in contrast to males having faster average unstandardized gait speeds, women appeared to have faster mean height-standardized gait speeds regardless of age.

Males					
Variable	45-54 (n=3644)	55-64 (n=4706)	65-74 (n=3609)	75 + (n=2625)	Total (n= 14584)
Gait Speed, mean (SD) ^a	1.042 (0.173)	1.023 (0.194)	0.974 (0.189)	0.884 (0.189)	1.009 (0.190)
Gait Speed, 95% CI	1.036-1.048	1.017-1.029	0.968-0.981	0.877-0.892	1.006-1.013
Height-Standardized Gait Speed, mean (SD) ^b	0.588 (0.098)	0.581 (0.110)	0.559 (0.108)	0.512 (0.110)	0.574 (0.107)
Height-Standardized Gait Speed, 95% CI	0.585-0.592	0.578-0.584	0.555-0.563	0.508-0.517	0.572-0.576
		Females			
Variable	45-54 (n=3898)	55-64 (n=5023)	65-74 (n=3634)	75 + (n=2561)	Total (n=15116)
Gait Speed, mean (SD)	1.045 (0.190)	1.001 (0.195)	0.940 (0.195)	0.832 (0.187)	0.988 (0.203)
Gait Speed, 95% CI	1.039-1.051	0.995-1.007	0.933-0.947	0.825-0.841	0.985-0.992
Height-Standardized Gait Speed, mean (SD)	0.637 (0.115)	0.618 (0.120)	0.586 (0.121)	0.525 (0.117)	0.609 (0.123)
Height-Standardized Gait Speed, 95% CI	0.634-0.641	0.615-0.622	0.582-0.590	0.520-0.530	0.607-0.612

Table 4-2. Normative values of usual gait speed and height-standardized usual gait speed by sex and age.

^aMeans, standard deviations, and confidence intervals estimated using analytic sampling weights. ^bHeight-standardized usual gait speed = gait speed (m/s)/height (m) *Notes:* CI=confidence interval; SD=standard deviation

4.3.3 Prevalence of Slow Gait Speed

Table 4-3 shows the prevalence of individuals within each gait speed group. The 45-54 and 55-64-year age groups had the greatest proportions of males and females with 'normal' gait speeds at or above 1.00 m/s. However, a shift in the distributions of individuals across the gait speed categories was apparent within the two oldest age groups such that a larger proportion had gait speeds that were slower than 1.00 m/s. Notably, among men and women aged 65-74 and 75+ years, those with gait speeds ≥ 0.80 to <1.00 m/s made up the largest proportion within each stratum. Further, the proportion of males and females within the ≥ 0.60 to <0.80 m/s gait speed group was nearly double between the 55-64-year and 65-74-year groups as well as between the 65-74-year and 75+ year groups (Males: 7.9%, 13.4%, 25.1%; Females: 10.0%, 18.3%, 31.9%). Additionally, the proportion of men and women aged 75+ years whose gait speeds were slower than 0.60 m/s was more than three times that seen for men and women in the 65-74-year age group.

Males					
Gait Speed Cut-off	45-54	55-64	65-74	75+	Total
	(n=3644)	(n=4706)	(n=3609)	(n=2625)	(n= 14584)
≥1.00 m/s, n (%) ^a	2153 (59.1)	2463 (53.0)	1535 (43.9)	658 (24.5)	6809 (51.4)
≥ 0.80 to <1.00, n (%)	1279 (35.1)	1795 (38.0)	1477 (41.1)	1119 (45.1)	5670 (37.9)
≥0.60 to <0.80, n (%)	190 (5.2)	394 (7.9)	529 (13.4)	688 (25.1)	1801 (9.4)
< 0.60 m/s, n (%)	22 (0.5)	54 (1.0)	68 (1.5)	160 (5.3)	304 (1.3)
		Females			
Gait Speed Cut-off	45-54	55-64	65-74	75+	Total
Suit Speed Cut on	(n=3898)	(n=5023)	(n=3634)	(n=2561)	(n=15116)
≥1.00 m/s, n (%)	2270 (59.6)	2403 (49.7)	1277 (36.3)	458 (17.6)	6408 (47.4)
≥ 0.80 to <1.00, n (%)	1348 (33.9)	1960 (38.8)	1539 (42.5)	1000 (40.4)	5847 (37.7)
≥0.60 to <0.80, n (%)	248 (5.7)	564 (10.0)	700 (18.3)	832 (31.9)	2344 (12.4)
< 0.60 m/s, n (%)	32 (0.7)	96 (1.5)	118 (2.9)	271 (10.1)	517 (2.5)

Table 4-3. Prevalence of gait speeds by sex and age.

^a Percentages estimated using (trimmed) inflation sampling weights.

4.3.4 Expressing Individual Gait Speed as a Percentile

An individual's gait speed is first converted to a Z score using the Excel STANDARDIZE function. Then, because gait speed is approximately normally distributed (Fig. 4-1), the Z score is expressed as a percentile using the NORM.S.DIST function:

1. Z score for individual = STANDARDIZE (X, mean, sd)

where:

X = individual's measured gait speed in m/s

mean = stratum-specific mean gait speed from Table 4-2

sd = stratum-specific standard deviation from Table 4-2 2. Percentile for individual = NORM.S.DIST (Z, TRUE)

where:

Z = Z score from STANDARDIZE function

TRUE = a statement to produce cumulative percentiles.

Example 1 (ignoring height): Ms. A is a 75-year-old woman with a measured gait speed of 0.85 m/s. The STANDARDIZE (0.85, 0.832, 0.187) function in Excel yields Z = 0.35719722. The NORM.S.DIST (0.35719722, TRUE) function returns the value 0.63952792. Ms. A's gait speed is approximately equivalent to the 64th percentile for her age and gender group.

Example 2 (incorporating height): Ms. A is 170 cm tall. Her height-normalized gait speed = [gait speed (m/s)/height(m)] = 0.85 / 1.7 = 0.5. The STANDARDIZE (0.5, 0.525, 0.117) function returns Z = -0.2136752. The NORM.S.DIST (-0.2136752, TRUE) function returns the value 0.58459982. When Ms. A's height is taken into account, her height-adjusted gait speed is approximately equivalent to the 58th percentile for her age-gender group.

4.4 Discussion

This study provides normative values of 4-meter usual gait speed and height-standardized usual gait speed. A description of slow gait prevalence was also tabulated. These values were obtained using a large, nationally representative sample of community-dwelling middle and older-aged adults living in Canada.

The usual gait speed values obtained in this analysis were comparable to but generally slower than those for similar-aged subjects in previous reports. Specifically, the mean usual gait speeds among the two oldest CLSA age groups (65-74 and 75+) was below 0.90 m/s. Contrarily, using a 4-meter static start walk test like that employed in the present study, Bohannon and colleagues reported average gait speeds ranging from 0.95 m/s to 1.07 m/s for men and women aged 70-79-years and 80-85-years.²⁴ Hollman and colleagues also reported mean gait speeds ranging from 0.98 m/s to 1.22 m/s for men and women aged 70 years and older using 5.6-meter electronic GAITRite walkway with acceleration and deceleration zones.¹¹

The discrepancies in normative values may be the result of several factors. First, other investigations of gait speed across the adult lifespan have relied on smaller and less representative samples of community-dwelling adults to estimate population parameters. Researchers have noted that subjects who are healthier and better functioning may be more likely to participate in health research.^{25,26} In comparison, individuals were not specifically excluded from the CLSA cohort at baseline based on walking ability or common health conditions but rather if they had serious impairments that would impede them from completing any of the study assessments or if they were institutionalized. Furthermore, adults residing in seniors' residences where minimal care is provided were included in the baseline sample. As a result, the CLSA baseline cohort likely contained some individuals with mild or moderate mobility impairments or other health issues that may have influenced their gait speed. Individuals were also not excluded from the current analysis for having gait speeds below a certain threshold. However, only a small proportion of individuals had gait speeds slower than 0.60 m/s and their effect on the normative values obtained would have been negligible.

Another potential explanation for the discrepancy in mean usual gait speeds between this study and others reporting normative values may be the type of walk test protocol used. CLSA participants could use assistive devices such as canes and walkers if needed to complete the walk test. Use of assistive devices during walk tests has been associated with slower gait speeds, which may be explained not only by the devices themselves but also by the underlying impairments that these individuals have that necessitated them having to use an assistive device.²⁷ Additionally, while a 4-meter test with a static start was used to measure gait speed in this study, other studies reporting normative gait speed values have used both shorter and longer walking distances with either static starts or dynamic starts that include acceleration and deceleration zones. Reviews of performance on various walking tests have suggested that compared to longer distance tests with either a static or dynamic start, the gait speeds obtained from short distance tests with a static start tend to be the slowest.^{27–29} Although the influence of these protocol elements have been challenged,³⁰ they must still be considered when determining if the gait speed values obtained using a specific type of walk test are truly representative of the population they are seeking to describe.

As a consensus on one best definition of slow gait has not yet been reached, we additionally reported prevalence values across ranges of gait speeds below 1.00 m/s. Previous studies investigating slow gait in samples of older adults have used a variety of single cut-off definitions, which has led to heterogeneous prevalence estimates.^{31–33} By exploring gait speed and slowness more thoroughly across the adult lifespan using multiple cut-off points, we gain a better picture of the individuals among which this impairment is more common, and the demographic groups that contain individuals who have more severely impaired gait speeds.

Finally, percentile figures express the position of an individual's performance relative to a reference population. The age-gender-specific height-adjusted percentile ranks calculable from our values should provide a more accurate reflection of individuals' gait speed performance, for example, to determine eligibility for an exercise intervention to improve mobility. Due to the cross-sectional design of this analysis, measurement of changes in gait speed over time across the demographic strata were not possible. Additionally, since this study sample focused only on community-dwelling Canadian residents, the normative gait speed statistics obtained may not be generalizable to other adult populations. Nonetheless, the normative values for usual gait speed presented have the potential to be used as a reference to aid in the interpretation of patients' walking test results during clinical assessments, especially in Canadian contexts.

4.5 References

- 1. Woollacott M, Shumway-Cook A. Attention and the control of posture and gait: a review of an emerging area of research. *Gait Posture*. 2002;16(1):1-14. doi:10.1016/S0966-6362(01)00156-4
- 2. van Der Krogt MM, Delp SL, Schwartz MH. How robust is human gait to muscle weakness? *Gait Posture*. 2012;36(1):113-119. doi:10.1016/j.gaitpost.2012.01.017
- 3. Waters RL, Mulroy S. The energy expenditure of normal and pathologic gait. *Gait Posture*. 1999;9(3):207-231. doi:10.1016/S0966-6362(99)00009-0
- 4. Watson NL, Rosano C, Boudreau RM, et al. Executive Function, Memory, and Gait Speed Decline in Well-Functioning Older Adults. *J Gerontol Ser Biomed Sci Med Sci*. 2010;65(10):1093-1100. doi:10.1093/gerona/glq111
- 5. Helbostad JL, Vereijken B, Hesseberg K, Sletvold O. Altered vision destabilizes gait in older persons. *Gait Posture*. 2009;30(2):233-238. doi:10.1016/j.gaitpost.2009.05.004
- 6. Fritz S, Lusardi M. White Paper: "Walking Speed: the Sixth Vital Sign." *J Geriatr Phys Ther*. 2009;32(2):2. doi:10.1519/00139143-200932020-00002
- Abellan van Kan G, Rolland Y, Anieu S, et al. Gait speed at usual pace as a predictor of adverse outcomes in community-dwelling older people an International Academy on Nutrition and Aging (IANA) Task Force. J Nutr Health Aging. 2009;13(10):881-889. doi:10.1007/s12603-009-0246-z
- 8. Studenski S, Perera S, Patel K, et al. Gait Speed and Survival in Older Adults. *JAMA*. 2011;305(1):50-58. doi:10.1001/jama.2010.1923
- 9. Graham JE, Ostir GV, Fisher SR, Ottenbacher KJ. Assessing walking speed in clinical research: a systematic review. *J Eval Clin Pract*. 2008;14(4):552-562. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2753.2007.00917.x

- Montero-Odasso M, Schapira M, Soriano ER, et al. Gait velocity as a single predictor of adverse events in healthy seniors aged 75 years and older. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.* 2005;60(10):1304-1309. doi:10.1093/gerona/60.10.1304
- 11. Hollman JH, McDade EM, Petersen RC. Normative spatiotemporal gait parameters in older adults. *Gait Posture*. 2011;34(1):111-118. doi:10.1016/j.gaitpost.2011.03.024
- 12. Bohannon W Richard. Population Representative Gait Speed and Its Determinants. *J Geriatr Phys Ther.* 2008;31(2):49-52. doi:10.1519/00139143-200831020-00002
- 13. Bohannon RW, Williams Andrews A. Normal walking speed: a descriptive metaanalysis. *Physiotherapy*. 2011;97(3):182-189. doi:10.1016/j.physio.2010.12.004
- 14. Oh-Park M, Holtzer R, Xue X, Verghese J. Conventional and Robust Quantitative Gait Norms in Community-Dwelling Older Adults. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2010;58(8):1512-1518. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2010.02962.x
- 15. About the CLSA Research Platform | Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging. https://www.clsa-elcv.ca/about-us/about-clsa-research-platform. Accessed January 30, 2020.
- Raina PS, Wolfson C, Kirkland SA, et al. The Canadian longitudinal study on aging (CLSA). *Can J Aging*. 2009;28(3):221-229. doi:10.1017/S0714980809990055
- CLSA Technical Document: Sampling and Computation of Response Rates and Sample Weights for the Tracking (Telephone Interview) Participants and Comprehensive Participants. July 2017. https://www.clsa-elcv.ca/doc/1041. Accessed January 30, 2020.
- 18. Moss L. SOP: Timed (4-metre) Walk Test. 2014. https://www.clsa-elcv.ca/doc/530. Accessed February 13, 2020.
- 19. Samson MM, Crowe A, de Vreede PL, Dessens JAG, Duursma SA, Verhaar HJJ. Differences in gait parameters at a preferred walking speed in healthy subjects due to age, height and body weight. *Aging Clin Exp Res.* 2001;13(1):16-21. doi:10.1007/BF03351489
- 20. Bohannon RW. Comfortable and maximum walking speed of adults aged 20-79 years: reference values and determinants. *Age Ageing*. 1997;26(1):15.
- Studenski S, Perera S, Wallace D, et al. Physical Performance Measures in the Clinical Setting. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2003;51(3):314-322. doi:10.1046/j.1532-5415.2003.51104.x
- 22. Cesari M, Kritchevsky SB, Penninx BWJH, et al. Prognostic value of usual gait speed in well-functioning older people--results from the Health, Aging and Body

Composition Study. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2005;53(10):1675-1680. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2005.53501.x

- 23. Estimating the Standard Deviation of a Variable in a Finite Population. https://support.sas.com/rnd/app/stat/examples/SurveyStdDev/stat_webex.pdf. Accessed January 30, 2020.
- 24. Bohannon RW, Wang Y-C. Four-Meter Gait Speed: Normative Values and Reliability Determined for Adults Participating in the NIH Toolbox Study. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*. 2019;100(3):509-513. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2018.06.031
- 25. Rockwood K, Stolee P, Robertson D, Shillington ER. Response bias in a health status survey of elderly people. *Age Ageing*. 1989;18(3):177. doi:10.1093/ageing/18.3.177
- Kelfve S, Thorslund M, Lennartsson C. Sampling and non-response bias on healthoutcomes in surveys of the oldest old. *Eur J Ageing*. 2013;10(3):237-245. doi:10.1007/s10433-013-0275-7
- 27. Hornyak M Victoria, Vanswearingen S Jessie, Brach S Jennifer. Measurement of Gait Speed. *Top Geriatr Rehabil*. 2012;28(1):27-32. doi:10.1097/TGR.0b013e318233e75b
- Sustakoski A, Perera S, Vanswearingen JM, Studenski SA, Brach JS. The impact of testing protocol on recorded gait speed. *Gait Posture*. 2015;41(1):329-331. doi:10.1016/j.gaitpost.2014.10.020
- Graham JE, Ostir GV, Kuo Y-F, Fisher SR, Ottenbacher KJ. Relationship Between Test Methodology and Mean Velocity in Timed Walk Tests: A Review. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2008;89(5):865-872. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2007.11.029
- 31. Plouvier S, Carton M, Cyr D, et al. Socioeconomic disparities in gait speed and associated characteristics in early old age. *BMC Musculoskelet Disord*. 2016;17(1):178. doi:10.1186/s12891-016-1033-8
- 32. Kirkness CS, Ren J. Race Differences: Use of Walking Speed to Identify Community-Dwelling Women at Risk for Poor Health Outcomes--Osteoarthritis Initiative Study. *Phys Ther*. 2015;95(7):955-965. doi:10.2522/ptj.20140028
- 33. Verghese J MD, Wang C PhD, Allali G MD, Holtzer R PhD, Ayers E MPH. Modifiable Risk Factors for New-Onset Slow Gait in Older Adults. *J Am Med Dir Assoc*. 2016;17(5):421-425. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2016.01.017

Chapter 5

5 Associations between Reversible Risk Factors and Gait Speed in Middle and Older-Aged Community-Dwelling Adults: Results from the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging

A version of this chapter has been submitted for publication.

5.1 Abstract

Importance: Gait speed is an important marker of morbidity and mortality in older adults. Investigations of the non-modifiable and potentially modifiable correlates of gait speed in nationally representative samples are lacking. Objective: To assess the potentially modifiable and non-modifiable factors associated with gait speed in community-dwelling middle and older-aged adults. Design: Cross-sectional analysis of baseline data (May 2012 to May 2015) from the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA) Comprehensive cohort. Setting and Participants: The CLSA is a cohort study comprising a nationally representative sample of community-dwelling Canadian adults aged 45 to 85 years at the time of baseline assessment. Exposures: Non-modifiable factors (i.e. socio-demographics, anthropometric factors, non-modifiable chronic conditions) and potentially modifiable factors (i.e. potentially modifiable chronic conditions, cognitive, clinical and lifestyle factors). Main Outcome and Measure: Usual gait speed (m/s) measured using a 4-meter walk test. Results: Of the 30,097 participants who completed a baseline assessment, 29,705 (98.7%) had gait speed measured. Of this, 20,201 (9971 [48.6%] female; 19479 [95.7%] white) had valid data on all study variables. The coefficient of determination, R², of the final hierarchical regression model was 19.7%, with the non-modifiable and potentially modifiable factor blocks explaining 15.6% and 4.1% of gait speed variability respectively. Potentially modifiable factors significantly associated with gait speed include cardiovascular condition (unstandardized regression coefficient, B = -.018, 95% CI = -.026; -.010; P<.001), stroke (B = -.025, 95%) CI = -.041; -.009; P = .003), osteoarthritis (B = -.012, 95% CI = -.019; -.005; P = .001), serum Vitamin D (B= .003; 95% CI= .002; .005; P<.001), C-Reactive protein (B= -.003; 95%

CI= -.007; -.0002; P=.039), depressive symptoms (B= -.003, 95% CI= -.003; -.002; P<.001), physical activity (B=.0001; 95% CI= .00005; .0001; P<.001), grip strength (B=.003; 95% CI= .002; .003; P<.001), smoking (B= -.027; 95% CI= -.038; -.017; P<.001), chronic pain (B= -.011; 95% CI= -.017; -.005; P<.001), and trouble getting to the bathroom on time (B= -.031; 95% CI= -.040; -.022; P<.001). Conclusions and Relevance: The correlates of gait speed in adulthood are multifactorial, with many being potentially modifiable through intervention, education, and lifestyle changes.

5.2 Introduction

Gait impairments are prevalent among older adults and can severely affect health and physical function.^{1,2} Slow gait speed specifically is associated with severe medical outcomes including falls and musculoskeletal injuries, multimorbidity, and mortality.^{3–5} Recently, it has been shown that even gait speed changes and slowing in mid-life are associated with future adverse events and cognitive impairment.⁶ Due to this prognostic value, the measurement of gait speed and its determinants in clinical settings is key to identify and treat older individuals at risk of facing future declines.⁷

Maintenance of normal gait speed is complex and reflects the interplay of many factors during adulthood that can be classified as non-modifiable and potentially modifiable. In contrast to non-modifiable factors which are unalterable (e.g. age, sex at birth), modifiable risk factors can potentially be altered/managed through various methods including clinical treatment and lifestyle changes. While studies have examined a wide range of non-modifiable and potentially modifiable factors affecting gait speed in older adults,^{8–11} none have been done in large nationally representative samples including those of middle age. To address this gap, we identified correlates of gait speed using population-based data from the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA). The specific objectives were to assess the bivariate associations between gait speed and non-modifiable and potentially modifiable factors and use multivariable regression to explain maximal variability in usual gait speed. Interest was on potentially modifiable factors to help focus intervention and education strategies in at-risk subgroups.

5.3 Methods

5.3.1 Study Design & Source Population

This was a cross-sectional analysis of baseline data (May 2012-May 2015) from the CLSA Comprehensive cohort. The CLSA is a Canada-wide longitudinal study of aging in a representative sample of \approx 50,000 community-dwelling adults aged 45 to 85 years at recruitment.¹² About 20,000 people in the Tracking cohort provided information via computer-assisted telephone interviews, and another 30,000 in the Comprehensive cohort underwent face-to-face interviews, performed physical assessments, and provided biological samples in-home or at a data collection site.¹³

Several sampling frames were used in the creation of the CLSA Comprehensive cohort to ensure it was nationally representative including provincial healthcare registration databases and random digit dialing.^{13,14} Strata were created within each province based on sex and age group (45-54, 55-64, 65-74, and 75-85) resulting in a total of 56 strata for the Comprehensive cohort. These strata were further crossed with education level. Individuals were excluded if they were living in one of the territories, certain remote areas, or in a First Nations reserve or settlement, or if they were full time members of the Canadian Armed Forces, institutionalized, unable to communicate in English or French, or were cognitively impaired.¹³ Due to the requirement of attending in-person assessments, only individuals living within 25 to 50 kilometers of the data collection sites were recruited for the Comprehensive cohort.

5.3.2 Data Collection

Data collection procedures have been described elsewhere.¹³ Briefly, the Comprehensive cohort baseline assessments evaluated sociodemographic characteristics, health status, lifestyle behaviours, cognitive and physical function, and drawn blood and urine samples. Written informed consent was obtained from CLSA participants and study protocols were approved by the ethical review boards of participating institutions.

5.3.2.1 Gait Speed

Usual gait speed, the primary outcome, was measured using a four-meter walk test with static start.¹⁵ Participants stood with their toes behind a marked line and were told to walk straight at their usual pace until they walked a few steps past another line 4-meters away. Timing began immediately after the assessor said, "Ready, set, go," and stopped once the participant completely crossed the 4-meter finish line. Participants could use assistive devices such as canes and walkers if needed. Time to complete the walk once was recorded in seconds using a stopwatch and was converted into meters per second (m/s).

5.3.2.1 Independent Variables

Age, sex, province of residence, race, and highest level of education attained were included as sociodemographic covariates. Standing height (meters) and weight (kilograms) were included as anthropometric covariates.

The clinical factors included were grip strength,^{16,17} chronic pain evaluated with the question, "Are you usually free of pain or discomfort?",¹⁸ incontinence evaluated with the question, "Do you ever have trouble getting to the bathroom in time?",¹⁹ depressive symptoms measured using the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Short Depression Scale (CESD-10),²⁰ and sleep disturbance operationalized using the question, "Over the last month, how often did you wake in the middle of the night or too early in the morning and found it difficult to fall asleep again?"²¹ The clinical serum markers included were Vitamin D (mmol/L),²² High Sensitivity C-Reactive Protein (hsCRP; mg/L),²³ and High-Density Lipoprotein (HDL; mmol/L).²⁴ The values for Vitamin D and hsCRP were transformed using the square-root and natural logarithm transformations respectively because of skewness.

Measures of cognitive function were included using the following cognitive domains: memory (Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test [REY I, REY II]),²⁵ verbal fluency (Animal Fluency Test [AFT]),²⁶ and executive function (Mental Alternation Test [MAT]; Stroop Test).^{27,28} A continuous Stroop (Interference) variable was created by subtracting participants' Stroop trial 1 (least difficult) time from their Stroop trial 3 (most difficult) time, and extreme outliers ± 3 standard deviations from the mean were excluded.²⁹

Lifestyle factors included smoking status, alcohol consumption, and physical activity measured using the Physical Activity Scale for the Elderly (PASE).³⁰ Self-reported non-modifiable chronic conditions included neurodegenerative disease (Dementia/Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease, and/or Multiple Sclerosis); memory problems; and macular degeneration. Self-reported potentially modifiable chronic conditions included cardiovascular (heart disease, peripheral vascular disease, angina, and/or heart attack); stroke (stroke and/or transient ischemic attack); diabetes; hypertension; cancer; osteoarthritis (knee and/or hip osteoarthritis); sensory impairment (fair/poor self-rated hearing and/or fair/poor self-rated vision); neuropsychiatric condition (anxiety disorder, mood disorder, epilepsy, and/or migraine headaches); and respiratory condition (asthma and/or emphysema/chronic bronchitis/COPD/other chronic lung issues).

5.3.3 Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics were generated using the mean \pm standard error (SE) or median [IQR] for continuous variables and frequency (percentage) for categorical variables. A comparison of characteristics of the subjects included in the analysis with the group excluded due to missing data were conducted using two-tailed t-tests and chi-square tests for continuous and categorical variables respectively.

Bivariate linear associations between gait speed and each of the independent variables were assessed using the Complex Samples General Linear Model (CSGLM) procedure in SPSS (from menu: *Analyze* > *Complex Samples* > *General Linear Model*). Hierarchical multivariable linear regression modelling was performed using the CSGLM procedure as well to examine the correlates of gait speed. The independent variables of interest were grouped a priori into five hierarchical model blocks (Table 5-1). The rationale for the order the blocks were fitted was to adjust first for fundamental sociodemographic and design-based variables, followed by non-modifiable factors, then by potentially modifiable cognitive factors. Regression coefficients, denoted by B, with 95% confidence intervals and statistical significance were reported for each model. The coefficient of determination, R^2 , for each model was examined to show the amount of variance in gait speed that was explained by the addition of each block.

To assess the potential for bias due to missing values, the hierarchical regression was repeated after imputing missing data using the fully conditional specification (FCS) method for arbitrary missing data patterns. To account for the complex survey design, the sampling weight variable was included as a covariate in the imputation model.³¹ Following guidelines proposed by White et al. that the number of imputed data sets should be equal to the proportion of missing cases,³² 30 imputed datasets were created.

All main analyses were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 25.0. Due to limitations of SPSS in analyzing complex sample data sets that have had missing values imputed through multiple imputation, SAS Version 9.4 was used to perform multiple imputation and re-run the hierarchical regression with the imputed data. Since the CLSA is a complex sample survey, analytic and (trimmed) inflation sampling weights were used in the analyses to obtain results that are representative of the Canadian population as per CLSA guidelines.¹⁴

Model 1	Sociodemographic factors (age, sex, province, race, education)
Model 2	Model 1 + Non-Modifiable Chronic Conditions (Neurodegenerative disease, memory problem, macular degeneration) + Anthropometric factors (height, weight)
Model 3	Model 2 + Cognition (REY I, REY II, AFT, MAT, Stroop Interference)
Model 4	Model 3 + Modifiable Chronic Conditions (cardiovascular condition, stroke, diabetes, hypertension, cancer, osteoarthritis, sensory impairment, neuropsychiatric condition, respiratory condition)
Model 5	Model 4 + Other Modifiable Clinical/Lifestyle Factors (vitamin D, hsCRP, HDL, depressive symptoms (CESD-10), grip strength, chronic pain, trouble getting to bathroom on time, sleep disturbance, physical activity (PASE), smoking status, alcohol consumption)

Table 5-1. Hierarchical models used to measure correlates of gait speed.

5.4 Results

5.4.1 Sample Characteristics

Of the 30,097 participants in the Comprehensive cohort baseline, 29,705 (98.7%) had values for gait speed. Overall, 20,201 (67.1%) participants had valid data for gait speed and all other variables of interest. Compared to those with complete data, individuals

excluded due to missing data (n= 9896) tended to be older, female, and non-white, with less education, and slower gait speeds (Appendix E, Table E-1).

Table 5-2 shows the characteristics of the analytic sample. The mean age was 58.8 years (SE=0.08) and 48.6% were female. Most participants were white (95.7%) and had a post-secondary degree or diploma (81%). The most common chronic conditions were hypertension (30.3%), neuropsychiatric condition (29.6%), and osteoarthritis (15.7%). The mean usual gait speed was 1.01 m/s (SE=0.002).

Variable	Population Estimate ^a
Age, mean \pm SE, years	58.84 ± 0.08
Height , mean ± SE, m	1.69 ± 0.0009
Weight, mean ± SE, kg	79.57 ± 0.15
Vitamin D, mean ± SE, mmol/L	82.73 [46.3]
hsCRP, mean ± SE, mg/L	1.04 [1.82]
HDL , mean \pm SE, mmol/L	1.51 ± 0.004
Gait Speed, mean ± SE, m/s	1.01 ± 0.002
Grip Strength, mean ± SE, kg	35.54 ± 0.11
REY I (Immediate Recall), mean ± SE	6.11 ± 0.02
REY II (Delayed Recall), mean ± SE	4.37 ± 0.02
AFT , mean \pm SE	20.70 ± 0.05
MAT, mean ± SE	27.91 ± 0.08
Stroop (Interference), mean ± SE	12.79 ± 0.06
Depressive Symptoms (CESD-10) , mean ± SE	4.98 ± 0.04
Physical Activity (PASE) , mean ± SE	154.38 ± 0.73
Sex , No. (%)	
Female	9971 (48.6)
Male	10230 (51.4)
Province, No. (%)	
Alberta	1871 (11.5)
British Columbia	4237 (29.9)
Manitoba	2286 (8.8)
Newfoundland and Labrador	1446 (2.1)
Nova Scotia	2004 (3.4)
Ontario	4279 (12.9)
Quebec	4078 (31.4)
Race, No. (%)	
White	19479 (95.7)
Non-white	722 (4.3)
Highest Education Level, No. (%)	
Less than secondary school graduation	910 (4.0)
Secondary school graduation only	1795 (8.6)

Table 5-2. Baseline descriptive statistics for analytic sample (n=20,201).

Some post-secondary education	1439 (6.4)
Post-secondary degree or diploma	16057 (81.0)
Trouble to get to bathroom on time, No. (%)	
Yes	2382 (10.7)
No	17819 (89.3)
Chronic Pain, No. (%)	
Yes	6859 (33.3)
No	13342 (66.7)
Sleep disturbance, No. (%)	
6-7 times/week	2272 (10.9)
3-5 times/week	2458 (12.5)
1-2 times/week	3263 (16.6)
Never or less than once/week	12208 (60.0)
Smoking Status, No. (%)	
Current smoker	1721 (8.8)
Former smoker	8783 (41.0)
Never smoker	9697 (50.2)
Alcohol Consumption, No. (%)	
Regular Drinker	15725 (79.3)
Occasional Drinker	2347 (10.4)
Non-Drinker	2129 (10.3)
Neurodegenerative Disease, No. (%)	213 (1.0)
Memory Problem, No. (%)	257 (1.2)
Macular Degeneration, No. (%)	757 (2.8)
Cardiovascular Condition, No. (%)	3020 (12.5)
Stroke, No. (%)	735 (2.7)
Diabetes, No. (%)	3311 (14.2)
Hypertension, No. (%)	7121 (30.3)
Cancer, No. (%)	2934 (11.5)
Osteoarthritis, No. (%)	3770 (15.7)
Sensory Impairment, No. (%)	3126 (14.6)
Neuropsychiatric Condition, No. (%)	5814 (29.6)
Respiratory Condition , No. (%)	3253 (15.6)

^a Means, standard errors, medians, IQRs, and percentages estimated using (trimmed) inflation weights. *Notes:* AFT=Animal Fluency Test; CESD-10=Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale; HDL= High Density Lipoprotein; hsCRP=high sensitivity C-Reactive protein; IQR=interquartile range; MAT= Mental Alternation Test; PASE=Physical Activity Scale for the Elderly; SE=standard error.

5.4.2 Correlates of Gait Speed: Bivariate Associations

The bivariate relationships between gait speed and its potential correlates are presented in Table 5-3. Additional details are provided below.

5.4.2.1 Sociodemographic Correlates

Age was significantly negatively associated with gait speed. Next, being female was associated with slower gait speed, with men and women walking at average speeds of 1.02 m/s (95% CI=1.01; 1.02) and 1.00 m/s (95% CI=0.99; 1.01) respectively. Identifying as non-White was also associated with slower gait speed compared to those who identified as White, with the White and non-White racial groups walking at average speeds of 1.01 m/s (95% CI=1.01; 1.02) and 0.97 m/s (95% CI=0.96; 0.99) respectively. Finally, compared to the post-secondary degree/diploma education group, lower levels of education were associated with slower gait speeds. The mean gait speed for those with a post-secondary degree/diploma was 1.02 m/s (95% CI=1.02; 1.02) while those with some post-secondary education and those who only graduated secondary school had mean gait speeds of 0.99 m/s (95% CI=0.98; 1.00) and 0.98 m/s (95% CI=0.97; 0.99) respectively. The mean gait speed for individuals with less than a secondary school graduation was 0.90 m/s (95% CI=0.89; 0.92).

5.4.2.2 Anthropometric & Clinical Correlates

Height was positively associated with gait speed whereas weight was negatively associated. Both Vitamin D (square root transformed) and HDL were positively associated with gait speed while hsCRP (natural log transformed) was negatively associated.

Depressive symptoms (CESD-10) were negatively associated with gait speed, while grip strength was positively associated. Chronic pain was associated with slower gait speed compared to those who reported being free of chronic pain, with mean gait speeds of 1.03 m/s (95% CI=1.02; 1.03) for those usually free of pain and 0.98 m/s (95% CI=0.98; 0.99) for those with chronic pain. Trouble getting to the bathroom on time was also associated with slower gait speed compared to those who reported no trouble, with an average

walking speed of 0.94 m/s (95% CI=0.93; 0.95) for the group who reported trouble and 1.02 m/s (95% CI=1.02; 1.02) for the group who reported having no trouble. For sleep disturbance, only reporting waking up and having difficulty falling back asleep 6 or 7 times per week was significantly associated with slower gait speed compared to those who reported sleep disturbance occurring less than once per week or never, with mean gait speeds of 1.00 m/s (95% CI=0.99; 1.01) for the 6-7 times per week group and 1.01 m/s (95% CI=1.01; 1.02) for the reference group.

5.4.2.3 Cognitive Correlates

High performance in immediate and delayed recall, verbal fluency, and attention were significantly associated with faster gait speed. Stroop (interference) scores were negatively associated with gait speed showing that a larger difference between the time taken to complete the first (easiest) and third (hardest) trials of the Stroop test was associated with slower gait speeds.

5.4.2.4 Lifestyle Behaviour Correlates

Higher physical activity (PASE) was positively associated with gait speed. Compared to never smoking, being a current or former smoker was associated with slower gait speeds. Never-smokers, current smokers, and former smokers walked at average speeds of 1.03 m/s (95% CI=1.02; 1.03), 0.98 m/s (95% CI=0.97; 0.99), and 1.00 m/s (95% CI=0.99; 1.00) respectively. Finally, report of regularly or occasionally drinking alcohol in the last 12 months was associated with faster gait average speeds compared to never drinking, with the mean gait speeds of regular drinkers, occasional, and non-drinkers being 1.02 m/s (95% CI=1.02; 1.02), 0.98 m/s (95% CI=0.97; 0.99), and 0.97 m/s (95% CI=0.96; 0.98) respectively.

5.4.2.5 Chronic Condition Correlates

All non-modifiable and potentially modifiable chronic conditions were each significantly negatively associated with gait speed. Those who reported that they had a neurodegenerative disease, memory problem, or macular degeneration had average gait speeds of 0.92 m/s (95% CI=0.88; 0.96), 0.93 m/s (95% CI=0.90; 0.96), and 0.95 m/s

(95% CI=0.93; 0.96) respectively while the groups who reported not having these conditions all had average gait speeds of 1.01 m/s (all 95% CIs=1.01; 1.02). Participants who reported a history of stroke had a mean gait speed of 0.91 m/s (95% CI=0.89; 0.93), while those without a stroke history had a mean gait speed of 1.01 m/s (95% CI=1.01; 1.02). Participants who reported having hypertension had a mean gait speed of 0.97 m/s (95% CI=0.96; 0.97), while those who reported no hypertension walked at an average speed of 1.03 m/s (95% CI=1.03; 1.03)

Those who reported that they had cancer, any neuropsychiatric condition, or any respiratory condition had average gait speeds of 0.98 m/s (95% CI=0.97; 0.99), 1.00 m/s (95% CI=0.99; 1.01), and 1.00 m/s (95% CI=0.99; 1.01) respectively. The groups who reported not having cancer, any neuropsychiatric condition, or any respiratory condition all had average gait speeds of 1.02 m/s (all 95% CIs=1.01; 1.02). Finally, participants who reported any cardiovascular condition, osteoarthritis, diabetes, or any sensory impairment had mean gait speeds of 0.94 m/s (95% CI=0.94; 0.95), 0.96 m/s (95% CI=0.95; 0.96), 0.96 m/s (95% CI=0.96; 0.97), and 0.98 m/s (95% CI=0.97; 0.99) respectively. The groups who did not report a cardiovascular condition, osteoarthritis, diabetes, or a sensory impairment all had mean gait speeds of 1.02 m/s (95% CIs=1.02; 1.02/ 1.02; 1.02/ 1.01; 1.02 respectively).

Variable	B (95% CI) ^a	p
Sociodemographic Factors		
Age, years	005 (006;005)	<.001
Province, ON (Ref)		<.001
AB	020 (031:006)	
BC	.035 (.026; .043)	-
MB	036 (047:026)	
NL	052 (064;041)	-
NS	.081 (.068; .093)	
OC	.007 (002; .016)	
Sex, Male (Ref)		
Female	015 (021;010)	
Race, White (Ref)		<.001
Non-white	039 (057;022)	
Highest Education Level, Post-secondary degree		<.001
or diploma (Ref)		
Some post-secondary	034 (045;023)	
Secondary only	037 (046;027)	
Less than secondary	116 (130;103)	
Anthropometric Factors		
Height, m	.285 (.254; .315)	<.001
Weight, kg	001 (001;001)	<.001
Chronic Conditions		
Neurodegenerative Disease	092 (128;056)	<.001
Memory Problem	085 (113;056)	<.001
Macular Degeneration	065 (082;048)	<.001
Cardiovascular Condition	076 (085;068)	<.001
Stroke	103 (121;085)	<.001
Diabetes	056 (064;048)	<.001
Hypertension	062 (068;056)	<.001
Cancer	034 (043;026)	<.001
Osteoarthritis	064 (071;056)	<.001
Respiratory Condition	015 (022;009)	<.001
Sensory Impairment	037 (045;028)	<.001
Neuropsychiatric Condition	015 (022;009)	<.001
Cognitive Factors		
REY I (Immediate Recall)	.014 (.012; .015)	<.001
REY II (Delayed Recall)	.010 (.009; .011)	<.001
AFT	.006 (.006; .007)	<.001
MAT	.004 (.003; .004)	<.001
Stroop (Interference), sec	005 (005;004)	<.001
Clinical Factors		
HDL, mmol/L	.028 (.022; .034)	<.001
Vitamin D (square root), mmol/L	.003 (.001; .004)	.001
hsCRP (natural log), mg/L	030 (033;027)	<.001
Depressive symptoms (CESD-10)	005 (006;005)	<.001

Table 5-3. Bivariate associations between gait speed and selected factors.

Trouble getting to bathroom on time	085 (095;075)	<.001
Chronic Pain	045 (051;038)	<.001
Grip Strength, kg	.003 (.003; .003)	<.001
Sleep disturbance, Never or less than once/week		.011
(Ref)		
6-7 times/week	011 (021;001)	
3-5 times/week	.007 (002; .016)	
1-2 times/week	.007 (001; .015)	
Lifestyle Factors		
Physical Activity (PASE)	.0004 (.0003; .0004)	<.001
Smoking Status, Never (Ref)		
Current Smoker	043 (054;032)	<.001
Former Smoker	031 (037;024)	
Alcohol Consumption, Never (Ref)		
Regular Drinker	.046 (.036; .057)	<.001
Occasional Drinker	.004 (009; .018)	1

^a Bivariate parameter estimates (B) for each independent factor obtained using complex samples general linear model analysis (with analytic sampling weights) with gait speed (m/s) as the dependent variable. *Notes:* HDL=High Density Lipoprotein; hsCRP=high sensitivity C-Reactive protein; AFT=Animal Fluency Test; MAT=Mental Alternation Test; CESD-10=Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale; PASE=Physical Activity Scale for the Elderly.

5.4.3 Potentially Modifiable and Non-Modifiable Correlates of Gait Speed: Hierarchical Regression

The relationships between gait speed and the non-modifiable and potentially modifiable factors in the five hierarchical regression models are presented in Table 5-4. Inclusion of the two sets of non-modifiable factors alone explained 15.6% of gait speed variability. Cognitive factors, potentially modifiable chronic conditions, and other potentially modifiable clinical and lifestyle factors explained an additional 0.8%, 0.7%, and 2.6% of variability respectively. The R^2 for the final model was 19.7%.

Several potentially modifiable factors were statistically significantly associated with gait speed in the final regression model. The chronic conditions that were significantly negatively associated with gait speed were cardiovascular condition (B= -.018, 95% CI= -.026; -.010), stroke (B= -.025, 95% CI= -.041; -.009), and osteoarthritis (B= -.012, 95% CI= -.019; -.005). In terms of serum factors, (sqrt) Vitamin D concentration was positively associated with gait speed (B= .003; 95% CI= .002; .005), and (log) hsCRP concentration was negatively associated (B= -.003; 95% CI= -.007; -.0002).

Having less than secondary school graduation was also significantly associated with slower gait speed (B= -.030, 95% CI= -.043; -.017) as was being a current smoker (B= -.027; 95% CI= -.038; -.017). Contrarily, physical activity (PASE score) was positively associated with gait speed (B=.0001; 95% CI= .00005; .0001). Several potentially modifiable clinical factors were also significantly associated with gait speed. Depressive symptoms (CESD-10 score) were negatively associated with gait speed (B= -.003; -.002), while grip strength was positively associated (B=.003; 95% CI= .002; .003). Reporting chronic pain (B= -.011; 95% CI= -.017; -.005) or trouble getting to the bathroom on time (B= -.031; 95% CI= -.040; -.022) were both negatively associated with gait speed.

Cognitive tests for memory, executive function, and verbal fluency were significantly associated with gait speed as well. Better performance on immediate recall (REY I) was positively associated with gait speed (B=.003; 95% CI=.001; .005) along with performance on tests of verbal fluency [AFT] (B=.002; 95% CI= .001; .002) and executive function [MAT] (B=.0009; 95% CI= .0005; .001).

5.4.3.1 Sensitivity Analysis

To account for potential selection bias as a result of listwise exclusion of missing cases, the models were re-run with missing cases imputed (Appendix F, Table F-1). Overall, the imputed parameter estimates were of similar magnitude and direction. The only notable change was that two potentially modifiable chronic conditions that were not initially statistically significant (diabetes and sensory impairment) became so in the imputed sample.

Variable B (95% CI) P Constant 1.323 (1.305; 1.342) <.001 Age, years 005 (005;005) <.001 Sex, female 014 (020;009) <.001 Province, ON (Ref) - - AB 028 (040;016) <.001 BC .034 (0.26; .043) <.001 MB 031 (041;021) <.001 NL .059 (070; .047) <.001 NR .020 (.001; .019) .020 Race, White (Ref) - - Non-White 058 (075; .041) <.001 Education, Post-secondary degree or diploma (Ref) - - Some post-secondary 020 (031; .010) <.001 Secondary education only 025 (034; .016) <.001 Less than secondary school graduation 078 (091;064) <.001 Sex, female .012 (.004; .021) .003 Province, ON (Ref) P - .003 (043; .019) <.001 AB 025 (035; .015) <.001	Model 1 ^a [\mathbb{R}^2 (%) =11.8%]				
$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c } \hline Constant & 1.323 (1.305; 1.342) & <.001 \\ Age, years & .005 (.005; .005) & <.001 \\ Sex, female & .014 (.020; .009) & <.001 \\ Province, ON (Ref) & & \\ AB & 028 (.040; .016) & <.001 \\ BC & 034 (.026; .043) & <.001 \\ MB & 031 (.041; .021) & <.001 \\ NL & 059 (.070; .047) & <.001 \\ NL & 059 (.070; .047) & <.001 \\ NS & 077 (.065; .089) & <.001 \\ QC & 010 (.002; .019) & .020 \\ Race, White (Ref) & \\ Non-White & 058 (075; .041) & <.001 \\ Education, Post-secondary degree or diploma (Ref) & \\ Secondary education only & 025 (.031; .010) & <.001 \\ Education, Post-secondary degree or diploma (Ref) & \\ Secondary school graduation & 078 (091; .064) & <.001 \\ \hline Model 2 \\ IR2 (%) = 15.6%; R2 change = 3.8% J & \\ Variable & B (95% CI) P \\ Constant & .728 (.644; .812) & 001 \\ Age, per year & 005 (.005; 005) & <.001 \\ Sex, Iemale & .012 (.004; .021) & .003 \\ Province, ON (Ref) & \\ AB & 031 (043; .019) & 001 \\ RC & 031 (043; .019) & 001 \\ MB & 025 (035; 015) & 001 \\ MB & 025 (035; 015) & 001 \\ MB & 025 (035; 015) & 001 \\ NS & 003 (.004; .022) & 003 \\ Province, ON (Ref) & \\ AB & 031 (043;019) & 001 \\ MB & 025 (035; 010) & 001 \\ NS & 008 (.006; .093) & 001 \\ MB & 025 (026; 040) & 001 \\ NS & 005 (005; 005) & 001 \\ NS & 005 (005; 005) & 001 \\ NS & 005 (005; 005) & 001 \\ NS & 005 (005; 005) & 001 \\ NS & 005 (005; 005) & 001 \\ NS & 005 (005; 005) & 001 \\ NS & 005 (005; 005) & 001 \\ NS & 005 (005; 005) & 001 \\ NS & 005 (005; 005) & 001 \\ NS & 005 (005; 005$	Variable	B (95% CI)	P		
$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	Constant	1.323 (1.305; 1.342)	<.001		
Sex, female 014 (020;009) <.001 Province, ON (Ref) - - AB 028 (040;016) <.001	Age, years	005 (005;005)	<.001		
Province, ON (Ref) 028 (040;016) <.001 BC .034 (.026; .043) <.001	Sex, female	014 (020;009)	<.001		
AB $028 (040;016)$ <.001 BC $.034 (.026; .043)$ <.001	Province, ON (Ref)				
BC .034 (.026; .043) <.001 MB 031 (.041; .021) <.001	AB	028 (040;016)	<.001		
$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	BC	.034 (.026; .043)	<.001		
NL $059 (070;047)$ $<.001$ NS .077 (.065; .089) $<.001$ QC .010 (.002; .019) .020 Race, White (Ref)	MB	031 (041;021)	<.001		
NS .077 (.065; .089) <.001 QC .010 (.002; .019) .020 Race, White (Ref) .020 .010 (.002; .019) .020 Non-White .058 ($.075; .041$) <.001	NL	059 (070;047)	<.001		
QC .010 (.002; .019) .020 Race, White (Ref) .000 .001 .001 .001 Non-White .058 (075; .041) .001 .001 Education, Post-secondary degree or diploma (Ref) .020 (031; .010) .001 Some post-secondary .020 (031; .010) .001 Less than secondary school graduation .0278 (.091; .064) .001 Less than secondary school graduation .078 (.091; .064) .001 Less than secondary school graduation .0728 (.644; .812) .001 Model 2 [R ² (%) =15.6%; R ² change = 3.8%] P Variable B (95% CI) P Constant .728 (.644; .812) .001 Age, per year .005 (.005; .005) .001 Sex, female .012 (.004; .021) .003 Province, ON (Ref) .025 (.035; .015) .001 AB .025 (.035; .015) .001 NL .025 (.035; .015) .001 NL .025 (.035; .015) .001 Ng .026 (.018; .035) .001 <t< td=""><td>NS</td><td>.077 (.065; .089)</td><td><.001</td></t<>	NS	.077 (.065; .089)	<.001		
Race, White (Ref)	OC	.010 (.002; .019)	.020		
Non-White 058 (075;041) <.001 Education, Post-secondary degree or diploma (Ref) 020 (031;010) <.001	Race, White (Ref)				
Education, Post-secondary degree or diploma (Ref)	Non-White	058 (075;041)	<.001		
Some post-secondary 020 (031;010) <.001 Secondary education only 025 (034;016) <.001	Education, Post-secondary degree or diploma (Ref)				
Secondary education only $-0.25 (034;016)$ $<.001$ Less than secondary school graduation $078 (091;064)$ $<.001$ Model 2 [R ² (%) = 15.6%; R ² change = 3.8%] Variable B (95% CI) P Constant $.728 (.644; .812)$ $<.001$ Age, per year $005 (005;005)$ $<.001$ Sex, female $.012 (.004; .021)$ $.003$ Province, ON (Ref) - - AB $031 (043;019)$ $<.001$ BC $.025 (035; .015)$ $<.001$ NL $025 (035; .015)$ $<.001$ MB $025 (035; .015)$ $<.001$ NL $051 (062;040)$ $<.001$ NL $051 (062;040)$ $<.001$ NS $.081 (.0069; .093)$ $<.001$ Non-White $051 (068;035)$ $<.001$ Education, Post-secondary degree or diploma (Ref) $.0014 (024;004)$ $.009$ Some post-secondary education $014 (024;004)$ $.009$ <	Some post-secondary	- 020 (- 031: - 010)	< 001		
1.028 (1304, 1016) 1.001 Model 2 $[R^2 (\%) = 15.6\%; R^2 \text{ change} = 3.8\%]$ Variable B (95% CI) Age, per year .005 (005;005) Sex, female .012 (.004; .021) AB .012 (.004; .021) BC .012 (.004; .021) .003 Province, ON (Ref) AB .012 (.004; .021) BC .026 (.018; .035) .001 BC .026 (.018; .035) .001 MB .025 (035; .015) .001 NL .026 (.018; .035) .001 NS .020 (.002; .040) .031 (.004; .022) .003 Race, White (Ref) Non-White Secondary education .014 (.024; .004) .009 Secondary education only .001 (.002; .008) .001 Less than s	Secondary education only	- 025 (- 034: - 016)	< 001		
Model 2 $[R^2 (\%) = 15.6\%; R^2 \text{ change} = 3.8\%]$ Variable B (95% CI) P Constant .728 (.644; .812) <.001	Less than secondary school graduation	- 078 (- 091: - 064)	< 001		
Image: [R ² (%) = 15.6%; R ² change = 3.8%] Variable B (95% CI) P Constant .728 (.644; .812) <.001	Model 2				
Variable B (95% CI) P Constant .728 (.644; .812) <.001	$[R^2(\%) = 15.6\%; R^2$ cha	nge = 3.8%]			
Constant .728 (.644; .812) <.001	Variable	B (95% CI)	Р		
Age, per year 005 (005;005) <.001	Constant	.728 (.644: .812)	<.001		
Non-Year 1000 (1000) (1000) 1000) Sex, female .012 (.004; .021) .003 Province, ON (Ref)	Age per vear	- 005 (- 005: - 005)	< 001		
Drovince, ON (Ref) 1002 (1004; 1027) 1003 AB $031 (.043;019)$ <.001	Sex female		003		
AB 031 (043;019) <.001	Province, ON (Ref)				
BC .026 (.018; .035) <.001 MB 025 (.035; .015) <.001	AB	031 (043:019)	<.001		
MB $025 (035;015)$ $<.001$ NL $051 (062;040)$ $<.001$ NS $.081 (.069; .093)$ $<.001$ QC $.013 (.004; .022)$ $.003$ Race, White (Ref) $.013 (.004; .022)$ $.003$ Non-White $051 (068;035)$ $<.001$ Education, Post-secondary degree or diploma (Ref) $.007 (024;004)$ $.009$ Some post-secondary education $014 (024;004)$ $.009$ Secondary education only $017 (026;008)$ $<.001$ Less than secondary school graduation $059 (073;046)$ $<.001$ Height, m $.432 (.386; .478)$ $<.001$ Weight, kg $002 (002;002)$ $<.001$ Neurodegenerative Disease $073 (107;040)$ $<.001$ Memory Problem $007 (022; .009)$ $.390$ Model 3 [R ² (%) = 16.4%; R ² change = 0.8%] P	BC	.026 (.018: .035)	<.001		
NL 051 (062;040) <.001	MB	025 (035:015)	<.001		
NS .081 (.069; .093) <.001	NL	051 (062;040)	<.001		
QC .013 (.004; .022) .003 Race, White (Ref) .003 Non-White 051 (068;035) <.001	NS	.081 (.069; .093)	<.001		
Race, White (Ref) 051 (068;035) <.001 Non-White 051 (068;035) <.001	OC	.013 (.004; .022)	.003		
Non-White 051 (068;035) <.001	Race, White (Ref)				
Education, Post-secondary degree or diploma (Ref) .014 (024;004) .009 Some post-secondary education 014 (024;004) .009 Secondary education only 017 (026;008) <.001	Non-White	051 (068;035)	<.001		
Some post-secondary education 014 (024;004) .009 Secondary education only 017 (026;008) <.001	Education, Post-secondary degree or diploma (Ref)				
Secondary education only 017 (026;008) <.001	Some post-secondary education	014 (024;004)	.009		
Less than secondary school graduation 059 (073;046) <.001	Secondary education only	017 (026;008)	<.001		
Height, m .432 (.386; .478) <.001	Less than secondary school graduation	059 (073;046)	<.001		
Weight, kg 002 (002;002) <.001 Neurodegenerative Disease 073 (107;040) <.001	Height, m	.432 (.386; .478)	<.001		
Neurodegenerative Disease 073 (107;040) <.001	Weight, kg	002 (002;002)	<.001		
Memory Problem 067 (093;041) <.001 Macular Degeneration 007 (022; .009) .390 Model 3 [\mathbb{R}^2 (%) = 16.4%; \mathbb{R}^2 change = 0.8%] B (95% CI) P	Neurodegenerative Disease	073 (107;040)	<.001		
Macular Degeneration 007 (022; .009) .390 Model 3 [\mathbb{R}^2 (%) = 16.4%; \mathbb{R}^2 change = 0.8%] B P Variable B (95% CI) P	Memory Problem	067 (093;041)	<.001		
Model 3 $[R^2 (\%) = 16.4\%; R^2 \text{ change} = 0.8\%]$ Variable B (95% CI)	Macular Degeneration	007 (022; .009)	.390		
VariableB (95% CI)P	Model 3 $[\mathbb{R}^2 (\%) = 16.4\%; \mathbb{R}^2$ change = 0.8%]				
	Variable	B (95% CI)	P		
Constant 655 (570: 7/1) < 001	Constant	655 (570: 741)	< 001		
Constant $.005(.570, .141)$ $<.001$ Age years $-004(-004) - 004)$ <001	Age years	- 004 (- 004 - 004)	< 001		
Sex female 009 (001: 018) 024	Sex female	009 (001 · 018)	024		
Province, ON (Ref)	Province, ON (Ref)				

Table 5-4. Hierarchical regression analysis of non-modifiable and potentially modifiable correlates of gait speed.

AB	031 (043;019)	<.001
BC	.024 (.016; .032)	<.001
MB	023 (033;013)	<.001
NL	048 (059;036)	<.001
NS	.085 (.073; .097)	<.001
QC	.019 (.010; .028)	<.001
Race, White (Ref)		
Non-White	039 (043;019)	<.001
Education, Post-secondary degree or diploma (Ref)		
Some post-secondary education	010 (021; .0002)	.054
Secondary education only	010 (019;002)	.022
Less than secondary school graduation	044 (057;031)	<.001
Height, m	.402 (.355; .448)	<.001
Weight, kg	002 (002;002)	<.001
Neurodegenerative Disease	070 (104;037)	<.001
Memory Problem	058 (084;032)	<.001
Macular Degeneration	007 (022; .008)	.366
REY I (Immediate Recall)	.004 (.002; .006)	<.001
REY II (Delayed Recall)	002 (004;0002)	.026
AFT	.002 (.001; .003)	<.001
MAT	.001 (.001; .001)	<.001
Stroop (Interference), sec	001 (001;0001)	.014
Model 4		
$[R^2(\%) = 17.1\%; R^2 \text{ char}$	lge = 0.7%]	
Variable	B (95% CI)	P
Constant	.671 (.585; .756)	<.001
Age, years	004 (004;003)	<.001
Sex, female	.010 (.002; .019)	.015
Province, ON (Ref)		
AB	031 (043;019)	<.001
BC	.024 (.016; .032)	<.001
MB	023 (033;013)	<.001
NL	049 (060;038)	<.001
NS	.084 (.072; .096)	<.001
QC	.020 (.011; .028)	<.001
Race, White (Ref)		
Non-White	038 (055;022)	<.001
Education, Post-secondary degree or diploma (Ref)		
Some post-secondary education	009 (020; .001)	.076
Secondary education only	010 (019;002)	.021
Less than secondary school graduation	039 (053;026)	<.001
Height, m	.374 (.328; .420)	<.001
Weight, kg	002 (002;002)	<.001
Neurodegenerative Disease	064 (098;031)	<.001
Memory Problem	046 (072;020)	.001
Macular Degeneration	003 (018; .013)	.739
REY I (Immediate Recall)	.004 (.002; .006)	<.001
REY II (Delayed Recall)	002 (004;0001)	.036
AFT	.002 (.001; .003)	<.001
MAT	.001 (.001; .001)	<.001
Stroop (Interference), sec	0004 (001;000004)	.048
Cardiovascular Condition	024 (031;016)	<.001
Stroke	032 (049;015)	<.001

Hypertension	007 (013;001)	.022
Cancer	.0003 (008; .008)	.945
Osteoarthritis	018 (025;011)	<.001
Sensory Impairment	014 (021;006)	.001
Neuropsychiatric Condition	013 (019;007)	<.001
Respiratory Condition	007 (014; .001)	.069
Model 5		
$[R^2 (\%) = 19.7\%; R^2 chan$	nge = 2.6%]	
Variable	B (95% CI)	Р
Constant	.668 (.581; .755)	<.001
Age, years	003 (003;002)	<.001
Sex, Female	.050 (.040; .061)	<.001
Province, ON (Ref)		
AB	034 (046;022)	<.001
BC	.024 (.016; .032)	<.001
MB	019 (028;009)	<.001
NL	051 (062;040)	<.001
NS	.086 (.074; .097)	<.001
QC	.019 (.011; .028)	<.001
Race, White (Ref)		
Non-White	026 (043;010)	.002
Education, Post-secondary degree or diploma (Ref)		
Some post-secondary education	004 (014; .006)	.425
Secondary education only	006 (015; .002)	.161
Less than secondary school graduation	030 (043;017)	<.001
Height, m	.247 (.199; .295)	<.001
Weight, kg	002 (002;001)	<.001
Neurodegenerative Disease	049 (082;016)	.003
Memory Problem	031 (056;006)	.017
Macular Degeneration	.002 (013; .018)	.747
REY I (Immediate recall)	.003 (.001; .005)	.004
REY II (Delayed recall)	002 (004;0002)	.033
AFT	.002 (.001; .002)	<.001
MAT	.0009 (.0005; .001)	<.001
Stroop (Interference), sec	0002 (001; .0002)	.359
Cardiovascular Condition	018 (026;010)	<.001
Stroke	025 (041;009)	.003
Diabetes	003 (011; .004)	.411
Hypertension	006 (012; .0001)	.059
Cancer	.003 (005; .010)	.494
Osteoarthritis	012 (019;005)	.001
Sensory Impairment	006 (013; .002)	.164
Neuropsychiatric Condition	0008 (007; .005)	.803
Respiratory Condition	0006 (008; .007)	.870
HDL, mmol/L	.003 (004; .010)	.460
Vitamin D (square root), mmol/L	.003 (.002; .005)	<.001
hsCRP (natural log), mg/L	003 (007;0002)	.039
Depressive Symptoms (CESD-10)	003 (003;002)	<.001
Trouble getting to bathroom on time	031 (040;022)	<.001
Chronic Pain	011 (017;005)	<.001
Grip Strength, kg	.003 (.002; .003)	<.001
Sleep disturbance, Never or less than once/week (Ref)		
6-7 times/week	.007 (003; .016)	.153
3-5 times/week	.007 (001; .016)	.093

1-2 times/week	.004 (003; .012)	.244
Physical Activity (PASE)	.0001 (.00005; .0001)	<.001
Smoking Status, Never (Ref)		
Current Smoker	027 (038;017)	<.001
Former Smoker	008 (014;003)	.004
Alcohol Consumption, Never Drinker (Ref)		
Regular Drinker	.016 (.006; .025)	.001
Occasional Drinker	.009 (003; .020)	.158

^a Analytic sampling weights applied in hierarchical regression analysis.

Notes: AFT=Animal Fluency Test; CESD-10=Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale; HDL= High Density Lipoprotein; hsCRP=high sensitivity C-Reactive protein; MAT=Mental Alternation Test; PASE=Physical Activity Scale for the Elderly.

5.5 Discussion

This study estimated the associations of non-modifiable and potentially modifiable risk factors with gait speed in a large representative sample of community-dwelling middle and older aged adults and estimated the amount of variation in gait speed that could be explained by potentially modifiable factors. To our knowledge, this is one of the first such studies.

5.5.1 Variation in Gait Speed is Largely Explained by Non-Modifiable Factors

Our study demonstrated that in community-dwelling adults, nearly 16 percent of variation in gait speed was explained solely by the blocks of non-modifiable factors (i.e. sociodemographic and anthropometric factors, non-modifiable chronic conditions). Potentially modifiable factors (i.e. cognitive measures, clinical factors, modifiable chronic conditions, lifestyle behaviours) also significantly explained about four percent of gait speed variability.

It is well understood that average gait speed is strongly influenced by multiple nonmodifiable biological factors including age and height.^{33–35} Recently, research has also shown that gait disturbances are a hallmark of progressive neurodegenerative diseases which involve the degeneration of neural structures directly involved in motor control along with brain regions associated with cognitive functions that are essential for maintaining normal gait.³⁶ The variability in gait speed explained by potentially modifiable factors further provides evidence that gait speed is a complex motor function not solely determined by age and other unalterable characteristics. Rather, it can be thought of as the product of a multifactorial set of etiological factors acting through a network of pathophysiological pathways.³⁷ Following this paradigm, isolated factors may insufficiently explain variations in gait speed; however, when considered as part of an interactive system, their effects may be clearer and more substantial. Ultimately, applying this multidimensional approach is crucial to gain a more complete understanding of the correlates of gait speed, and to further mitigate abnormal declines in gait speed that indicate underlying morbidity not associated with natural biological processes.³⁸

5.5.2 Gait Speed is Significantly Associated with Multiple Potentially Modifiable Factors

Several potentially modifiable factors were significantly associated with gait speed in the final regression model. The chronic conditions that were significantly negatively associated with gait speed in the final regression model including osteoarthritis, stroke, and any cardiovascular condition. Previous studies have found that older adults with osteoarthritis tend to walk slower and are more likely to experience gait speed declines as a result of the mobility-impairing symptoms.^{39,40} However, with intervention, improvement of functionality and quality of life is possible.⁴¹ Significant negative associations between history of stroke and gait speed in older adults have been previously reported,^{9,42,43} although findings are not consistent.^{10,44} The significant result we found for having any cardiovascular disease (i.e. heart disease, myocardial infarction, angina, peripheral vascular disease) also conflicts with many non-significant findings in the literature,^{10,44,45} which may suggest that the directionality of this relationship is reversed, with slower gait speed predicting adverse cardiovascular events instead.⁴⁶ Regardless, prevention of strokes and cardiovascular conditions through clinical intervention, lifestyle modification, and education may partially mitigate detrimental mobility impairments and subsequent morbidity in at-risk individuals.^{47,48}

Having below a secondary school education was also significantly negatively associated with gait speed. Analyses of socioeconomic disparities within communities have demonstrated that individuals with fewer years of education are more likely to become disabled, engage in negative health behaviours, and face greater barriers to accessing essential health care services including lacking adequate health literacy skills.^{49–51} While only 4% of CLSA participants had not completed high school, the significant association of low education level with gait speed in this cohort highlights the importance of improving graduation rates in socioeconomically disadvantaged groups.

The negative association we found for smoking is consistent with previous studies,^{10,52,53} and supports arguments for the detrimental effects of smoking on physiological systems underlying mobility.⁵⁴ The positive association of alcohol consumption on gait speed in our sample is also in line with other investigations,^{52,55} however a plausible explanation for this finding is that individuals who can tolerate alcohol may simply be healthier and more mobile than those who do not drink. It is also well understood that engaging in physical activity across the adult lifespan promotes cardiovascular health and improves muscle strength and our finding contributes to the growing body of literature demonstrating the benefits of active lifestyles on walking speed in older age.^{56,57}

We additionally found a significant positive association for serum vitamin D and a significant negative association for C-reactive protein. This supports previous findings that lower vitamin D levels and higher C-reactive protein levels are linked to slower gait speed in older adults, ^{22,23,58–60} and ultimately highlights the importance of considering the roles of these and other biomarkers in the multifactorial causality of gait impairments.

Grip strength, depressive symptoms, chronic pain, and trouble getting to the bathroom on time were also significantly associated with gait speed. Weaker grip strength has been linked to mobility declines.^{16,61} Although many older adults experience natural age-related muscle loss, this can be mitigated through various lifestyle changes including regular physical activity.⁶² Next, while we found an inverse cross-sectional association between number of depressive symptoms and gait speed, longitudinal investigations have suggested potentially bidirectional and reversed relationships.^{63,64} Models of the biological pathways shared by depression and gait impairments have been proposed,⁶⁵ and comorbid issues may further partially explain their relationship.⁶⁶

Chronic pain interferes with physical function and participation in everyday activities. Although definitions of pain vary, studies generally report significant associations with slower gait speed in adults, reinforcing the importance of pain management in mobility decline mitigation efforts.^{9,10,18,67–69} Likewise, research has suggested that incontinence – both bowel and urinary – can impose severe burdens on wellbeing. Evidence for the correlation between urinary incontinence specifically with gait speed is conflicting,^{70,71} and this relationship may instead be reversed or bidirectional since slow walking can hinder one's ability to travel to the bathroom in a timely fashion and fear of incontinence can contribute to mobility limitations as affected individuals feel less comfortable engaging in regular daily activities.⁷²

Finally, we found significant positive associations for most of the cognitive tests (i.e. REY, AFT, MAT). Researchers have argued that multiple cognitive domains play important roles in the motor control of initiation, maintenance, and adaptability of gait.⁷³ Thus, impairments in cognition can lead to the development of gait abnormalities.⁷⁴ Given the relationship between cognition and gait, implementing strategies to bolster cognitive performance throughout the adult lifespan may impart benefits on mobility well into older age.

It must be noted that many of the associations found for the potentially modifiable factors highlighted above appeared to be small to moderate in magnitude. Although the use of the large CLSA sample for this study offered the power to detect statistically significant associations, the clinical significance of these results remains unclear. Ultimately, consideration of the results in terms of their clinical meaningfulness in addition to their statistical associations is necessary should they be referenced in the future in efforts to define optimal targets for intervention to maintain healthy gait speed.

5.5.3 Limitations

This study has several limitations. Due to the cross-sectional design, we were not able assess the directionality of the associations between the selected correlates and gait speed or analyze gait speed changes prospectively. People were excluded from the CLSA based on several geographic factors as well (e.g. residence in the territories, First Nations
settlements/ reserves, or farther than 25-50 km from data collection sites), and the majority who were recruited into the study were community-dwelling, White, highly educated, and relatively healthy – all of which may limit the generalizability of the results to other adult populations.

Next, the measurement of chronic conditions was done by self-report. Although self-report has been shown to be a reliable and valid method to obtain information about chronic conditions, individuals may have had undiagnosed conditions that they were not aware of at the time of assessment, and self-report diagnoses do not incorporate severity or response to treatment. Several composite variables combining similar conditions were also created to simplify the analyses (e.g. cardiovascular conditions, neuropsychiatric conditions). By doing so, some detail on the associations of specific conditions with gait speed may have been lost.

Lastly, a non-exhaustive set of correlates was used for this analysis. We did not measure the effects of other clinical factors possibly associated with gait speed such as polypharmacy, falls, or musculoskeletal injuries. We also were unable to include other social determinants of health – including access to medical care or social support – that play major roles in healthy aging.

5.5.4 Conclusion

In this cross-sectional analysis of over 20,000 middle and older-aged Canadians, we found associations of non-modifiable and potentially modifiable factors with gait speed. We showed that while the variation in gait speed was largely explained by non-modifiable factors, multiple factors were potentially modifiable, including education, chronic pain, muscle strength, and cardiovascular conditions. We provide a framework for future longitudinal analyses of gait speed and its complex determinants and preliminary evidence to inform potential intervention strategies in at-risk adult populations.

5.6 References

- 1. Verghese J, LeValley A, Hall CB, Katz MJ, Ambrose AF, Lipton RB. Epidemiology of Gait Disorders in Community-Residing Older Adults. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2006;54(2):255-261. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2005.00580.x
- Mahlknecht P, Kiechl S, Bloem BR, et al. Prevalence and Burden of Gait Disorders in Elderly Men and Women Aged 60-97 Years: A Population-Based Study. *PLoS ONE*. 2013;8(7):e69627. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0069627
- 3. Abellan van Kan G, Rolland Y, Anieu S, et al. Gait speed at usual pace as a predictor of adverse outcomes in community-dwelling older people an International Academy on Nutrition and Aging (IANA) Task Force. *J Nutr Health Aging*. 2009;13(10):881-889. doi:10.1007/s12603-009-0246-z
- 4. Studenski S, Perera S, Patel K, et al. Gait Speed and Survival in Older Adults. *JAMA*. 2011;305(1):50-58. doi:10.1001/jama.2010.1923
- 5. Dumurgier J, Elbaz A, Ducimetière P, Tavernier B, Alpérovitch A, Tzourio C. Slow walking speed and cardiovascular death in well-functioning older adults: prospective cohort study. *BMJ*. 2009;339:b4460. doi:10.1136/bmj.b4460
- 6. Rasmussen LJH, Caspi A, Ambler A, et al. Association of Neurocognitive and Physical Function with Gait Speed in Midlife. *JAMA Netw Open*. 2019;2(10). doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.13123
- 7. Montero-Odasso M, Schapira M, Soriano ER, et al. Gait velocity as a single predictor of adverse events in healthy seniors aged 75 years and older. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*. 2005;60(10):1304-1309. doi:10.1093/gerona/60.10.1304
- 8. Woo J, Ho S, Lau J, Chan S, Yuen Y. Age-associated gait changes in the elderly: pathological or physiological? *Neuroepidemiology*. 1995;14(2):65-71. https://doi.org/10.1159/000109780
- 9. Quiben MU, Hazuda HP. Factors contributing to 50-ft walking speed and observed ethnic differences in older community-dwelling Mexican Americans and European Americans. *Phys Ther.* 2015;95(6):871. doi:10.2522/ptj.20140152
- Forrest KYZ, Zmuda JM, Cauley JA. Correlates of Decline in Lower Extremity Performance in Older Women: A 10-Year Follow-Up Study. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2006;61(11):1194-1200. doi:10.1093/gerona/61.11.1194
- 11. Granic A, Mossop H, Engstrom G, et al. Factors Associated with Physical Performance Measures in a Multiethnic Cohort of Older Adults. *Gerontol Geriatr Med.* 2018;4. doi:10.1177/2333721418778623

- 12. About the CLSA Research Platform | Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging. Accessed January 30, 2020. https://www.clsa-elcv.ca/about-us/about-clsa-researchplatform
- 13. Raina PS, Wolfson C, Kirkland SA, et al. The Canadian longitudinal study on aging (CLSA). *Can J Aging*. 2009;28(3):221-229. doi:10.1017/S0714980809990055
- 14. CLSA Technical Document: Sampling and Computation of Response Rates and Sample Weights for the Tracking (Telephone Interview) Participants and Comprehensive Participants. Published online July 11, 2017. Accessed January 30, 2020. https://www.clsa-elcv.ca/doc/1041
- 15. Moss L. SOP: Timed (4-metre) Walk Test. Published online 2014. Accessed February 13, 2020. https://www.clsa-elcv.ca/doc/530
- 16. Rantanen T, Guralnik JM, Foley D, et al. Midlife Hand Grip Strength as a Predictor of Old Age Disability. *JAMA*. 1999;281(6):558-560. doi:10.1001/jama.281.6.558
- 17. Moss L. SOP: Hand Grip Strength. Published online 2017. Accessed September 11, 2019. https://www.clsa-elcv.ca/doc/2329
- Eggermont LHP, Bean JF, Guralnik JM, Leveille SG. Comparing Pain Severity Versus Pain Location in the MOBILIZE Boston Study: Chronic Pain and Lower Extremity Function. J Gerontol Ser Biomed Sci Med Sci. 2009;64A(7):763-770. doi:10.1093/gerona/glp016
- 19. Miner PB. Economic and personal impact of fecal and urinary incontinence. *Gastroenterology*. 2004;126(1 Suppl 1):S8-S13. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2003.10.056
- Andresen EM, Malmgren JA, Carter WB, Patrick DL. Screening for depression in well older adults: Evaluation of a short form of the CES-D. Am J Prev Med. 1994;10(2):77-84. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0749-3797(18)30622-6
- Piovezan RD, Abucham J, dos Santos RVT, Mello MT, Tufik S, Poyares D. The impact of sleep on age-related sarcopenia: Possible connections and clinical implications *Ageing Res Rev.* 2015;23:210-220. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arr.2015.07.003
- Toffanello ED, Perissinotto E, Sergi G, et al. Vitamin D and Physical Performance in Elderly Subjects: The Pro.V.A Study. Ruiz JR, ed. *PLoS ONE*. 2012;7(4):e34950. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0034950
- 23. Kositsawat J, Barry LC, Kuchel GA. C-Reactive Protein, Vitamin D Deficiency, and Slow Gait Speed. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2013;61(9):1574-1579. doi:10.1111/jgs.12403
- 24. Landi F, Russo A, Cesari M, Pahor M, Bernabei R, Onder G. HDL-cholesterol and physical performance: results from the ageing and longevity study in the sirente

geographic area (ilSIRENTE Study). *Age Ageing*. 2007;36(5):514-520. doi:10.1093/ageing/afm105

- 25. Rey A. L'examen clinique en psychologie. Published online 1958. https://psycnet.apa.org/record/1959-03776-000
- Crossley M, D'arcy C, Rawson NS. Letter and category fluency in communitydwelling Canadian seniors: A comparison of normal participants to those with dementia of the Alzheimer or vascular type. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol. 1997;19(1):52-62. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/01688639708403836
- 27. Teng E. The mental alternations test (MAT). *Clin Neuropsychol*. 1995;9:287. doi:10.1080/13854049508400492
- 28. Troyer AK, Leach L, Strauss E. Aging and response inhibition: Normative data for the Victoria Stroop Test. *Aging Neuropsychol Cogn.* 2006;13(1):20-35. doi:10.1080/138255890968187
- 29. Demnitz N, Hogan DB, Dawes H, et al. Cognition and mobility show a global association in middle- and late-adulthood: Analyses from the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging. *Gait Posture*. 2018;64:238-243. doi:10.1016/j.gaitpost.2018.06.116
- Washburn RA, Smith KW, Jette AM, Janney CA. The Physical Activity Scale for the Elderly (PASE): development and evaluation. *J Clin Epidemiol*. 1993;46(2):153-162. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/0895-4356(93)90053-4
- Berglund PA. Multiple Imputation Using the Fully Conditional Specification Method: A Comparison of SAS®, Stata, IVEware, and R. :17. Accessed February 28, 2020. https://support.sas.com/resources/papers/proceedings15/2081-2015.pdf
- 32. White IR, Royston P, Wood AM. Multiple imputation using chained equations: issues and guidance for practice. *Stat Med.* 2011;30(4):377-399. https://doi.org/10.1002/sim.4067
- 33. Boros K, Freemont T. Physiology of ageing of the musculoskeletal system. *Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol*. 2017;31(2):203-217. doi:10.1016/j.berh.2017.09.003
- 34. Elbaz A, Artaud F, Dugravot A, Tzourio C, Singh-Manoux A. The gait speed advantage of taller stature is lost with age. *Sci Rep.* 2018;8(1):1485-1485. doi:10.1038/s41598-018-19882-1
- 35. Weyand PG, Smith BR, Puyau MR, Butte NF. The mass-specific energy cost of human walking is set by stature. *J Exp Biol.* 2010;213(23):3972. doi:10.1242/jeb.048199
- 36. Morris R, Lord S, Bunce J, Burn D, Rochester L. Gait and cognition: Mapping the global and discrete relationships in ageing and neurodegenerative disease. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* 2016;64:326-345. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.02.012

- Inouye SK, Studenski S, Tinetti ME, Kuchel GA. Geriatric Syndromes: Clinical, Research, and Policy Implications of a Core Geriatric Concept. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2007;55(5):780-791. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2007.01156.x
- Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Michel J-P. Sarcopenia: A useful paradigm for physical frailty. *Eur Geriatr Med*. 2013;4(2):102-105. doi:10.1016/j.eurger.2013.02.009
- 39. Vennu V, Misra H. Evaluation of gait speed over time in adults with arthritis: Data from the osteoarthritis initiative. *Indian J Rheumatol.* 2018;13(3):154. doi:10.4103/injr.injr_34_18
- 40. White DK, Niu J, Zhang Y. Is symptomatic knee osteoarthritis a risk factor for a trajectory of fast decline in gait speed? Results from a longitudinal cohort study. *Arthritis Care Res.* 2013;65(2):187-194. doi:10.1002/acr.21816
- 41. Sinusas K. Osteoarthritis: diagnosis and treatment. *Am Fam Physician*. 2012;85(1):49. https://www.aafp.org/afp/2012/0101/p49.html
- 42. Auyeung TW, Kwok T, Lee J, Leung PC, Leung J, Woo J. Functional decline in cognitive impairment-the relationship between physical and cognitive function. *Neuroepidemiology*. 2008;31(3):167-173. doi:10.1159/000154929
- 43. Kawai H, Ihara K, Kera T, et al. Association between statin use and physical function among community-dwelling older Japanese adults. *Geriatr Gerontol Int.* 2018;18(4):623-630. doi:10.1111/ggi.13228
- 44. Verghese J MD, Wang C PhD, Allali G MD, Holtzer R PhD, Ayers E MPH. Modifiable Risk Factors for New-Onset Slow Gait in Older Adults. *J Am Med Dir Assoc*. 2016;17(5):421-425. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2016.01.017
- 45. Schrack JA, Simonsick EM, Chaves PHM, Ferrucci L. The Role of Energetic Cost in the Age-Related Slowing of Gait Speed. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2012;60(10):1811-1816. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2012.04153.x
- 46. Veronese N, Stubbs B, Volpato S, et al. Association Between Gait Speed with Mortality, Cardiovascular Disease and Cancer: A Systematic Review and Metaanalysis of Prospective Cohort Studies. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2018;19(11):981-988.e7. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2018.06.007
- 47. Straus SE, Majumdar SR, McAlister FA. New evidence for stroke prevention: scientific review. *Jama*. 2002;288(11):1388-1395. doi:10.1001/jama.288.11.1388
- 48. Winkleby MA, Jatulis DE, Frank E, Fortmann SP. Socioeconomic status and health: how education, income, and occupation contribute to risk factors for cardiovascular disease. *Am J Public Health*. 1992;82(6):816. doi:10.2105/AJPH.82.6.816

- 49. Sulander T, Martelin T, Sainio P, Rahkonen O, Nissinen A, Uutela A. Trends and educational disparities in functional capacity among people aged 65-84 years. *Int J Epidemiol.* 2006;35(5):1255-1261. doi:10.1093/ije/dyl183
- 50. Pampel FC, Krueger PM, Denney JT. Socioeconomic Disparities in Health Behaviors. *Annu Rev Sociol.* 2010;36(1):349-370. doi:10.1146/annurev.soc.012809.102529
- 51. Kickbusch IS. Health literacy: addressing the health and education divide. *Health Promot Int*. 2001;16(3):289-297. doi:10.1093/heapro/16.3.289
- 52. Verlinden VJA, Maksimovic A, Mirza SS, et al. The associations of alcohol, coffee and tobacco consumption with gait in a community-dwelling population. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* 2016;70(1):116. doi:10.1038/ejcn.2015.120
- 53. Kojima G, Iliffe S, Walters K. Smoking as a predictor of frailty: a systematic review. *BMC Geriatr*. 2015;15(1):131. doi:10.1186/s12877-015-0134-9
- 54. Lee J John, Patel S Rakesh, Biermann J J, Dougherty J Paul. The Musculoskeletal Effects of Cigarette Smoking. *J Bone Jt Surg.* 2013;95(9):850-859. doi:10.2106/JBJS.L.00375
- 55. Ortolá R, García-Esquinas E, León-Muñoz LM, et al. Patterns of Alcohol Consumption and Risk of Frailty in Community-dwelling Older Adults. *J Gerontol Ser Biomed Sci Med Sci*. 2016;71(2):251-258. doi:10.1093/gerona/glv125
- 56. DiPietro L. Physical activity in aging: changes in patterns and their relationship to health and function. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.* 2001;56:13-22. https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/56.suppl_2.13
- 57. Chang M, Saczynski JS, Snaedal J, et al. Midlife Physical Activity Preserves Lower Extremity Function in Older Adults: Age Gene/Environment Susceptibility– Reykjavik Study. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2013;61(2):237-242. doi:10.1111/jgs.12077
- 58. Mendes J, Santos A, Borges N, et al. Vitamin D status and functional parameters: A cross-sectional study in an older population. *PloS One*. 2018;13(8). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0201840
- 59. Westbury L, Fuggle N, Syddall H, et al. Relationships Between Markers of Inflammation and Muscle Mass, Strength and Function: Findings from the Hertfordshire Cohort Study. *Calcif Tissue Int.* 2018;102(3):287-295. doi:10.1007/s00223-017-0354-4
- Cesari M, Marzetti E, Laudisio A, et al. Interaction of HDL cholesterol concentrations on the relationship between physical function and inflammation in community-dwelling older persons. *Age Ageing*. 2010;39(1):74. doi:10.1093/ageing/afp194

- Hirsch CH, Fried LP, Harris T, et al. Correlates of performance-based measures of muscle function in the elderly: The Cardiovascular Health Study. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*. 1997;52(4):M192-M200. https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/52A.4.M192
- 62. Dodds R, Kuh D, Sayer AA, Cooper R. Physical activity levels across adult life and grip strength in early old age: updating findings from a British birth cohort. *Age Ageing*. 2013;42(6):794. doi:10.1093/ageing/aft124
- 63. Demakakos P, Cooper R, Hamer M, et al. The Bidirectional Association between Depressive Symptoms and Gait Speed: Evidence from the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing (ELSA). *PLoS ONE*. 2013;8(7). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0068632
- 64. Sanders JB, Bremmer MA, Comijs HC, Deeg DJH, Beekman ATF. Gait Speed and the Natural Course of Depressive Symptoms in Late Life; An Independent Association with Chronicity? *J Am Med Dir Assoc.* 2016;17(4):331-335. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2015.11.016
- Brown PJ, Rutherford BR, Yaffe K, et al. The Depressed Frail Phenotype: The Clinical Manifestation of Increased Biological Aging. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2016;24(11):1084-1094. doi:10.1016/j.jagp.2016.06.005
- 66. Strine TW, Mokdad AH, Dube SR, et al. The association of depression and anxiety with obesity and unhealthy behaviors among community-dwelling US adults. *Gen Hosp Psychiatry*. 2008;30(2):127-137. doi:10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2007.12.008
- 67. Sawa R, Doi T, Misu S, et al. The severity and number of musculoskeletal pain associated with gait in community-dwelling elderly individuals. *Gait Posture*. 2017;54:242-247. doi:10.1016/j.gaitpost.2017.03.013
- Cruz-Almeida Y, Rosso A, Marcum Z, et al. Associations of Musculoskeletal Pain with Mobility in Older Adults: Potential Cerebral Mechanisms. J Gerontol Ser Biomed Sci Med Sci. 2017;72(9):1270-1276. doi:10.1093/gerona/glx084
- 69. Bindawas SM. Relationship between frequent knee pain, obesity, and gait speed in older adults: data from the Osteoarthritis Initiative. *Clin Interv Aging*. 2016;11:237-244.
- Ruggero CR, Bilton TL, Teixeira LF, et al. Gait speed correlates in a multiracial population of community-dwelling older adults living in Brazil: a cross-sectional population-based study. *BMC Public Health*. 2013;13(1):182-182. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-13-182
- Pérez-Zepeda M, González-Chavero J, Salinas-Martinez R, Gutiérrez-Robledo L. Risk factors for slow gait speed: a nested case-control secondary analysis of the Mexican Health and Aging Study. J Frailty Aging. 2015;4(3):139. doi:10.14283/jfa.2015.63

- 72. Fritel X, Lachal L, Cassou B, Fauconnier A, Dargent-Molina P. Mobility impairment is associated with urge but not stress urinary incontinence in community-dwelling older women: results from the Ossébo study. *BJOG Int J Obstet Gynaecol*. 2013;120(12):1566-1574. doi:10.1111/1471-0528.12316
- 73. Hausdorff JM, Yogev G, Springer S, Simon ES, Giladi N. Walking is more like catching than tapping: gait in the elderly as a complex cognitive task. *Exp Brain Res*. 2005;164(4):541-548. doi:10.1007/s00221-005-2280-3
- 74. Sheridan PL, Solomont J, Kowall N, Hausdorff JM. Influence of Executive Function on Locomotor Function: Divided Attention Increases Gait Variability in Alzheimer's Disease. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2003;51(11):1633-1637. doi:10.1046/j.1532-5415.2003.51516.x

Chapter 6

6 Summary and Conclusion

6.1 Overview

The objective of this chapter is to summarize the research and results presented in this thesis and contextualize the findings within previous literature. Research and methodological contributions are discussed along with limitations of the studies conducted. Directions for future research and overall conclusions are also outlined.

6.2 Summary of Main Findings

The main goal of this thesis was to contribute to the growing body of literature seeking to understand gait speed variations across the adult lifespan and identify the demographic, clinical, and behavioural factors that may underlie these gait speed variations in older age. By systematically reviewing current available literature, evidence for the effects of multiple potentially modifiable risk factors on slow and declining gait speed was synthesized (Chapter 2), providing a framework for an additional analysis of gait speed correlates in a cohort of middle and older-aged community-dwelling Canadian adults (Chapter 5). To complement the analysis of gait speed correlates, normative gait speed data and the prevalence of slow gait were also estimated in this Canadian cohort to describe the differences that exist across age and biological sex (Chapter 4).

6.2.1 Modifiable Risk Factors for Slow Gait in Community-Dwelling Older Adults: A Systematic Review

The objective of the systematic review presented in Chapter 2 was to identify potentially modifiable factors associated with slow gait speed and clinically meaningful gait speed decline in older community-dwelling adults. In total, 40 studies met the inclusion criteria and were qualitatively synthesized. Across these cross-sectional and longitudinal studies, which were deemed fair or good quality, sample sizes ranged from 108 to 7025 participants and usual gait speed was measured using walk test distances ranging from 2.4 meters to 20 meters. Multiple different criteria were used to define slow gait and

meaningful gait speed decline, with cutoffs being based either on sample distributions (e.g. quartiles), external criteria (e.g. < 0.8 m/s), or dynamic changes over time (e.g. \geq 0.05 m/s decline per year). Due to the heterogeneity in these criteria and other methodological factors, the slow gait prevalence estimates reported in the studies varied widely, with frequencies ranging from 1.56% to 65.8%. Overall, 85 potentially modifiable risk factors were assessed for an association with slow gait or meaningful gait speed decline. Of these, 26 factors were assessed in at least two studies. Factors were organized into the following groups for qualitative synthesis: sociodemographic, clinical, lifestyle, body composition, serum, cognitive, and dietary.

Among the sociodemographic factors, education level was the only factor assessed in multiple studies. Most studies that included education level in their analyses reported significantly greater odds of slow gait or meaningful decline for adults who attained lower levels of education (e.g. less than high school). Thirteen clinical factors were also identified in at least two studies including depression, pain, multimorbidity, hypertension, heart conditions, stroke, polypharmacy, falls, fear of falling, grip strength, arthritis, diabetes, impaired vision. Most studies that assessed depression, pain, and polypharmacy found that these conditions significantly increased the odds of slow gait while stronger grip strength was found to be protective against slow gait. In general, effects reported for multimorbidity, hypertension, heart conditions, and diabetes were non-significant, and the effects reported for history of stroke, falls, fear of falling, arthritis, and vision impairments were mixed.

Lifestyle factors that were assessed in multiple studies were physical activity, smoking, and alcohol consumption. Many studies found that engaging in physical activity was protective against slow gait. Non-significant effects were reported for smoking, and inconsistent findings were reported for alcohol consumption. Among the body composition variables, BMI, calf circumference, and bone mineral density were assessed in multiple studies. Many studies reported significant associations between obese BMI and greater odds of slow gait and some reported significant negative effects for underweight BMI as well. Greater calf circumference was found to be significantly

associated with lower odds of slow gait while effects for bone mineral density were mixed.

Three serum factors were also assessed in multiple studies: vitamin D, high sensitivity C-Reactive Protein, and albumin. Effects reported for these factors were inconsistent, however some studies found that lower vitamin D and elevated C-Reactive protein were significantly associated with greater odds of slow gait. Cognitive factors that were assessed in multiple studies were performance on the digit symbol substitution and trail making tests. Higher scores on the digit symbol substitution test were found to be associated with lower odds of slow gait cross-sectionally, however non-significant effects were reported for performance on the trail making test. Finally, among the dietary factors, Mediterranean diet was the only factor assessed in at least two studies. Both studies reported that greater adherence to a Mediterranean diet reduced the odds of slow gait, however different measurement tools were used to assess diet adherence.

Because of the heterogeneity in defining slow gait and meaningful gait speed decline and the small amount of studies examining many of the identified factors, definitive conclusions about factor effects could not be drawn. Despite this, the review was successful in showing that the causes of slow gait and meaningful gait speed decline are complex and multifactorial and provided valuable information for subsequent analyses.

6.2.2 Normative Values of Gait Speed among Middle and Older-Aged Adults: An Analysis of Data from the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging

Due to the complex processes underlying its production, gait speed is a marker of health and functional ability. In order for timed walking tests to be useful in determining whether older adults have or are at risk for developing impairments, normative values outlining expected ranges of performance must be available for reference. The primary objective of the Chapter 4 analysis was to estimate the normative values of usual (i.e. self-selected) gait speed by age and biological sex using nationally representative baseline data of 29,700 adults aged 45 to 85 years from the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging Comprehensive cohort. Using these values, an example demonstrating the transformation of an individual's gait speed into a population percentile was presented to show the applicability of the normative data in a real-world clinical setting. The final objective of Chapter 4 was to estimate the prevalence of 'slow gait' using multiple cutpoint ranges to describe the distribution of gait speed impairments across middle and older adulthood.

Calculation of descriptive gait speed data by sex and age revealed that for both men and women, average usual gait speeds were slower among the oldest age groups (i.e. 65-74 and 75+ years) compared to the younger age groups (i.e. 45-54 and 55-64 years). In general, men had faster average gait speeds compared to women regardless of age, however when standardized by height, the average gait speeds of women appeared faster. Prevalence estimates for slow gait also revealed age-related trends. Notably, a greater proportion of men and women in the two oldest age groups walked slower than a 'normal' speed (i.e. <1.0 m/s) compared to those aged 45-54 and 55-64 years. Among the two oldest age groups, the majority of adults had gait speeds greater or equal to 0.8 m/s but less than 1.0 m/s. Additionally, the proportions of men and women aged 75+ years with gait speeds below 0.6 m/s were more than triple that seen in the 65-74 year age groups.

Much of the discussion surrounding the normative values obtained in this study focused on potential reasons why the average gait speeds of the CLSA participants appeared slower than those of older adults from other studies presenting normative values. It was suggested that sampling eligibility criteria (e.g. inclusion of adults with mild/moderate physical impairments) and elements of the walk test protocol employed (e.g. allowed use of assistive devices) were likely contributors to these slower average walking speeds. Given that many other studies providing gait speed norms have employed stricter participant inclusion criteria (e.g. healthy, able to walk unassisted), their values may not be truly representative of the older adult populations they are seeking to describe. Thus, the values obtained from the CLSA may be more appropriate references.

6.2.3 Associations between Reversible Risk Factors and Gait Speed in Middle and Older-Aged Community-Dwelling Adults: Results from the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging

Using the baseline data from the CLSA Comprehensive cohort as well, Chapter 5 sought to examine the demographic, clinical, and lifestyle correlates of usual (i.e. self-selected) gait speed among middle and older adults. The amount of variation in gait speed explained by these factors, which were classified as either non-modifiable or potentially modifiable, was estimated, and the associations between individual potentially modifiable factors and gait speed were also examined.

In total, 20,201 adults aged 45 to 85 years were included in the analysis. Using hierarchical multivariable linear regression models, the sets of non-modifiable factors (i.e. demographics, anthropometric factors, and non-modifiable chronic conditions) were found to explain a greater proportion of gait speed variability than the potentially modifiable factors (i.e. cognitive factors, modifiable chronic conditions, other modifiable clinical and lifestyle factors), although all factor sets explained a significant proportion of variance regardless of the amount. Several potentially modifiable factors were found to be significantly associated with gait speed as well. These factors included low education level, smoking, physical activity, any cardiovascular condition, stroke, osteoarthritis, serum vitamin D, high sensitivity C-Reactive protein, depressive symptoms, grip strength, chronic pain, and having trouble getting to the bathroom on time.

Overall, this study confirmed previous findings that non-modifiable biological factors play a large role in gait speed. However, the results showed that these factors did not entirely explain gait speed variations, which supports the idea that gait speed is a multifactorial function that is also influenced by factors that can potentially be changed through clinical intervention and lifestyle modification. Ultimately, this study is a preliminary step toward developing models to longitudinally analyze gait speed and its determinants using prospective data such as those collected from future CLSA waves and improving current gait speed impairment mitigation strategies.

6.3 Research and Methodological Contributions

Gait speed a fundamental component of mobility that allows individuals to travel through variable environments and independently engage in daily activities. As gait speed is the product of many complex bodily processes, underlying illnesses and impairments affecting these processes can result in abnormal gait speed declines that can be detrimental in older age.¹ To effectively mitigate these harmful declines, it is important to identify and intervene on factors in earlier adulthood that can be changed through clinical treatment and lifestyle modification.² The research presented in this thesis adds new evidence confirming that although gait speed is inevitably influenced by age, it is also affected by a multifactorial set of factors including those that can be modified. Taken together, the findings presented in Chapters 2, 4 and 5 demonstrate the necessity of standardized methods to effectively assess gait speed and its determinants and highlight possible avenues for future prospective analyses of the etiology of gait speed declines that can inform current clinical practices.

Chapter 2 provides a synthesis of the potentially modifiable risk factors associated with slow and slowing gait speed among older adults. To our knowledge, the topic of this systematic review was novel and is relevant given that research on gait impairments in older adults has been expanding significantly with the recent growth of older populations. Although this was only a qualitative review, the findings provide valuable information about the roles that various types of risk factors may have in the incidence of slow gait speed. By examining the reported factor effects, this review suggests areas that may be worth investigating further in future prospective studies and intervention trials, and other areas that may not be as promising. Along with risk factor identification, this review also emphasized the heterogeneity in current methods used to operationalize slow and slowing gait. As slow and slowing gait were defined based on many different cutoff criteria (i.e. sample distribution, external criteria, dynamic change), the estimated prevalence of slow and slowing gait varied widely across the included studies and the effects reported for the risk factors were not directly comparable. This finding ultimately demonstrates the need for uniform cutoffs to obtain prevalence estimates that are more reflective of true

population characteristics and risk factor effect values that are comparable between studies.

Next, Chapter 4 contributes normative gait speed estimates and slow gait prevalence estimates among community-dwelling adults in a Canadian context. These descriptive analyses add informative evidence to existing literature seeking to explain gait speed trends across the adult lifespan, which currently lacks analyses of large, nationally representative samples of adults. The significant gait speed trends we observed between men and women across age groups were consistent with the findings of previous research; however, differences in the average gait speed values obtained were evident and most likely due to the implementation of varying methodologies between the CLSA and traditional studies on gait speed norms.^{3–5} By using a more inclusive sample and less restrictive protocols, the normative gait speed values obtained from the CLSA may reflect the gait function of older adults more accurately and serve as a more realistic reference for clinicians and researchers administering walking tests to assess the functional ability of older adults, especially in Canadian contexts. Next, by estimating the prevalence of slow gait using multiple operational definitions, we were also able to examine the extent of impairment severity across the adult lifespan among Canadians. As demonstrated in Chapter 2, many studies employ single, heterogeneous cutoffs to dichotomize individuals as having 'slow' gait or 'normal' gait speed. This single cutoff method not only leads to inconsistent slow gait prevalence estimates across studies,^{6–8} but also results in a loss of detail about the full spectrum of gait speed impairment. The application of several discrete ranges of gait speed for prevalence estimation in our study demonstrates the usefulness of this method not only for simply describing the degrees of gait speed function across sex and age groups but also for identifying meaningful trends across these groups which may require further investigation to elucidate underlying causes and indicate when interventions may be more appropriate to mitigate gait speed impairment.

Finally, Chapter 5 expands on previous studies that have investigated the associations between non-modifiable and potentially modifiable factors and gait speed. To our knowledge, this is the first study to conduct such an investigation using a large representative sample of community-dwelling Canadian adults. Unlike previous studies which have mainly focused on the individual associations between risk factors and gait speed, our study also offers a wider picture of the varying contributions of nonmodifiable and potentially modifiable factors together on gait speed variability. In doing so, this study was able to demonstrate the multifactorial nature of gait speed in real life and highlights the importance of considering the roles that different types of potentially modifiable factors may have in adult gait speed production beyond the effects of nonmodifiable factors such as aging. Along with characterizing the explanatory nature of grouped factors on gait speed variability, using a hierarchical regression allowed us to examine the associations between individual potentially modifiable factors and gait speed after statistically adjusting for the effects of several non-modifiable factors. The associations found were generally in line with previous studies of older adults, supporting current understanding of prominent gait speed correlates that may be optimal targets for interventions to mitigate gait speed impairments. While this study only presents crosssectional evidence like many others in the literature,⁹⁻¹¹ the results provide a basis for future longitudinal modelling of gait speed determinants using robust datasets such as the CLSA. This additional work is essential as researchers continue striving toward a better understanding of the multifactorial etiology of gait speed impairments.

6.4 Limitations

While informative, the research presented in this thesis has several limitations. First, only observational studies were included in our systematic review since this design is most practical for measuring the effects of modifiable risk factors on the risk of slow gait and meaningful gait speed decline. Observational designs are often associated with greater risks for biases that can be imposed during sampling and variable measurement, and when missing data is present. While most of the studies included in this review were deemed to be fair or good quality, these biases and other methodological issues could have impacted the validity and generalizability of their results. Another limitation of this review was that meta-analyses of the risk factors identified were not conducted. Along with generally lacking a sufficient number of studies to analyze for many of the risk factors, there was also a large amount of heterogeneity in methods used to measure slow

gait/meaningful gait speed decline across the studies (i.e. differing walk test protocols, differing cutoff values for outcome operationalization). This ultimately reduced the comparability of effects between the studies.

Next, limitations were imposed by the cross-sectional nature of the analyses in Chapters 4 and 5. In Chapter 4, the estimation of normative gait speed values was restricted to a single time point. While trends in the gait speed norms could be examined between men and women of differing ages at this time point, assessment and comparison of between and within-participant gait speed declines longitudinally was not possible, which would have provided greater detail regarding the nature of gait speed at the individual level over the adult lifespan. In Chapter 5, conclusions regarding the temporality of the relationships observed between the selected demographic, clinical, and lifestyle correlates and gait speed could not be drawn definitively. Although the cross-sectional relationships seen between the selected correlates and gait speed may hold true, the factors that had significant effects may contrarily have bidirectional or reversed relationships with gait speed in real life.

The type of walk test employed in the CLSA to measure gait speed may have also influenced the study findings, especially in Chapter 4 where the estimated gait speed norms appeared slower than those previously published. While different types of walk tests are generally reported to reliably produce similar walking speeds, variations in protocol can still impact the speeds at which adults appear to walk and lead to misrepresentation of their actual walking speeds outside of clinical research settings.¹² In the case of the CLSA, a shorter distance test with a static start was used; thus, acceleration and deceleration times at the start and end of the walking test were not fully accounted for. Participants were also allowed to use assistive devices to complete the walk test which may further correlate with slower walking speeds.

There are other limitations surrounding the analysis in Chapter 5. Measurement of several variables included as potential correlates of gait speed relied on some form of self-report (e.g. chronic conditions, physical activity). These methods have been validated for use in adult populations, however assessors must assume that participants have accurately and

truthfully recalled the required information and errors in reporting can potentially introduce bias. Also, while we attempted to include important, more commonly investigated variables in our models, we acknowledge that there are other factors that may also play a significant role in the gait speed of older adults that could not be included in the regression analysis.

A final noteworthy limitation linking both Chapters 4 and 5 involves the use of large sample sizes. Large samples inherently have more statistical power to detect statistically significant relationships compared to small samples at the same Type I error probability. While this allowed us to find significant associations in our analyses of gait speed norms and gait speed correlates, many of the effects appeared small or moderate. Ultimately, interpretation of these findings is cautioned as these statistically significant results may not translate into effects that are clinically meaningful.

6.5 Directions for Future Research

Together, the studies in this thesis provide a strong basis for future research on gait speed and its determinants in older adults. Although efforts to study modifiable gait speed determinants have continuously expanded over the last several decades, syntheses of the findings of this research remain scarce. By systematically reviewing a wide range of potentially modifiable risk factors associated with slow and declining gait speed, we have highlighted many factors that should be investigated further using robust prospective studies to better understand their true effects on gait speed impairment. Additionally, through our synthesis we showed that future studies on slow and declining gait speed should consider employing multiple cutoffs to operationalize these outcomes to ensure consistency and comparability of results.

The findings reported in Chapters 4 and 5 also present frameworks for future longitudinal modelling of gait speed in Canadian adults. Using the baseline gait speed norms of the CLSA participants as a reference, additional studies can further model the gait speed declines experienced by these participants at subsequent follow-up time points. Particularly, trajectories of decline can be characterized and potentially be applied to the development of clinical reference tools that can be used to identify patients experiencing

abnormal declines in gait speed that require further investigated. The model of gait speed correlates in Chapter 5 can also be used in the future to examine such correlates longitudinally to establish the causal relationships seen cross-sectionally. If possible, these longitudinal analyses can be adapted to include other factors that are emerging as potential influencers of mobility, such as social determinants of health and clinical factors like polypharmacy.

Many studies of gait speed and its associated factors were done outside of Canada and unfortunately, the characteristics of these samples often limit their generalizability to groups residing in other areas. Thus, our studies offer insights to the necessity of conducting future research in Canadian contexts to understand the unique characteristics of Canadians adults that influence their gait speed over their lifespan. Overall, future research endeavors should focus on examining the clinical relevance of gait speed trends and risk factor effects. In doing so, intervention and education tools can be enhanced to optimally mitigate gait speed impairments earlier in life and reduce the risk of additional adverse outcomes.

6.6 Conclusion

The main objective of this thesis was to examine the factors that influence gait speed and the risk of slow and slowing gait in older community-dwelling adults. By synthesizing the results of published studies that have investigated slow gait determinants, the systematic review showed that there are many potentially modifiable factors that may serve as useful targets for maintaining gait speed in older age. Furthermore, the two additional studies describing gait speed trends and correlates among older adults in the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging support previous findings that gait speed is variable across the adult lifespan and is significantly influenced by both non-modifiable and potentially modifiable factors. Ultimately, the results of all three studies shed light on the need for robust longitudinal studies on gait speed to better understand the ways in which it is influenced by these different factors. The findings can be used to inform clinicians and researchers seeking to mitigate gait speed declines in adults and its associated adverse outcomes. They can also be used to support the enhancement of current practices and programs aimed at improving the health and independence of older adults.

6.7 References

- 1. Studenski S, Perera S, Wallace D, et al. Physical Performance Measures in the Clinical Setting. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2003;51(3):314-322. doi:10.1046/j.1532-5415.2003.51104.x
- 2. Montero-Odasso M, Schapira M, Soriano ER, et al. Gait velocity as a single predictor of adverse events in healthy seniors aged 75 years and older. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*. 2005;60(10):1304-1309. doi:10.1093/gerona/60.10.1304
- 3. Bohannon RW, Williams Andrews A. Normal walking speed: a descriptive metaanalysis. *Physiotherapy*. 2011;97(3):182-189. doi:10.1016/j.physio.2010.12.004
- 4. Bohannon RW, Wang Y-C. Four-Meter Gait Speed: Normative Values and Reliability Determined for Adults Participating in the NIH Toolbox Study. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*. 2019;100(3):509-513. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2018.06.031
- 5. Hollman JH, McDade EM, Petersen RC. Normative spatiotemporal gait parameters in older adults. *Gait Posture*. 2011;34(1):111-118. doi:10.1016/j.gaitpost.2011.03.024
- 6. Plouvier S, Carton M, Cyr D, et al. Socioeconomic disparities in gait speed and associated characteristics in early old age. *BMC Musculoskelet Disord*. 2016;17(1):178. doi:10.1186/s12891-016-1033-8
- 7. Kirkness CS, Ren J. Race Differences: Use of Walking Speed to Identify Community-Dwelling Women at Risk for Poor Health Outcomes--Osteoarthritis Initiative Study. *Phys Ther*. 2015;95(7):955-965. doi:10.2522/ptj.20140028
- 8. Verghese J MD, Wang C PhD, Allali G MD, Holtzer R PhD, Ayers E MPH. Modifiable Risk Factors for New-Onset Slow Gait in Older Adults. *J Am Med Dir Assoc*. 2016;17(5):421-425. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2016.01.017
- 9. Quiben MU, Hazuda HP. Factors contributing to 50-ft walking speed and observed ethnic differences in older community-dwelling Mexican Americans and European Americans. *Phys Ther.* 2015;95(6):871. doi:10.2522/ptj.20140152
- Granic A, Mossop H, Engstrom G, et al. Factors Associated with Physical Performance Measures in a Multiethnic Cohort of Older Adults. *Gerontol Geriatr Med.* 2018;4. doi:10.1177/2333721418778623
- 11. Busch T de A, Duarte YA, Pires Nunes D, et al. Factors associated with lower gait speed among the elderly living in a developing country: a cross-sectional

population-based study. BMC Geriatr. 2015;15(1):35. doi:10.1186/s12877-015-0031-2

12. Hornyak M Victoria, Vanswearingen S Jessie, Brach S Jennifer. Measurement of Gait Speed. *Top Geriatr Rehabil*. 2012;28(1):27-32. doi:10.1097/TGR.0b013e318233e75

Appendices

Appendix A Systematic Review Search Strategy

Concept	MEDLINE	EMBASE	CINAHL	Keywords
Gait Speed	exp Walking Speed/	exp Walking Speed/	MH "Walking Speed"	"walking speed" OR "gait speed" OR "gait velocity" OR "slow gait" OR "walk speed" OR "walk velocity" OR "walking velocity" OR "slow walking" OR "gait decline" OR "gait impairment" OR "timed walk" OR "timed walks" OR "timed walking" OR "timed gait"
Aged	exp Aged/	exp Aged/	MH "Aged+"	aged OR elderly OR senior OR geriatric OR "older adults" OR "older people" OR "older persons" OR "older individuals"
Community- Dwelling		exp Normal Human/		"community dwelling" OR "community dwellers" OR healthy OR "normal human" OR "normal people" OR "normal persons" OR "normal individuals"
Total Citations	2525	3813	1361	7699 (4352 after removing duplicates)

Table A- 1. Search strategies by database.



Figure A-1. Flow chart of study selection.

Appendix B Quality of Included Studies

Table B-1. Risk of bias assessment for i	included	studies.
--	----------	----------

Study							C	Criteria	*					
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14
Kyrdalen et al.	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ν	Ν	N	Y	Y	Ν	Y	NR	NA	Ν
Montero-Odasso et al.	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	NR	Y	Y
Nasimi et al.	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ν	Ν	Y	Y	Ν	Y	NR	NA	Y
Toyama et al.	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ν	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	NR	Ν	Y
Laclaustra et al.	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	NR	Ν	Y
Kwan et al.	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ν	Ν	Y	Y	Ν	Y	NR	NA	Y
Lassale et al.	Y	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	NR	Ν	Y
Umegaki et al.	Y	Y	NR	Y	Ν	Ν	Ν	Y	Y	Ν	Y	NR	NA	Y
Xu et al.	Ν	Y	Y	Y	Ν	Ν	Ν	Y	Y	Ν	Y	NR	NA	Y
Adachi et al.	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ν	Ν	Ν	Y	Y	Ν	Y	NR	NA	Y
Simonsick, Aronson	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ν	Y	Y	NA	Y	Y	Y	NR	Y	Y
et al.														
Taylor et al.	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ν	Ν	Ν	NA	Y	NA	Y	NR	NA	Y
Simonsick, Schrack et	Y	Y	NR	Y	Ν	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	NR	Ν	Y
al.														
Ayers et al.	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ν	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	NR	Ν	Y
Frison et al.	Y	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Ν	Ν	Y	Y	Ν	Y	Y	NA	Y
Shafie et al.	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ν	Ν	Ν	Y	Y	Ν	Y	NR	NA	Y
Gill et al.	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ν	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	NR	Y	Y
Veronese et al.	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ν	Y	Y	N	Y	NA	Y	NR	N	Y
Yokoyama et al.	Y	Y	NR	Ν	Ν	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	NR	N	Y

											1	I		
Garcia-Esquinas et al.	Y	Y	NR	Ν	Ν	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	NR	Ν	Y
Naples et al.	Y	Y	NR	Y	Ν	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	NR	Y	Y
Zeng et al.	Y	Y	NR	Y	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	NR	NA	Y
Verghese et al.	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ν	Y	Y	Ν	Y	Y	Y	NR	Y	Y
Plouvier et al.	Y	Y	NR	Y	Ν	Ν	Ν	Y	Y	Ν	Y	NR	NA	Y
Rosano et al.	Y	Y	NR	Y	Ν	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ν	Y	NR	Ν	Y
Tchalla et al.	Y	Y	NR	Y	Y	Ν	Ν	Y	Y	Ν	Y	NR	NA	Y
Kirkness et al.	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	NR	NA	Y
Lo-Ciganic et al.	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ν	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	NR	Y	Y
Busch et al.	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ν	Ν	Ν	Y	Y	Ν	Y	NR	NA	Y
Kim et al.	Y	Y	Ν	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	NR	Ν	Y
Lana et al.	Y	Y	NR	Y	Ν	Y	Y	Y	Y	NR	Y	NR	Ν	Y
Leon-Munoz et al.	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	NR	Y	Y
Wu et al.	Y	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Ν	Ν	Y	Y	Ν	Y	NR	NA	Y
Ruggero et al.	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	NR	NA	Y
Hirani et al.	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ν	Ν	Ν	Y	Y	Ν	Y	NR	NA	Y
Thorpe et al.	Y	Y	NA	Y	Ν	Y	Y	NA	Y	Y	Y	NR	Y	Y
Eggermont et al.	Y	Y	NR	Y	Ν	Ν	Ν	Y	Y	Ν	Y	NR	NA	Y
Yoshida et al.	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ν	Ν	Ν	Y	Y	Ν	Y	NR	NA	Y
Shardell et al.	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ν	Ν	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	NR	NA	Y
Chu et al.	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	NA	Y	Y	Y	NR	Y	Y

*Criteria are as follows:

¹ Was the research question or objective in this paper clearly stated?
² Was the study population clearly specified and defined?
³ Was the participation rate of eligible persons at least 50%?

⁴ Were all the subjects selected or recruited from the same or similar populations (including the same time period)? Were inclusion and exclusion criteria for being in the study prespecified and applied uniformly to all participants?

⁵ Was a sample size justification, power description, or variance and effect estimates provided?

⁶ For the analyses in this paper, were the exposure(s) of interest measured prior to the outcome(s) being measured?

⁷Was the timeframe sufficient so that one could reasonably expect to see an association between exposure and outcome if it existed?

⁸ For exposures that can vary in amount or level, did the study examine different levels of the exposure as related to the outcome (e.g., categories of exposure, or exposure measured as continuous variable)?

⁹Were the exposure measures (independent variables) clearly defined, valid, reliable, and implemented consistently across all study participants?

¹⁰ Was the exposure(s) assessed more than once over time?
¹¹ Were the outcome measures (dependent variables) clearly defined, valid, reliable, and implemented consistently across all study participants?
¹² Were the outcome assessors blinded to the exposure status of participants?
¹³ Was loss to follow-up after baseline 20% or less?
¹⁴ Were key potential confounding variables measured and adjusted statistically for their impact on the relationship between exposure(s) and outcome(s)? NR=Not Reported; NA=Not Applicable

Appendix C Characteristics of Studies Included in Systematic Review

Study & Location	Sample Size	Age (mean ± SD or range)	% Female	Gait Speed Measurement	Criteria for slow gait/	Prevalence of slow gait/	Modifiable Risk Factors Assessed
					decline in	decline in gait	
Nasimi et al. (Iran)	501	70.4 ± 4.6	49.3	4m walk test	gait speed	speed, N (%) 218 (43.5)	Underweight Calf circumference Body fat Visceral fat area Fat-free mass Protein Bone mineral content Albumin
Toyama et al. (Australia)	789	72-75	0	6m walk test, fastest of two trials	< 0.8 m/s	Baseline: 77 (10.0)	Renal function Physical activity
Xu et al. (China)	2633 (group ≥60yr)	females ≥60: 68.13 ± 6.14 males ≥60: 68.86 ± 6.47	57.8	бт walk test	< 0.8 m/s	Males ≥60: 150 (14.8) Females ≥ 60: 240 (17.1)	BMI Education level Smoking Drinking Sleep time Dyslipidemia Hypertension Bone mineral density Central adiposity Diabetes Metabolic

Table C- 1. Summar	v of characteristics	for studies with	cross-sectional design.
	,		

							syndrome Coronary heart disease Stroke Tumor Physical activity Total energy intake Protein intake
Zeng et al. (China)	461	females: 69.2 ± 6.5 males: 71 ± 5.7	55.1	6m walk test	< 0.8 m/s	Males: 5.31% Females: 7.50%	Urban residence BMI 2+ comorbidities Smoking Drinking Physical activity Meals per day Unstructured daily routine Hobby engagement Self-rated health
Tchalla et al. (USA)	680	78.1 ± 5.4	62.4	4m walk test, fastest of two trials	< 0.8 m/s	168 (25.0)	Hypertension - plasma VCAM-1 interaction
Kyrdalen et al. (Norway)	108	75-77	62	4m walk test	< 1.0 m/s	48 (44.4)	Education level Impaired vision BMI (Underweight, Overweight) Multimorbidity Polypharmacy Falls Fear of falling Depressive symptoms Trail Making test

Umegaki et al. (Japan)	447	72.3 ± 4.6	45.4	5m walk test	< 1.0 m/s	7 (1.56)	Digit Symbol Substitution Logical Memory II
Adachi et al. (Japan)	308	79.9 ± 3.6	100	10m walk test	< 1.0 m/s	41 (13.3)	Grip strength Mini Mental State Examination Trail Making test Depression Physical activity
Taylor et al. (USA)	7025	65-85+	56.8	3m walk test, fastest of two trials	< 1.0 m/s	984 (14.0)	Chronic pain Education level Dementia Multimorbidity
Kirkness et al. (USA)	2648	White American women: 59.0 ± 8.0 African American women: 62.4 ± 9.1	100	20m walk test	< 1.0 m/s	236 (9.0)	BMI (healthy/ underweight, overweight) Access to medical care Annual income Education level Severe knee osteoarthritis Severe knee pain Back pain Diabetes Hypertension Cancer Heart failure Stroke Ulcer Asthma Lung disease Depression

Frison et al. (France)	982	65.6 - 86.5	59	6m walk test	Lowest quartile of sample (<0.63 m/s)	239 (24.3)	Plasma fatty acids
Busch et al. (Brazil)	1112	60-75+	60.3	3m walk test, slower of two trials	Lowest quartile by sex and height 1. men $\leq 1.66m$: $\leq 0.68m/s$ 2. men > 1.66m: $\leq 0.78m/s$ 3. women $\leq 1.52m$: $\leq 0.63m/s$ 4. women $> 1.52m$: $\leq 0.68m/s$	277 (24.9)	Education level Impairments in activities of daily living Cardiovascular disease Physical activity Grip strength COPD
Wu et al. (Taiwan)	2680	69.0 ± 8.0	52.6	4m walk test	Lowest quartile by sex Men: < 0.75m/s Women: < 0.63m/s	NR	Dietary fiber intake
Eggermont et al. (USA)	585	70-97	63.4	4m walk test, fastest of two trials	Lowest quartile (< 0.784 m/s)	NR	Pain (tender point count, number of pain sites)
Yoshida et al. (Japan)	803	75.7 ± 5.0	59.0	5m walk test	Lowest quartile adjusted for	NR	C-Reactive Protein

					sex		
Kwan et al. (China)	263	77.1 ± 7.5	83.7	5m walk test	Lowest quintile adjusted for sex (Men: <0.89m/s; Women: <0.79 m/s)	93 (35.4)	Mediterranean diet Life-space Social participation
Hirani et al. (Australia)	25D subgroup: 1659 1,25D subgroup: 1536	70-85+	0	6m walk test, mean of two trials	Lowest quintile adjusted for height	436 (13.9)	Vitamin D
Shardell et al. (Italy)	1005	Women: 75.6 ± 7.6 Men: 74.2 ± 7.0	55.8	4m walk test, mean of 2 trials	Lowest quintile by sex and height	Women: 121 (22.2) Men: 99 (22.9)	Vitamin D Parathyroid hormone
Shafie et al. (Singapore)	2192	69.2 ± 0.1	55	10m walk test	≥1 SD below age & sex means of sample	274 (12.5)	Education level Employment status Physical activity Disability
Plouvier et al. (France)	736	55-69	46.0	3m walk test	(Two lowest tertiles) Men: < 1.25 m/s Women: < 1.20 m/s	485 (65.8)	Occupation class and physical demands Physical activity BMI (overweight, obese) Smoking Cardiovascular disorder Musculoskeletal disorder

Ruggero et al.	385	71.4 ± 5.7	64.4	4.6m walk test,	(K-means	75 (28.1)	Physical activity
(Brazil)				mean of three	cluster		Stroke
				trials	method)		Diabetes
					< 0.91m/s		Urinary
							incontinence
							Fear of falling

 Table C- 2. Summary of characteristics for studies with longitudinal designs.

Study &	Sample	Length	Age (mean ±	%	Gait Speed	Criteria for	Prevalence of	Modifiable Risk
Location	Size	of	SD or	Female	Measurement	slow gait/	slow gait/decline	Factors Assessed
		follow-	range)			decline in	in gait speed, N	
		up				gait speed	(%)	
Montero-	249	5 yrs	76.6 ± 8.6	63	6m walk test	< 0.8 m/s	Baseline: 29	Polypharmacy
Odasso et							(13.0)	
al.								
(Canada)								
Veronese	1904	Avg 4.4	72.5 ± 6.0	62.5	4m walk test, best	< 0.8 m/s	NR	Hyperuricemia
et al.		yrs			performance of			
(Italy)					two trials			
Kim et al.	538	4 yrs	Nonsarcopenic	100	11m walk test,	< 1.0 m/s	137 (25.5)	BMI (underweight)
(Japan)			$:78.5 \pm 2.3$		faster of two trials			Bone mineral density
			Presarcopenic:					Calf circumference
			77.3 ± 2.0					Timed Up and Go
			Sarcopenic:					Albumin
			78.5 ± 2.4					Vitamin D
			Severe					B 2-globulin
			sarcopenic:					Hemoglobin A1c
			80.0 ± 2.1					High density
								lipoprotein
								Cystatin C

Gill et al.	2246	4 yrs	60.2 ±8.8	53.8	20m walk test	< 1.2 m/s	Follow-up: 400	Physical activity Pain (general, knee) Falls Osteoporosis Heart disease Hyperlipidemia Knee osteoarthritis BMI-waist
(USA)							(15.1)	circumference interaction
Rosano et al. (USA)	Total: 5888 Gait follow-up subgroup : 1019	5 yrs	75.1 ± 5.5	57.6	4.6 m walk test	1.Clinical: < 0.6 m/s 2.Subclinical : 0.6-1.0 m/s	Baseline 1. Clinical (< 0.6 m/s): 644 (10.9) 2. Subclinical (0.6- 1.0 m/s): 3164 (53.7) Follow-Up 1.Clinical (< 0.6 m/s): 130 (12.8) 2. Subclinical (0.6- 1.0 m/s): 973 (95.5)	Digit symbol substitution White matter hypertensities
Laclaustra et al. (Spain)	1948	Mean 3.5 yrs	68.4 ± 6.2	51.5	2.44m walk test	1. < 2 on SPPB gait (<0.43 m/s or couldn't do) 2. lowest quintile adjusted for sex, height	SPPB gait < 2: 293 (15.7) Lowest quintile: 192 (12.4)	Dietary inflammatory index
Lassale et al. (England)	2437	10 yrs	71.3 ± 7.8	56.5	2.4m walk test, mean of two trials	Lowest quintile by age and sex	332 (14.9)	C-Reactive Protein

García- Esquinas et al. (France)	ENRICA cohort: 1872 AMI cohort: 473 3C cohort: 581	ENRICA cohort: 3.5yrs AMI cohort: 2yrs 3C cohort: 12yrs	ENRICA cohort: 68.7±6.4 AMI cohort: 74.5 ±5.8 3C cohort: 81.8±4.1	ENRICA cohort: 51.6 AMI cohort: 37.8 3C cohort: 63.5	3m walk test	lowest quintile	ENRICA cohort: 279 (14.9) AMI cohort :87 (18.4) 3C cohort:95 (16.4)	Fruit/vegetable consumption
Lana et al. (Spain)	1871	Mean 3.5 yrs	68.8 ± 6.3	51.3	3m walk test	Lowest quintile adjusted for sex and height	NR	Dairy consumption
León- Muñoz et al. (Spain)	1815	Mean 3.5 yrs	68.5 ± 0.3	60.0	3m walk test	Lowest quintile adjusted for sex and height	180 (9.9)	Mediterranean diet
Ayers et al. (USA)	LonGenity cohort: 625 CCMA cohort: 312	LonGenity cohort: 3 yrs CCMA cohort: 2 yrs	LonGenity cohort: 75.21 ±6.4 CCMA cohort: 76.4 ±6.87	LonGenity cohort: 53.3 CCMA cohort: 56.7	8.5m walk test	≥1 SD below age & sex means of sample	Baseline: 1.LonGenity cohort: 68 (10.9) 2.CCMA cohort: 47 (15.1) Follow-up: 1.LonGenity cohort: 81 (14.5) 2.CCMA cohort: 22 (8.3)	Apathy (depressive symptoms)
Verghese et al. (USA)	2306	4 yrs	78.4 ± 0.83	61.4	2.5 m walk test, mean of two trials	\geq 1 SD below age-sex means	Baseline: 691 (17.0)	Muscle weakness (grip strength) Cognitive

r	1	1	1			1	1	
						1. < 70yrs:	Follow-up: 243	impairment
						< 0.57 m/s (F),	(11.0)	Pain
						< 0.62 m/s		Vision impairment
						(M)		Falls
						2. 70-79yrs:		Physical activity
						< 0.49 m/s		BMI (obesity)
						(F),		Drinking
						< 0.56 m/s		Poor sleep quality
						(M) 3.		Arthritis
						80+ yrs:		Stroke
						< 0.38 m/s		Diabetes
						(F),		Hypertension
						< 0.45 m/s		Heart condition
						(M)		Depression
Simonsials	667	1.5	60.80	50.9	6m malls toot	> 0.05 m/s	Maaninaful	Depression
SIMONSICK	007	1-5 yrs	00-89	50.8	oni wark test,	≥ 0.03 m/s	dealing at fallow	Palli
et al.		(mean			faster of two trials	decline in	uechne at 10110w-	
(2018a)		2.3 yrs)				gait speed	up (%): 32.8%	
(USA)						per year		
Simonsick	579	1-4 yrs	60-89	53.2	6m walk test,	\geq 0.05m/s	Meaningful	Fatigability
et al.		(mean			faster of two trials	decline in	decline at follow-	(physical, mental)
(2018b)		2.2 yrs)				gait speed	up (%): 33.2	Energy level
(USA)						per year		Tiredness
Thorpe et	2969	5 yrs	70-79	51.5	бт walk test,	\geq 0.05m/s	749 (31)	BMI (Obesity)
al.					faster of two trials	decline in		Arthritis (knee, hip)
(USA)						gait speed		Multimorbidity
× ,						per vear		Education level
						r J		Home ownership
								Education level
Naples et	2402	4 vrs	74.6 + 2.9	51.3	20m walk test	1 > 0.1 m/s	% gait decline >	Drug-disease/ drug-
al.						decline in	0.1 m/s per vr	drug interactions
(USA)						gait per year	Yr 2-3. 22.4%	
						Sur per yeur	$Vr 3_4 \cdot 22.4\%$	
						2 loss than	$V_r 5 6. 22.070$	
						2.less than	Yr 5-6: 23.9%	

						median speed (< 1.15 m/s)		
Lo-Ciganic et al. (USA)	2405	4 yrs	74.6 ± 2.8	51	20m walk test	$\geq 0.1 \text{m/s}$ decline in gait per year	Follow-up 1: 491 (22) Follow-up 2: 452 (23)	Statin use
Yokoyama et al. (Japan)	779	4 yrs	71.5 ±5.0	46.7	5m walk test	decline to the lowest baseline quartile level at follow-up	Follow-up: 75 (11.9)	Dietary variety
Chu et al. (China)	1419	1 yr	73.1 ± 6.2	49.5	5m walk test	>1 SD decline in gait speed from baseline value	Follow-up: 96 (7.2)	Vision impairment Falls
Appendix D Overall Characteristics of CLSA Comprehensive Cohort at Baseline

Variable	Measure	Missing	Original data,	Original	Imputed
		П (%о)	Unweighted	Weighted	Weighted
Age years	Mean + SE	_	62.9 ± 0.06	59.5 + 0.061	-
iige, jours	(max, min)		(45, 86)	57.5 ± 0.001	
Height, m	Mean ± SE	100 (0.3)	1.7 ± 0.0005	1.69 ± 0.0006	1.69 ± 0.0006
	(min, max)		(1.18, 2.04)		(1.18, 2.04)
Weight, kg	Mean ± SE	130 (0.4)	79.8 ± 0.10	80.23 ± 0.12	80.24 ± 0.12
	(min, max)		(34.9, 198.85)		(34.9, 198.85)
Vitamin D, mmol/L	Median, IQR	3100	86.0, 48.0	82.73, 47.22	82.65, 47.33
	Mean \pm SE	(10.3)	89.7 ± 0.23	86.93 ± 0.25	86.83 ± 0.24
	(min, max)		(8.0, 385.0)		(8, 385)
hsCRP, mg/L	Median,IQR	3094	1.2, 2.10	1.11, 2.00	1.12, 2.10
	Mean \pm SE	(10.3)	2.56 ± 0.031	2.44 ± 0.03	2.46 ± 0.03
	(min, max)		(0.10, 162.3)		(0.10, 162.3)
HDL, mmol/L	Mean \pm SE	3093	1.49 ± 0.003	1.49 ± 0.003	1.49 ± 0.003
	(min, max)	(10.3)	(0.12, 4.45)		(0.12, 4.45)
Gait Speed, m/s	Mean \pm SE	392 (1.3)	0.98 ± 0.001	0.99 ± 0.001	0.99 ± 0.001
	(min, max)	2200	(0.11, 2.56)	2111 0.00	(0.11, 2.56)
Grip Strength, kg	Mean \pm SE	2290	33.36 ± 0.069	34.74 ± 0.08	34.45 ± 0.08
	(min, max)	(7.6)	(0.16, 84.1)		(0.16, 84.1)
REY I	Mean \pm SE	1020	5.85 ± 0.011	6.06 ± 0.01	6.05 ± 0.01
(Immediate Recall)	(min, max)	(3.4)	(0, 14)		(0, 14)
REY II	Mean \pm SE	1051	4.04 ± 0.013	4.28 ± 0.02	4.27 ± 0.014
(Delayed Recall)	(min, max)	(3.5)	(0, 14)		(0, 14)
AFT	Mean ± SE	731 (2.4)	19.67 ± 0.033	20.30 ± 0.04	20.29 ± 0.038
	(min, max)		(0, 47)		(0, 47)
MAT	Mean \pm SE	1486	26.54 ± 0.05	27.33 ± 0.06	27.28 ± 0.06
	(min, max)	(4.9)	(0, 51)		(0, 51)
Stroop (Interference)	Mean \pm SE	424 (1.4)	14.26 ± 0.049	13.12 ± 0.05	13.14 ± 0.05
	(min, max)		(-83.0, 122.0)		(-83.0, 122.0)
Depressive Symptoms	Median, IQR	161 (0.5)	4.0, 5.0	3.68, 5.51	3.69, 5.51
(CESD-10)	Mean \pm SE		5.28 ± 0.027	5.24 ± 0.031	5.24 ± 0.031
	(min, max)		(0, 30)		(0, 30)
Physical Activity	Median,IQR	1640	130.8, 96.1	139.99,	139.56, 0.68
(PASE)	N GE	(5.4)	141.06 0.44	104.13	150.00 0.54
	Mean \pm SE		141.06 ± 0.44	150.70 ± 0.55	150.39 ± 0.54
~	(min, max)		(0, 092.73)		
Sex	n (%)	-			
Female			15320 (50.9)	15301 (50.8)	-
Male			14777 (49.1)	14796 (49.2)	-
Province	n (%)	-			
Alberta			2957 (9.8)	2957 (9.8)	-

Table D- 1. Characteristics of the baseline CLSA Comprehensive cohort (N=30,097).

Variable	Measure	Missing	Original data,	Original	Imputed
		n (%)	Unweighted	data,	data,
				Weighted	Weighted
British Columbia			6254 (20.8)	6254 (20.8)	-
Manitoba			3113 (10.3)	3113 (10.3)	-
Newfoundland and			2214 (7.4)	2214 (7.4)	-
Labrador					
Nova Scotia			3078 (10.2)	3078 (10.2)	-
Ontario	-		6418 (21.3)	6418 (21.3)	-
Quebec			6063 (20.1)	6063 (20.1)	-
Race	n (%)	-			
White	-		28771 (95.6)	28610 (95.1)	-
Non-white			1326 (4.4)	1487 (4.9)	-
Level of Education	n (%)	58 (0.2)			
Less than secondary school graduation			1643 (5.5)	1355 (4.5)	1360 (4.5)
Secondary school graduation only			2838 (9.4)	2628 (8.7)	2633 (8.7)
Some post-secondary education			2236 (7.4)	2081 (6.9)	2084 (6.9)
Post-secondary degree			23322 (77.6)	23989 (79.8)	24020 (79.8)
Trouble getting to	n (%)	34 (0 1)			
bathroom on time		0. (0.1)			
Yes		_	3927 (13.1)	3353 (11.2)	3359 (11.2)
No		_	26136 (86.9)	26706 (88.8)	26738 (88.8)
Chronic Pain	n (%)	1350			
No		(4.5)	18127 (63.1)	18551 (64.4)	19330 (64.2)
Yes			10620 (36.9)	10239 (35.6)	10767 (35.8)
Sleep Disturbance	n (%)	35 (0.1)		. , ,	. , ,
Never or < once/week	(,*)		18169 (60.4)	17967 (59.7)	17982 (59.7)
1-2 times/week		-	4699 (15.6)	4843 (16.1)	4845 (16.1)
3-5 times/week		_	3604 (12.0)	3727 (12.4)	3730 (12.4)
6-7 times/week		-	3590 (11.9)	3536 (11.8)	3540 (11.8)
Smoking Status	n (%)	_	5570 (11.7)	5556 (11.6)	5510(11.0)
Current smoker	n (70)	_	2710 (9.0)	2830 (9.4)	-
Former smoker		_	13145 (43.7)	12234 (40.6)	-
Never smoker		_	14242 (47.3)	15033 (49.9)	-
Type of Drinker	n (%)	734 (2.4)			
Regular Drinker		, í	22231 (75.7)	22598 (76.9)	23052 (76.6)
Occasional Drinker		_	3705 (12.6)	3559 (12.1)	3697 (12.3)
Non-Drinker			3427 (11.7)	3222 (10.7)	3348 (11.1)
Neurodegenerative	n (%)	110 (0.4)	390 (1.3)	357 (1.2)	379 (1.3)
Disease, Yes					
Memory Problem, Yes	n (%)	102 (0.3)	519 (1.7)	469 (1.6)	491 (1.6)
Macular Degeneration,	n (%)	214 (0.7)	1280 (4.3)	953 (3.2)	969 (3.2)
Yes					
Cardiovascular	n (%)	450 (1.5)	4962 (16.7)	3982 (13.2)	4152 (13.8)
Condition, Yes					
Stroke, Yes	n (%)	261 (0.9)	1313 (4.4)	999 (3.3)	1060 (3.5)
Diabetes, Yes	n (%)	110 (0.4)	5310 (17.7)	4713 (15.6)	4740 (15.7)
Hypertension, Yes	n (%)	179 (0.6)	11101 (37.1)	9724 (32.3)	9792 (32.5)
· · ·	1 1 1		· · · · ·		· · · · · ·

Variable	Measure	Missing	Original data,	Original	Imputed
		n (%)	Unweighted	data,	data,
				Weighted	Weighted
Cancer, Yes	n (%)	93 (0.3)	4637 (15.5)	3789 (12.6)	3806 (12.6)
Osteoarthritis, Yes	n (%)	611 (2.0)	5847 (19.8)	5047 (16.7)	5186 (17.2)
Sensory Impairment,	n (%)	45 (0.1)	5180 (17.2)	4766 (15.8)	4773 (15.8)
Yes					
Neuropsychiatric	n (%)	217 (0.7)	8884 (29.7)	9069 (30.1)	9156 (30.4)
Condition, Yes					
Respiratory Condition ,	n (%)	250 (0.8)	5049 (16.9)	4954 (16.5)	5023 (16.7)
Yes					

Appendix E Characteristics of Analytical Sample versus

Excluded Group

 Table E- 1. Comparison of characteristics for analytical sample and individuals excluded from Chapter 5 analyses.

Variable	Analytic Sample with Complete Data	Excluded Group with Missing Data	P
	(n=20,201)	(n=9,896)	
Age, mean \pm SE ¹	58.84 ± 0.08	60.95 ± 0.132	< .001
Gait speed, mean \pm SE	1.01 ± 0.002	0.97 ± 0.003	<.001
Sex, No. (%)			<.001
Female	9971 (48.6)	5349 (54.2)	
Male	10230 (51.4)	4547 (45.7)	
Race, No. (%)			< .001
White	19479 (95.7)	9292 (92.4)	
Non-white	722 (4.3)	604 (7.6)	
Education, No. (%)			< .001
Less than secondary school graduation	910 (4.0)	733 (6.7)	
Secondary school graduation only	1795 (8.6)	1043 (9.8)	
Some post-secondary education	1439 (6.4)	797 (7.4)	
Post-secondary degree or diploma	16057 (81.0)	7265 (76.1)	

¹Means, standard errors, and percentages estimated using (trimmed) inflation weights.

Appendix F Sensitivity Analysis – Hierarchical Regression with Imputed Missing Data

Model 1			
Variable	B (95% CI) ¹	P	
Constant	1.346 (1.332; 1.362)	<.001	
Age, years	006 (006;005)	<.001	
Sex, female	019 (024;014)	<.001	
Province, ON (Ref)			
AB	024 (035;015)	<.001	
BC	.036 (.028; .043)	<.001	
MB	033 (041;024)	<.001	
NL	057 (066;047)	<.001	
NS	.080 (.070; .090)	<.001	
QC	.008 (.0004; .015)	.038	
Race, White (Ref)			
Non-White	069 (081;056)	<.001	
Education, Post-secondary degree or diploma (Ref)			
Some post-secondary education	022 (031;013)	<.001	
Secondary education only	028 (036;021)	<.001	
Less than secondary school graduation	072 (083;062)	<.001	
Model 2			
Variable	B (95% CI)	Р	
Constant	.757 (.686; .828)	<.001	
Age, years	005 (005;005)	<.001	
Sex, female	.007 (0001; .014)	.053	
Province, ON (Ref)			
AB	027 (037;018)	<.001	
BC	.028 (.021; .035)	<.001	
MB	028 (036;019)	<.001	
NL	049 (058;040)	<.001	
NS	.085 (.075; .095)	<.001	
QC	.011 (.003; .018)	.004	
Race, White (Ref)			
Non-White	062 (074;050)	<.001	
Education, Post-secondary degree or diploma (Ref)			
Some post-secondary education	015 (024;006)	.001	
Secondary education only	020 (027;013)	<.001	
Less than secondary school graduation	056 (067;045)	<.001	
Height, m	.431 (.392; .469)	<.001	
Weight, kg	002 (002;002)	<.001	
Neurodegenerative Disease	079 (104;056)	<.001	
Memory Problem	070 (090;050)	<.001	
Macular Degeneration	019 (031;007)	.002	
Model 3			
Variable	B (95% CI)	Р	
Constant	.678 (.606; .750)	<.001	
Age, years	004 (004;004)	<.001	

Table F-1. Hierarchical regression models with multiply imputed missing data.

Sex, female	.003 (004; .010)	.406
Province, ON (Ref)		
AB	027 (037;017)	<.001
BC	.026 (.019; .033)	<.001
MB	025 (034;017)	<.001
NL	044 (053;035)	<.001
NS	.089 (.080; .099)	<.001
QC	.018 (.011: .026)	<.001
Race. White (Ref)		
Non-White	047 (059:034)	<.001
Education, Post-secondary degree or diploma (Ref)		
Some post-secondary education	011 (020:002)	.020
Secondary education only	012 (020;005)	.001
Less than secondary school graduation	- 038 (- 048: - 027)	< 001
Height m	394 (356: 433)	< 001
Weight kg	- 002 (- 002: - 002)	< 001
Neurodegenerative Disease	- 074 (- 098: - 050)	< 001
Memory Problem	- 058 (- 077; - 038)	< 001
Macular Degeneration	- 019 (- 031: - 007)	002
REV I (Immediate Recall)	005 (003: 007)	< 001
REV II (Delayed Recall)	- 002 (- 004: - 0006)	010
AFT	-0.002(-0.004, -0.0000)	< 001
ΜΔΤ	001 (001; 001)	< 001
Stroop (Interference) sec	- 001 (- 001; - 0005)	< 001
Model 4	001 (001,0003)	<.001
Variable	B (95% CI)	P
Constant	.697 (.626; .769)	<.001
Age, years	004 (004;003)	<.001
Sex, female	.004 (003; .011)	.239
Province, ON (Ref)		
AB	0.28(0.28, 0.18)	
	028 (038,018)	<.001
BC	.026 (.018; .033)	<.001 <.001
BC MB	026 (038;018) .026 (.018; .033) 026 (034;018)	<.001 <.001 <.001
BC MB NL	026 (038,018) .026 (.018; .033) 026 (034;018) 045 (054;036)	<.001 <.001 <.001 <.001
BC MB NL NS	028 (038,018) .026 (.018; .033) 026 (034;018) 045 (054;036) .088 (.079; .098)	<.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001
BC MB NL NS QC	028 (038,018) .026 (.018; .033) 026 (034;018) 045 (054;036) .088 (.079; .098) .018 (.011; .025)	<.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001
BC MB NL NS QC Race, White (Ref)	028 (038,018) .026 (.018; .033) 026 (034;018) 045 (054;036) .088 (.079; .098) .018 (.011; .025)	<.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001
BC MB NL NS QC Race, White (Ref) Non-White	028 (038,018) .026 (.018; .033) 026 (034;018) 045 (054;036) .088 (.079; .098) .018 (.011; .025) 047 (059;034)	<.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001
BC MB NL NS QC Race, White (Ref) Non-White Education, Post-secondary degree or diploma (Ref)	028 (038,018) .026 (.018; .033) 026 (034;018) 045 (054;036) .088 (.079; .098) .018 (.011; .025) 047 (059;034)	<.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001
BC MB NL NS QC Race, White (Ref) Non-White Education, Post-secondary degree or diploma (Ref) Some post-secondary education	028 (038,018) .026 (.018; .033) 026 (034;018) 045 (054;036) .088 (.079; .098) .018 (.011; .025) 047 (059;034) 010 (018;001)	<.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001
BC MB NL NS QC Race, White (Ref) Non-White Education, Post-secondary degree or diploma (Ref) Some post-secondary education Secondary education only	028 (038,018) .026 (.018; .033) 026 (034;018) 045 (054;036) .088 (.079; .098) .018 (.011; .025) 047 (059;034) 010 (018;001) 012 (019;004)	<.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 .030 .002
BC MB NL NS QC Race, White (Ref) Non-White Education, Post-secondary degree or diploma (Ref) Some post-secondary education Secondary education Less than secondary school graduation	028 (038,018) .026 (.018; .033) 026 (034;018) 045 (054;036) .088 (.079; .098) .018 (.011; .025) 047 (059;034) 010 (018;001) 012 (019;004) 033 (043;022)	<.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 .030 .002 <.001
BC MB NL NS QC Race, White (Ref) Non-White Education, Post-secondary degree or diploma (Ref) Some post-secondary education Secondary education only Less than secondary school graduation Height, m	028 (038,018) .026 (.018; .033) 026 (034;018) 045 (054;036) .088 (.079; .098) .018 (.011; .025) 047 (059;034) 010 (018;001) 012 (019;004) 033 (043;022) .360 (.321; .399)	<.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 .030 .002 <.001 <.001
BC MB NL NS QC Race, White (Ref) Non-White Education, Post-secondary degree or diploma (Ref) Some post-secondary education Secondary education only Less than secondary school graduation Height, m Weight, kg	028 (038,018) .026 (.018; .033) 026 (034;018) 045 (054;036) .088 (.079; .098) .018 (.011; .025) 047 (059;034) 010 (018;001) 012 (019;004) 033 (043;022) .360 (.321; .399) 002 (002;002)	<.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 .002 <.001 <.001 <.001
BC MB NL NS QC Race, White (Ref) Non-White Education, Post-secondary degree or diploma (Ref) Some post-secondary education Secondary education only Less than secondary school graduation Height, m Weight, kg Neurodegenerative Disease	028 (038,018) .026 (.018; .033) 026 (034;018) 045 (054;036) .088 (.079; .098) .018 (.011; .025) 047 (059;034) 010 (018;001) 012 (019;004) 033 (043;022) .360 (.321; .399) 002 (002;002) 064 (088;040)	<.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 .030 .002 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001
BC MB NL NS QC Race, White (Ref) Non-White Education, Post-secondary degree or diploma (Ref) Some post-secondary education Secondary education only Less than secondary school graduation Height, m Weight, kg Neurodegenerative Disease Memory Problem	028 (038,018) .026 (.018; .033) 026 (034;018) 045 (054;036) .088 (.079; .098) .018 (.011; .025) 047 (059;034) 010 (018;001) 012 (019;004) 033 (043;022) .360 (.321; .399) 002 (002;002) 064 (088;040) 039 (059;019)	<.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 .030 .002 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001
BC MB NL NS QC Race, White (Ref) Non-White Education, Post-secondary degree or diploma (Ref) Some post-secondary education Secondary education only Less than secondary school graduation Height, m Weight, kg Neurodegenerative Disease Memory Problem Macular Degeneration	028 (038,018) .026 (.018; .033) 026 (034;018) 045 (054;036) .088 (.079; .098) .018 (.011; .025) 047 (059;034) 010 (018;001) 012 (019;004) 033 (043;022) .360 (.321; .399) 002 (002;002) 064 (088;040) 039 (059;019) 013 (025;001)	<.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 .030 .002 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 .038
BC MB NL NS QC Race, White (Ref) Non-White Education, Post-secondary degree or diploma (Ref) Some post-secondary education Secondary education only Less than secondary school graduation Height, m Weight, kg Neurodegenerative Disease Memory Problem Macular Degeneration REY I (Immediate Recall)	028 (038,018) .026 (.018; .033) 026 (034;018) 045 (054;036) .088 (.079; .098) .018 (.011; .025) 047 (059;034) 010 (018;001) 012 (019;004) 033 (043;022) .360 (.321; .399) 002 (002;002) 064 (088;040) 039 (059;019) 013 (025;001) .004 (.003; .006)	<.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001
BC MB NL NS QC Race, White (Ref) Non-White Education, Post-secondary degree or diploma (Ref) Some post-secondary education Secondary education only Less than secondary school graduation Height, m Weight, kg Neurodegenerative Disease Memory Problem Macular Degeneration REY I (Immediate Recall) REY II (Delayed Recall)	$\begin{array}{c}028 (038,018) \\ 0.026 (.018; .033) \\026 (034;018) \\045 (054;036) \\ 0.088 (.079; .098) \\ 0.018 (.011; .025) \\ \end{array}$ $\begin{array}{c}047 (059;034) \\ \hline \\010 (018;001) \\012 (019;004) \\033 (043;022) \\ 0.360 (.321; .399) \\002 (002;002) \\064 (088;040) \\039 (059;019) \\013 (025;001) \\ 0.004 (.003; .006) \\002 (004;0004) \\ \end{array}$	<.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 .030 .002 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 .038 <.001 .038 <.001
BC MB NL NS QC Race, White (Ref) Non-White Education, Post-secondary degree or diploma (Ref) Some post-secondary education Secondary education only Less than secondary school graduation Height, m Weight, kg Neurodegenerative Disease Memory Problem Macular Degeneration REY I (Immediate Recall) REY II (Delayed Recall) AFT	$\begin{array}{c}028 (038,018) \\ \hline 0.026 (.018; .033) \\ \hline 0.026 (034;018) \\ \hline 0.026 (034;018) \\ \hline 0.018 (.079; .098) \\ \hline 0.018 (.011; .025) \\ \hline \\ \hline \\047 (059;034) \\ \hline \\ \hline \\010 (018;001) \\ \hline012 (019;004) \\ \hline033 (043;022) \\ \hline 0.360 (.321; .399) \\ \hline002 (002;002) \\ \hline064 (088;040) \\ \hline039 (059;019) \\ \hline013 (025;001) \\ \hline 0.004 (.003; .006) \\ \hline002 (004;0004) \\ \hline 0.002 (.001; .002) \\ \end{array}$	<.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 .030 .002 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 .030 .030 .002 <.001 <.001 .030 .002 <.001 .030 .002 .001 .001 .002 .001 .001 .001 .002 .001 .001 .001 .002 .001 .001 .001 .002 .001 .001 .001 .001 .002 .001 .001 .001 .001 .002 .001 .001 .001 .002 .001 .001 .001 .001 .002 .001 .001 .001 .001 .001 .002 .001 .001 .001 .001 .002 .001 .001 .001 .001 .001 .001 .001 .002 .001 .001 .001 .001 .001 .001 .001 .001 .001 .001 .001 .001 .001 .001 .001 .001 .001 .003 .001 .003 .001 .003 .001 .003 .001 .003 .001 .003 .003 .003 .003 .003 .003 .003 .001 .003
BC MB NL NS QC Race, White (Ref) Non-White Education, Post-secondary degree or diploma (Ref) Some post-secondary education Secondary education only Less than secondary school graduation Height, m Weight, kg Neurodegenerative Disease Memory Problem Macular Degeneration REY I (Immediate Recall) REY II (Delayed Recall) AFT MAT	028 (038,018) .026 (.018; .033) 026 (034;018) 045 (054;036) .088 (.079; .098) .018 (.011; .025) 047 (059;034) 010 (018;001) 012 (019;004) 033 (043;022) .360 (.321; .399) 002 (002;002) 064 (088;040) 039 (059;019) 013 (025;001) .004 (.003; .006) 002 (004;0004) .002 (.001; .002) .001 (.001; .001)	<.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 .030 .002 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 .038 <.001 .013 <.001 <.001
BC MB NL NS QC Race, White (Ref) Non-White Education, Post-secondary degree or diploma (Ref) Some post-secondary education Secondary education only Less than secondary school graduation Height, m Weight, kg Neurodegenerative Disease Memory Problem Macular Degeneration REY I (Immediate Recall) REY II (Delayed Recall) AFT MAT Stroop (Interference), sec	$\begin{array}{c}028 (038,018) \\ .026 (.018; .033) \\026 (034;018) \\045 (054;036) \\ .088 (.079; .098) \\ .018 (.011; .025) \\ \end{array}$ $\begin{array}{c}047 (059;034) \\ \hline \\010 (018;001) \\012 (019;004) \\033 (043;022) \\ .360 (.321; .399) \\002 (002;002) \\064 (088;040) \\039 (059;019) \\013 (025;001) \\ .004 (.003; .006) \\002 (004;0004) \\ .002 (.001; .002) \\ .001 (.001; .001) \\0006 (001;0003) \\ \end{array}$	<.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001

Stroke	043 (055;031)	<.001
Diabetes	016 (022;009)	<.001
Hypertension	006 (011;0005)	.032
Cancer	.001 (005; .008)	.739
Osteoarthritis	022 (028;016)	<.001
Sensory Impairment	016 (022;009)	<.001
Neuropsychiatric Condition	014 (019;008)	<.001
Respiratory Condition	008 (014;002)	.011
Model 5		
Variable	B (95% CI)	Р
Constant	710 (637: 782)	< 001
Age years	- 003 (- 003: - 003)	< 001
Sex female	050 (041: 058)	< 001
Province ON (Ref)	.030 (.041, .030)	< 001
	- 030 (- 039: - 020)	< 001
RC RC	050(039,020)	<.001
MR	020(.019,.033)	<.001
NI	021(029,013)	<.001
NC	048(037,039)	<.001
	018 (011, 025)	<.001
QC Dece White (Def)	.018 (.011; .023)	<.001
Nor White	022 (045, 020)	<.001
Non-white Education Dest coordona de mas en dintema (Def)	033 (045;020)	<.001
Education, Post-secondary degree or diploma (Ref)	006 (014 002)	202
Some post-secondary education	006 (014; .003)	.203
Secondary education only	007 (014;00003)	.049
Less than secondary school graduation	023 (034;013)	<.001
Height, m	.211 (.170; .251)	<.001
Weight, kg	001 (001;001)	<.001
Neurodegenerative Disease	045 (068;021)	<.001
Memory Problem	024 (043;004)	.016
Macular Degeneration	008 (020; .004)	.180
REY I (Immediate Recall)	.004 (.002; .005)	<.001
REY II (Delayed Recall)	002 (003;0004)	.014
AFT	.001 (.001; .002)	<.001
MAT	.001 (.001; .001)	<.001
Stroop (Interference), sec	0004 (001;00006)	.021
Cardiovascular Condition	018 (025;012)	<.001
Stroke	034 (046;022)	<.001
Diabetes	007 (013;0003)	.039
Hypertension	004 (009; .001)	.111
Cancer	.004 (002; .011)	.202
Osteoarthritis	015 (021;009)	<.001
Sensory Impairment	007 (013;001)	.029
Neuropsychiatric Condition	.0004 (005; .005)	.876
Respiratory Condition	001 (007; .005)	.789
Vitamin D (square root), mmol/L	.003 (.002; .004)	<.001
hsCRP (natural log), mg/L	005 (008;002)	<.001
HDL, mmol/L	.001 (005; .008)	.724
Depressive Symptoms (CESD-10)	003 (003;002)	<.001
Trouble getting to bathroom on time	032 (039;024)	<.001
Chronic Pain	014 (019;009)	<.001
Grip Strength, kg	.003 (.002; .003)	<.001
Sleep Disturbance, Never or less than once/week (Ref)		

6-7 times/week	.003 (005; .011)	.423
3-5 times/week	.007 (.001; .015)	.026
1-2 times/week	.004 (002; .011)	.148
Physical Activity (PASE)	.0001 (.0001; .0002)	<.001
Smoking Status, Never (Ref)		<.001
Current Smoker	023 (032;015)	<.001
Former Smoker	006 (010;001)	.020
Alcohol Consumption, Never (Ref)		
Regular Drinker	.017 (.009; .025)	<.001
Occasional Drinker	.004 (006; .014)	.417

¹ Analytic sampling weights applied in hierarchical regression analysis.
 ² Abbreviations: *AFT*, Animal Fluency Test; *CESD-10*, Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale; *HDL*, High Density Lipoprotein; *hsCRP*, high sensitivity C-Reactive protein; *MAT*, Mental Alternation Test; *PASE*, Physical Activity Scale for the Elderly.

Curriculum Vitae

Name:	Erica Figgins
Post-secondary Education and Degrees:	University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada 2018-2020 MSc Epidemiology and Biostatistics
	University of Windsor Windsor, Ontario, Canada 2014-2018 BSc (Hon) Behaviour Cognition and Neuroscience
Honours and Awards:	Ontario Graduate Scholarship 2019-2020
	Queen Elizabeth II Graduate Scholarship in Science & Technology 2018-2019
	Western Graduate Research Scholarship 2018-2019, 2019-2020
	Fogolar Furlan Camlis Continuing Education Bursary 2018
	University of Windsor Outstanding Scholars Research Award 2015-2018
	University of Windsor Entrance Scholarship 2014-2018
Related Work Experience:	Research Coordinator Dept. of Emergency Medicine, Lawson Health Research Institute 2020-Present
	Research Assistant Gait and Brain Lab, Parkwood Institute 2018-2020
Presentations:	"Multimorbidity and Gait Speed: Results from the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging", International Symposium on Multimorbidity, University of Western Ontario, Nov 2019